
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Thursday, 25 January 2018 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Guthlaxton Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mrs R Whitelaw (Tel: 0116 305 6098) 

Email: rosemary.whitelaw@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
John Adler 

Mr. R. Blunt CC 
Karen English 

Mr Jeffrey Kaufman CC 
Dr Andy Ker 

Dr Satheesh Kumar 
Dr Mayur Lakhani 

Chief Supt Andy Lee 
Roz Lindridge 

DPCC Kirk Master 
 

Paul Meredith 
Rick Moore 
Mr. I. D. Ould CC 
Cllr Alan Pearson 
Mrs. P. Posnett CC 
Mike Sandys 
John Sinnott 
Jane Toman 
Caroline Trevithick 
Jon Wilson 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Appointment of Chairman.  
 

 
 

 

2.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 
2017 and Action Log.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 10) 

3.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Position Statement from the Chairman.  
 

 
 

 

 Strategy 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works


 
 
 
 

 

 
6.  

  
Unified Prevention Board Update.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 11 - 14) 

7.  
  

Early Help Review.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

 

 There will be a Powerpoint presentation for this item. 
 

 

8.  
  

Next Stage Local Future in Mind 
Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18.  
 

Better Care 
Together 
 

(Pages 15 - 30) 

9.  
  

Consultation on Funding Supported Housing.  
 

Director of Adults 
and Communities 
 

(Pages 31 - 50) 

 Performance. 
 

10.  
  

Delayed Transfers of Care Performance.  
 

Director of Health 
and Care 
Integration 
 

(Pages 51 - 58) 

11.  
  

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 59 - 70) 

12.  
  

Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 71 - 88) 

13.  
  

'In Mum's Words'.  
 

Healthwatch 
 

(Pages 89 - 
132) 

 Governance 
 

14.  
  

Better Care Fund Section 75 Approval and 
Assurance.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 133 - 
222) 

15.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on 
22 March 2018 at 2.00pm. 
 

 

16.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, Glenfield on 
Thursday, 16 November 2017.  
 

PRESENT 
 
Leicestershire County Council 
 
Mr. R. Blunt CC    Mike Sandys 
Mr. I. D. Ould CC    Jon Wilson 
 
Clinical Commissioning Groups 
 
Dr Andy Ker (in the Chair) 
Caroline Trevithick 
Dr Chris Trzcinski 
Paul Gibara 
 
Leicestershire District and Borough Councils 
 
Jane Toman 
 
Healthwatch Leicestershire 
 
Rick Moore 
 
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust 
 
Dr Satheesh Kumar 
 
University Hospitals Leicester 
 
Mark Wightman 
 
Leicestershire Police 
 
Sian Walls 
 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
Simon Down  
 

30. Minutes and Action Log.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 20 July 2017 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed. 
 
The Board also noted the Action Log, which provided an update on actions agreed by the 
Board at its previous meetings. 
 

31. Urgent Items.  

3 Agenda Item 2



 
 

 

 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

32. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Rick Moore declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in the report on Healthwatch 
Recommissioning (Minute Number 40 ) as he was the Chairman of Healthwatch 
Leicestershire and undertook to leave the room during discussion of that item. 
 

33. Position Statement from the Chairman.  
 
The Chairman presented a position statement on the following matters: 
 

 Supporting People to Stay Fit and Healthy campaign 

 Leicestershire’s Lightbulb Housing Programme winning an award 

 An app for Suicide Prevention 

 Improving Health and Wellbeing in the Workplace 

 A selection of regional, national and international publications 
 
A copy of the position statement is filed with these minutes. 
 

34. Air Quality.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health providing an update on the 
estimated impact of poor air quality on the health and wellbeing of people living and 
working in Leicestershire and the approach the Public Health Department and its partners 
were taking to tackle this.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 5’, is filed with 
these minutes. 
 
A discussion took place around housing developments, some of which were being built 
near major roads, and the fact that any development should be considering transport 
implications in its planning application as this could impact on local air quality.  Work 
could take place with the district councils around this and it was also suggested that a link 
should be made with the Institute for Lung Health at Glenfield Hospital. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Board notes the significant impact of poor air quality on health and supports the 
action being taken to tackle this for people living and working in Leicestershire. 
 

35. Future in Mind Update.  
 
The Board received a presentation from Better Care Together on Future in Mind – 
transforming mental health and wellbeing services for children and young people across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR).  A copy of the presentation, marked ‘Agenda 
Item 6’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
A stakeholder event had taken place on 3 October where progress to date had been 
reviewed along with developing the way forward.  Partners had agreed that the focus of 
the next stage of transformation should be improved performance and outcomes, 

4



 
 

 

improved access, marketing and engagement and workforce development.  The draft 
Transformation Plan 2017 had now been developed and this would be shared with 
partners prior to it being published.  The role and responsibility of key partners and the 
Future in Mind Steering Group would also be reviewed. 
 
The number of children and young people presenting at A&E had not decreased and 
further work was required around informing young people of the alternatives to A&E in 
order that they presented at a setting appropriate to their needs.  In the next phase of 
transformation, work would be undertaken to develop a way to accurately report the data 
so that there was evidence that the service was working and was making a difference.  
Access to services away from main centres was still an issue and discussions were 
taking place around the possibility of delivering care closer to a young person’s home. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the presentation be noted. 
 

36. CAMHS.  
 
The Board received a presentation from Leicestershire Partnership Trust on the CAMHS 
Recovery Journey following the ‘inadequate’ assessment by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC).  A copy of the presentation is filed with these minutes. 
 
Following a CQC inspection, the CAMHS Community Services had been rated as 
inadequate, in particular with regard to safety and responsiveness.  The CAMHS 
Recovery and Improvement team had undertaken an operational ‘deep dive’ into all open 
cases across the CAMHS service and this had identified that almost half of the children 
and young people did not have an adequate risk assessment or complete care plan.  This 
number had now been significantly reduced and a traffic light system had been 
implemented to manage the risk for those young people who were waiting for an 
appointment. 
 
Work had been undertaken to ensure services were responsive to the internal waiting list.  
No one was now waiting over twelve months for an appointment and the next key 
milestone was to ensure that no one was waiting more than nine months.  Assurance 
was given that there were processes in place to keep young people safe whilst they were 
waiting for an appointment and within the next few months, an SMS and telephone 
service would be introduced. 
 
Activity around improvement and transformation was ongoing to ensure the services 
were well led.  This included the launch of Thrive, which was a new model of CAMHS 
provision.  A presentation around CAMHS was also due to be delivered to the 
Safeguarding Children Board. 
 
In response to a query around the proposed actions supporting the sustainability of the 
service, it was stated that the approach taken had been very direct.  Work had been 
undertaken with staff to design the future of the service and a Sustainability Plan had 
been developed.  There had been a change in personnel and opportunities to link 
research practice with service delivery.  It was important that there was confidence that 
the changes had been embedded at every level and that partnership working with other 
organisations continued. 
 
RESOLVED: 

5



 
 

 

 
That the contents of the presentation be noted. 
 

37. Annual Report of the Director of Public Health.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health on the Annual Report for 
2017.  A copy of the report, marked as ‘Agenda Item 8’, is filed with these minutes.   
 
Work was being undertaken around an assessment of the link between health and crime.  
A workshop had been undertaken where joint priorities had been identified and this would 
be presented to the District Partnership Boards and the next Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
The Board asked the Director of Public Health to consider providing a detailed 
breakdown of the data to partners by locality and by specific groups of patients. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
(a) That the Board notes the Director of Public Health Annual Report for 2017; 

 
(b) That the Board notes the recommendations in the report. 

 
38. Delayed Transfers of Care Target, Performance and Risk Analysis.  

 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Health and Care Integration giving an 
update on the target for improving delayed transfers of care (DTOC), including the 
implications of the target imposed by NHS England as part of the Better Care Fund (BCF) 
Policy.  The report also detailed the work undertaken to date by the County Council and 
NHS partners to reduce DTOC.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with 
these minutes.  A supplementary paper setting out the position on DTOCs at the end of 
September 2017 was circulated at the meeting and a copy is filed with these minutes. 
 
The DTOC target had been re-submitted to NHS England on 12 October and the BCF 
Plan had been approved based on the revised target.  The Plan was on target to deliver 
early in the new year, although NHS England had requested that the target be met by  
November 2017.  Leicestershire had reluctantly signed up to this requirement, 
recognising that achievement of this would be challenging.  As yet, it was unclear what 
penalties would be imposed if the target was not achieved by November, but it was 
reported that the risk of escalation by NHS England was diminishing. 
 
The Board wished to record its thanks and recognition of the work undertaken by the 
operational teams, which had been put under a lot of pressure to try and achieve the 
target. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That the Board receives the progress report; 
 

(b) That the Board notes the revision to the risk register and significant risks if 
escalated on the basis of target failure if the target is not reached by November; 

 
(c) That the Board notes the actions in progress as noted in the report and the 
supporting monthly digest; 

 

6



 
 

 

(d) That the Board notes that the report has been forwarded to the Discharge Working 
Group and Director of Urgent Care for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) in 
support of their oversight of DTOC performance on an LLR-wide basis. 
 

39. Quick Poll: Views About GP Services.  
 
The Board considered a report of Healthwatch Leicestershire presenting the findings of a 
quick poll survey asking patients their views on GP services.  A copy of the report, 
marked ‘Agenda Item 10’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
There had been 240 responses to the survey.  The emerging findings were presented 
and based on the experiences shared by respondents, Healthwatch Leicestershire had 
suggested a number of recommendations for service providers and commissioners.  The 
CCGs welcomed the report and acknowledged that there were issues when trying to 
access a GP service.  Further discussions would take place around the 
recommendations. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the findings be noted and to urge health and social care partners to consider actions 
associated to the report recommendations to improve services, systems and processes 
outlined in the findings report. 
 

40. Healthwatch Re-Commissioning.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Chief Executive providing an update on progress 
with recommissioning a Healthwatch service for Leicestershire.  A copy of the report, 
marked ‘Agenda Item 11’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
A public consultation on proposals for a LLR Healthwatch service had taken place and a 
total of 390 responses had been received.  In light of the consultation responses, Rutland 
County Council had decided to separately procure a Healthwatch service and Leicester 
City Council and Leicestershire County Council would jointly commission a service.  The 
joint Leicester and Leicestershire contract would be tendered in November and the new 
service would commence on 1 April 2018. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

41. Protocol between the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and Healthwatch Leicestershire.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Chief Executive seeking approval of the protocol 
between the Health and Wellbeing Board, Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
Healthwatch Leicestershire.  This document had been revised in the light of experience 
and recent changes such as the introduction of the Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan (STP).  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 12’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
It would be important to ensure that the protocol remained relevant following the 
commissioning of a single Healthwatch for Leicester and Leicestershire. 
 
RESOLVED: 

7



 
 

 

 
That the protocol be approved. 
 

42. Actions Taken by the Chief Executive between Meetings.  
 
The Board considered a report informing of urgent actions taken by the Chief Executive 
following the agreement to cancel the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board on 21 
September.  The County Council’s Constitution gave power to the Chief Executive to take 
action between meetings which he considered was urgent after consultation with the 
Chairman of the Board.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 13’, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the urgent action taken by the Chief Executive under delegated powers, following 
consultation with the Chairman of the Board, be noted. 
 

43. Dates of Future Meetings.  
 
Future meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board would be held at 2.00pm on the 
following dates: 
 
25 January 2018 
22 March 2018 
24 May 2018 
12 July 2018 
27 September 2018 
29 November 2018 
 

2.00 – 3.50pm CHAIRMAN 
16 November 2017 

 

8



Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No. Date Action Responsible 

Officer

Comments Status

349(d) 05/01/17 Submit a report on the Local Digital Roadmap to 

a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board.

Vikesh Tailor A report is scheduled for a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board.

GREEN

367(c) 16/03/17 Request the Unified Prevention Board  to take 

forward Leicestershire specific work actions from 

the LLR Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action 

Plan and report back to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board when appropriate.

Mike Sandys Six monthly updates from the Unified Prevention 

Board are scheduled for the Health and Wellbeing 

Board.

GREEN

10 22/06/17 Request to provide feedback on Integrated 

Locality Teams test beds to a future meeting of 

the Health and Wellbeing Board

Cheryl Davenport A report is scheduled for a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board.

GREEN

23 20/07/17 That Board Members be requested to provide 

feedback on Leicestershire County Council's 

Strategic Plan Proposals

All An update will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board

GREEN

26 20/07/17 (a) That the Communications campaign strategy 

be presented to the next meeting of the Unified 

Prevention Board. (b) That the Unified Prevention 

Board give further consideration to the proposed 

appraoch and strategy of the communication 

campaign and a further report be made to the 

Health and Wellbeing Board on the revised 

approach

Sally Kilbourne A discussion will take place at the next meeting of the 

Unified Prevention Board on the proposed approach 

and strategy of the communication campaign.  An 

update will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board on the revised campaign 

approach.

GREEN

27 20/07/17 That an update on the progress of the Health and 

Social Care Sector Growth Plan be presented to 

a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board

Jon Wilson An update is scheduled for the July 2018 meeting of 

the Health and Wellbeing Board

GREEN

37 16/11/17 That the joint priorities between health and crime 

be presented to a future meeting of the Health 

and Wellbeing Board

Sian Wall/ Mike 

Sandys

A report will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

GREEN

1

9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



          

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 25 JANUARY, 2018 

 
REPORT OF THE UNIFIED PREVENTION BOARD 

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD UPDATE REPORT 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update on the work of the Unified Prevention Board 

(UPB) in delivering the prevention approach for Leicestershire, and how this work 

flows into the work of each partner organisation. 

Link to the local Health and Care System 
 

2. The Unified Prevention Board (UPB) was created as a sub-group of the 

Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board.  It oversees the development and 

delivery of prevention activities underpinning the health and wellbeing strategy for 

Leicestershire and more recently ensuring the objectives of the new Sustainability 

and Transformation Partnership (STP) prevention work stream are closely aligned 

with the Leicestershire prevention strategy, and are jointly delivered locally as 

needed across Leicestershire. 

Recommendation 
 
3. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the contents of the report and 

progress to date. 
 
Background 
 
4. Over the last twelve months progress has been made with partners agreeing a single 

set of outcomes for the UPB, against which progress can be measured. This will set 

out a unified model from which a set of joint commissioning intentions can be 

generated to inform future decisions. 

5. Between April and September 2017 the UPB discussed and agreed four key 

outcome pillars that it was felt all partners contributed to in helping residents maintain 

their own health and wellbeing.  These were: 

a. Keep Well; 
b. Keep Safe; 
c. Stay Independent 
d. Enjoy life 

 

6. Three cross-cutting programmes of work were identified as the focus in developing 
the unified prevention offer: 

 Joined up communications 

11 Agenda Item 6



 

 Lessons learned from key integration programmes 

 Healthy workforce = Healthy Leicestershire 
 
Update on achievements to date 

 
7. Joined Up Communications – The key purpose of this programme is to provide 

consistent messages across partners, creating greater impact when communicating 

with our residents. The intention is to saturate the public with consistent messages 

from all partners at the same time. In June, the self-care campaign and 

accompanying strategy was agreed and launched. This covered many areas, but 

overall was about an individual looking after themselves in a healthy way. This aimed 

to re-enforce national and local public health messages, drive support and 

participation in self-care and to encourage behaviour change and perception through 

self-care actions and increase awareness and understanding of how to navigate the 

healthcare system. This collaboration met the desired outcomes as the campaign 

was co-ordinated across partners enabling them to engage more effectively. As a 

result of this, communications have improved. 

 

8. Lessons Learned from key integration programmes – In September the board 

focused on learning from the Braunstone Blues project which brought together all 

three blue light services in an area of high service need to support the community 

and to develop positive outcomes. This will influence how we bring together key 

organisations to create the prevention support to Integrated Locality Teams and 

gives us a blueprint to work from. For example good practice on developing a ‘heat 

map’ to identify areas of need will be used to focus the locality element of the wrap-

around prevention offer. 

 

9. Healthy Workforce = Healthy Leicestershire – In recognition that good health and 

wellbeing of public sector employees can positively impact the health of 

Leicestershire, the UPB endorsed a programme of work relating to workforce health. 

A good example of this work in practice, is through the ‘Employers for Carers’ 

scheme. Through the UPB, Leicestershire County Council as the umbrella 

organisation linked to District Chief Executives encouraging them to join and 

explaining the importance of support for carers in the workplace. This helps to 

prevent carer breakdown, reduce sickness amongst staff that are carers, and helps 

staff retention. It recognises that supporting carers in the workforce is essential to 

reducing demand on statutory services and acknowledges the vital work they do in a 

carers own workplace. A number of districts have now signed up to this.  

 

10. From October to December, the board has been working on requirements to support 
the social prescribing model for Leicestershire. The local definition for social 
prescribing was agreed in April 2017 as: 
 
“A mechanism for empowering people to help themselves and link individuals that 
need it, with non-medical sources of support within the community. It will ensure that 
the response given is appropriate to the individual and allows them choice and 
influence over their wellbeing”.  

12



 

 
11. Work began to develop the social prescribing model as the wrap-around prevention 

offer to support Integrated Locality Teams (ILT). The ILT’s will initially focus around 3 
cohorts of need; people with multiple long-term conditions, those with a frailty marker 
and patients that are high cost service users. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12. The prevention model will include universal services – those that are available to all 

residents, targeted services – those that meet the needs of the 3 ILT cohorts and 
locality based services – those that are specific to a local area. Building the locality 
part of the prevention offer will be done in conjunction with voluntary sector 
organisations and led by district health leads. 

 
13. First Contact and First Contact Plus is the front door for this offer linking patients to a 

wide range of county and locality based support services. The scheme offers access 
to a range of low level preventative services through a single point of contact. 

 
14. Further work for the remainder of 2017/18 includes the production of a prevention 

plan that will further detail to the work underway and how the three programmes will 
deliver against the four outcome pillars within 2018/19. This will include identifying 
gaps in service delivery to support infrastructures such as Integrated Locality Teams. 

 
Officer to Contact 
 

Mike Sandys FFPH 
Director of Public Health 
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0116 305 4239  
 

Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

P
re

ve
n
ti
o
n

a
n
d

se
lf

ca
re

Local
clinic

Extended primary care
and community teams

Unscheduled care

in
th

e
co

m
m

u
n
ity

Sp
ecialist

a
n
d

p
la

n
n
ed

care

Reducing
multple

appointments
/ handoffs

Home

Local GP
practice

Effective
care

planning

Improving
health and
wellbeing

LOCAL
AREA

More control
over long term

conditions

Community
nurse /

therapist

Social
care

Practice
nurse

GP Pharmacist

Better care
coordination

Improved
access to
specialist
support

 Tier 0 focuses on building 
community capacity enabling 
people to support 
themselves; building skills 
and infrastructure enabling 
them to rely less on specific 
services. 

 

 Tier 1 focuses on supporting 
people to remain 
independent, supporting 
good health and wellbeing 
and offering information and 
advice services to support 
self-help. 

 

13



 

15. The work being undertaken would have a positive impact on the health of the 
population. 
 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 

16.   The recommendations within this report focus on actions across agencies that will 
improve the population’s health. The basis of the report is improving population 
health in partnership with other key agencies. 

14



 

 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 25 JANUARY 2018 
 

REPORT OF BETTER CARE TOGETHER 
 

NEXT STAGE LOCAL FUTURE IN MIND TRANSFORMATION PLAN 
REFRESH 2017/2018 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval of this draft of the next stage of 

the local transformation plan for submission to NHS England and to describe 
the next phase of the transformation journey and the direction of travel for the 
next year (2017-2018). 

  
Link to the local Health and Care System 
 
2. The plan has been developed as part of the LLR Better Care Together 

Programme and is referenced in the LLR Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan (STP).  It is underpinned by partnership working across health 
organisations, local authority and public health, voluntary and community 
sector, schools and youth justice system. 

 
Recommendation 
 
3. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to approve the draft local 

transformation plan for submission to NHS England and note that it will be 
published on the three CCG websites.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
4.  This plan is based on principles set out in The Department of Health’s Task 

Force Report (Feb 2016); Future in Mind; Promoting and Improving our children 
and young people’s mental health and wellbeing. 
 

5. The Board received an update on the development of the Plan at its meeting on 
16 November 2017. 

 
Background 
 
6. This next phase of transformation has been developed following a stakeholder 

event in October 2017 and has taken into account feedback from a variety of 
stakeholders and services users.  It encompasses the national priorities and is 
aligned to the local Sustainability Transformation Partnership Plan (STP). 
 

7. The draft Plan builds on the shared focus and vision of all partners to promote, 
protect and improve the mental health and wellbeing of our children and young 
people, through the delivery of a system wide children and young people’s 
mental health and wellbeing services which will enable seamless access to 
services and improve the experience of young people.  

 

15 Agenda Item 8

http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/


 

 

 
8. The ambitions in the Plan are to; 

 develop a single point of access for emotional health and well being  

 agree a shared model of service delivery,  with a shared language  to 
deliver easy access in and out of services depending on need  

 develop our workforce, to increase the numbers, and the skill and 
knowledge of the staff delivering emotional health and wellbeing services 

 
Timetable for Decisions 
 
9. There is a requirement for the next stage of the local transformation plan, to be 

signed off by the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) for assurance, and 
then forwarded to NHS England.  The plan will then be published on the 
websites across all three CCGs. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None 
 
Background Papers 
 
Presentation considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 16 November 2017 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s133194/FIM%20November%20HWB%20Presentation%20TR%20final.pdf 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

1. The CCGs Human Rights Lead has been involved in the development of the 
service specification and procurement processes.  

 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 

2. The Transformation Plan was developed through multi-agency collaboration 
between the following organisations:- 

 Leicester City CCG; 

 Rutland Council; 

 Magistrate Head of Health and Justice in the East Midlands; 

 East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG; 

 East Midlands Clinical Network and Senate, NHS England; 

 Office of the LLR Police and Crime Commissioner; 

 Leicestershire Partnership Trust; 

 Healthwatch Rutland; 

 Leicestershire County Council; 

 Voluntary Action LeicesterShire; 

 Leicester City Council; 

 West Leicestershire CCG. 
 
List of Appendices 
 

16

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s133194/FIM%20November%20HWB%20Presentation%20TR%20final.pdf


 

 

Appendix A - Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Next Stage Local Transformation 
Plan for 2017- 2018 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Elaine Egan Morris,  
CAMHS Commissioner and Transformational Lead, Leicester City CCG  
Telephone: 07500 097 627 
Email: elaine.egan-morris@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17

mailto:elaine.egan-morris@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk


Final Draft for submission Dec 2017  
 

APPENDIX A 

 

Local Transformation Plan 

 

Future in Mind  

Promoting Protecting and Improving our Children and 

Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing  

 

 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Next Stage 

Local Transformation Plan for 2017- 2018 

Developing a system wide approach for Children and 

young people with mental health and wellbeing needs 

 

 

 

 

 

Chris West / Elaine Egan Morriss  

November 2017   

18



 

5 | P a g e  
Final Draft for submission Dec 2017  
 

1. Introduction 

The national ‘Future in Mind’ mental health and wellbeing transformation programme comprises of 

the period from 2015 - 2020 and Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland developed and published their 

local transformation plan (appendix 1) in October 2015, aligned to the national ambitions and it was 

updated in October 2016 (appendix 2).    In keeping with national requirements this is the next 

edition of our local plan and it will describe the direction of travel for the next year (2017-2018) and 

the next phase of the transformation journey. 

This next phase of transformation has been developed following a stakeholder event in October 

2017 and has taken into account feedback from a variety of stakeholders and services users.  It 

encompasses the national priorities and is aligned to the local Sustainability Transformation 

Partnership Plan (STP). 

The next phase of the transformation will build on the shared focus and vision of all partners to 

promote, protect and improve the mental health and wellbeing of our children and young people;   

 We plan to establish a system wide approach to children and young people’s mental health 

and wellbeing services which will enable seamless access to services; to be achieved 

through the development of a multi organisational triage, assessment and navigation centre, 

adoption of a model of care that can be implemented by all providers and establishment of 

common language 

 

 We will improve the experience of young people that transition into adult services by 

developing multi-agency pathways that can prepare and support young people during this 

episode in their care 

 

 We will develop the workforce across all services and organisations to increase the overall 

number of staff, the skill mix and the skills and knowledge of the staff employed within these 

services 

 

 We will agree appropriate ways to measure and  demonstrate an improvement in quality and 

performance of services and therefore deliver improved outcomes for children and young 

people 

 

 We will strengthen our marketing, communication and engagement with stakeholders to 

ensure full participation in the delivery of the transformation plan and demonstrate outcomes 

for children and young people 

 

19



 

6 | P a g e  
Final Draft for submission Dec 2017  
 

2. Implementation of the Local Transformation Plan   

In the first phase of the Future in Mind Transformation across LLR, we developed a plan to address 

identified gaps in the provision of mental health and wellbeing services which included the   

development of new services and the enhancement of established services.   

There were task and finish groups established for each scheme of work with representation and 

leads from across the LLR partner organisations to develop business cases for each service. The 

work streams were:-  

 Developing Resilience in Schools  

 Early Help  

 Enhanced Access to CAMHS Assessment  

 Community Eating Disorder  

 Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment 

 Workforce Development 

 

The second phase focussed on delivery on the schemes of work and led to a natural evolution of 

some components of the original and thus informed the 2016 refreshed plan. The services to be 

delivered through the programme included:- 

 Developing Resilience in Schools  

 On Line Counselling  

 Early Intervention  

 Enhanced Access to CAMHS Assessment  

 Community Eating Disorder  

 Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment 

 Workforce Development 

 Communication and engagement 

 Workforce Development 

 

  

20



 

7 | P a g e  
Final Draft for submission Dec 2017  
 

3. Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Next Phase of Transformation Plan – 
Delivering a system wide approach for children and young people with mental 
health and wellbeing needs.  

 

 

The above diagram shows the services available to children and young people as of September 

2017  

 

The services identified are delivered by a range of providers and our stakeholders have told us that 

it is difficult for both professionals and children and young people and their families to manoeuvre 

around these providers to ensure access to the right care at the right time and in the right place.   

 

4. Stakeholder Event - Developing the next phase of the transformation  
 

In October 2017 a stakeholder event, with representation from a range of partners, was held to 

review the progress of the implementation plan and identify the next stage of the transformation 

journey.  The event highlighted the need for greater collaboration and joined up working of providers 

to deliver the following ambitions:  

 Improve access to evidence based practice 

 Facilitate transition into adult services  

 Develop the skill, knowledge and numbers of the workforce 

 Gain access to reliable data 

 Develop marketing, communication and engagement with stakeholders 

 

21



 

8 | P a g e  
Final Draft for submission Dec 2017  
 

5. Improving access to evidence based practice  
 

Phase 1 and phase 2 of the transformation plan delivered a range of individual services.  We 

recognise that the ability to fully transform children and young people’s services relies on the 

collaborative working of all stakeholders; including commissioners, providers, schools, police and 

the children and young people and their families.  There is a need for children and young people to 

gain timely access to the right services to meet their needs, as well as the ability to seamlessly 

move in and out of different services as their needs change. To achieve this, we plan to work 

collaboratively with our partners to develop a multi-agency triage, assessment and resource centre.  

The development of this would be informed by:  

 Greater stakeholder involvement   

 Agreed triage process across LLR  

 Moving  away from a  medical model to a therapeutic model ( and a common language about 

services)  

 Clarification  thresholds to access care  

 Development of a directory of services  

 

 

6. Facilitation of transition into adult services  
 

As young people are reaching adulthood their care needs to be delivered by adult services.  This 

period is referred to as transition and can take place as early as the mid-teens, and in most 

circumstances is expected to be completed by the age of 18.      

 

Improving the period of transition into adult services will be addressed by a focus on collaborative 

working and planning and will take into account the different responsibilities and approached by  

organisations that provide services for young people and/or adults.     

 

We will also aim to provide support and advice to families about transition via the proposed triage, 

assessment and navigation centre.  

  

22



 

9 | P a g e  
Final Draft for submission Dec 2017  
 

7. Workforce 
 

7.1 Workforce development  

We are committed to developing the workforce across LLR to deliver local, regional and national 

priorities for the Future in Mind programme and the Children and Young Peoples Increasing Access 

to Psychological Therapies (CYP IAPT) philosophies which will improve access to psychological 

therapies and demonstrate the impact by use of validated Routine Outcome Measures (ROMS).   

 

We are committed to enabling full participation with our partners and children and young people to 

develop the following; 

 multiagency workforce development strategy 

 multi-agency training and development program 

 skills and competency framework  

 process for implementing the training across appropriate organisations  

 process for monitoring outcomes  & evaluation of the training programs/sessions 

 

These will be underpinned by;  

 support to partner organisations to develop workforce plans that are aligned to the strategy 

 training needs analysis to identify gaps in current training  

 agreed reporting mechanisms for reporting and analysis of Routine Outcome Measures 

(ROMS) 

 workforce development and CYP IAPT  operational group 

        

We have identified the resource in the workforce development business case to deliver this element 

of the plan.  

 

7.2 Increasing the size of the workforce 

One of the aims of the Future in Mind Programme is to increase the number of staff across the 

partnership by 2020 to meet the additional demand for services.   

The local specialist Children & Adolescents Mental Health service (CAMHS) reported a workforce of 

145.65 whole-time equivalent (WTE) clinical posts for 2015/16.    As a result of our investment we 

have seen an increase in the staffing numbers from 145.65 to 193.57 during 2016/2017, which is an 

increase of 47.92 WTE.   

In addition we have commissioned new services such as Resilience in Schools, Online Counselling 

and  Early Intervention and this has increased the workforce by a further 20 WTE. 

23



 

10 | P a g e  
Final Draft for submission Dec 2017  
 

In total we have increased our children and young people’s workforce by 67.92 WTE. 

Baseline staffing for baseline CAMHS 2016/17 

 

 Baseline Staffing on Newly Commissioned services 2016/17 

Newly commissioned Services 2016/17  

  

Resilience 4.5 

Online Counselling 4 

Early Intervention 11.5 

Total additional staff  20 

 

In the coming year we continue to monitor our workforce to gain a better understanding of the full 

complement of staff across all organisations who we commission to deliver mental health and 

wellbeing services.   

  

24



 

11 | P a g e  
Final Draft for submission Dec 2017  
 

8. Measurement of Outcomes and Improvement   
 

8.1 Access to accurate and reliable data 
  
To measure the impact of transformation we will agree with partners how to measure improvement 

and what good looks like; this will be reliant on reliable and timely data. 

 
 

Service providers will need to demonstrate that they have the necessary systems and processes in 

place which are capable of recording, and reporting accurate data.  The requirement for the 

reporting of specific, timely and accurate data will form part of the service specifications and formal 

contact between commissioners and providers.    

 

There is recognition that there are a number of providers delivering services across the partnership, 

and a number of these do not record their activity against the mental health data set.  This means 

that the data held by National Health Service England (NHSE) does not accurately record the 

numbers of children and young people accessing our services.  Locally we do not have the 

capability to centrally record all activity to enable us to accurately record the number of children and 

young people accessing services. This has been raised regionally we will work with our regional 

colleagues to address the ability to accurately record all activity. 

 

To ensure improved access to reliable data, we will: 

 Determine and agree appropriate measures of impact and improvement  

 Ensure all contracts and service specifications define reporting requirements  

 Collate baseline data from all relevant provider organisations  

 Work towards greater understanding of what is included within the national mental health 

data set 

Outcomes  

Reduction in CYP attendance at A&E presenting with mental health diagnosis 

Increasing the number of children and young people in contact with mental health and wellbeing  
services 

Reduction in in-patient admissions to Children Admission Unit when there are no presenting 
physical problems   

Reduction in CYP Tier 4 (mental health inpatients) placements Out Of Area  

Reduction in Length of Stay on CYP Tier 4 inpatients placement Out of Area 

Evaluation and Engagement; Improvement in feedback from service users 

Evaluation and Engagement; Primary Care Feedback. GP's feel informed of the outcome of their 
referrals.  

CYP01 People in contact with children and young people’s mental health services at the end of the 
Reporting Period (National data includes people of any age in contact with a specific C&YP MH 
service) 

Services available to Increase accesses to evidence based practice 

Increase the numbers of staff across the emotional health and wellbeing services 

CYPIAPT training available across LLR 

25



 

12 | P a g e  
Final Draft for submission Dec 2017  
 

9. Improved Marketing, Communication & Engagement  
 

The next phase of the local transformation plan will build on collaborative working and realisation of 

the benefits and impact of the work on children and young people, therefore further engagement and 

in some cases marketing will be fundamental part of the journey.    
 

Some of the core questions include ; ‘ was the LLR transformation plan appropriate and focused on 

the right things ?’ and most importantly ‘did the delivery of the core elements make a difference to 

the children young people and their families?’ others would be agreed with partner agencies and 

children and young people advisors.  
 

To sustain change and continue to improve, engagement/ communication, sharing of information 

and feedback will be remain vital, therefore we have developed a communication and engagement 

plan that introduces the concept of involvement and the role of children and young people in the 

marketing and evaluation of the mental health and wellbeing services across LLR (Appendix 1).   
 

In order to achieve this we have engaged the support of HealthWatch and together will work with 

current participation groups across a full range of organisations as well as seeking wider 

participation from other sources to deliver this plan  
 

Marketing, Engagement and Communication plan 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

26



 

13 | P a g e  
Final Draft for submission Dec 2017  
 

10. Governance for the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Future in Mind 
Transformation Plan 

 

The local transformation plan is aligned to the Sustainable Transformation Partnership (STP) Plan 

and the associated governance structure; there is a Future in Mind Steering Group which has a 

multi-agency membership and which reports to each CCG and the Collaborative Commissioning 

Board for approval of business cases.    The Transformation Plan also shared with the Leicester and 

Leicestershire & Rutland Health and Wellbeing Boards sign off.   

 

The commissioning of children’s mental health services is undertaken on behalf of all three CCGs by 

the hosted team in Leicester City CCG and contract quality and performance are monitored by the 

East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG; the CCGs govern contracts as a collaborative performance 

and assurance meeting each month.  

 

The role of the steering group will be reviewed and revised in keeping with the ambition to establish 

a system wide  approach to emotional, mental health and wellbeing and will evolve as the specialist 

CAMHS improvement board develops beyond the recovery phase or its work . 

 

Sustainability Transformation Partnership (STP) and Future in Mind governance 

 

27



Final Draft for submission Dec 2017  
 

 

11. Funding Allocation 
 

Over the past two years the three CCG’s have invested £2million in transforming children and 

young people’s mental health and wellbeing services across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.   

 

Note: 2016/17 included non-recurrent allocation. 

In the next financial year 2018/19 a budget of £2.5million is fully committed.  

12. Summary  

The future for children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing services is entering its next 

phase and will build on the foundations established so far.   

Our ambitions are to:  

1.    Develop a single point of access for emotional health and well being  

2.    Agree a shared model of service delivery, with a shared language to deliver easy access in 

and out of services depending on need  

3.    Develop our workforce -to increase the numbers, and the skill and knowledge of the staff 

delivering emotional health and wellbeing services 

 

Future in Mind Schemes: 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Eating Disorders £440 £514 £445 £445

Programme Management £100 £100 £98 £100

Crisis Support and Intensive Community Support  £750 £966 £983 £983

CAMHS Access Team and specialist teams £388 £236 £192 £192

KOOTH - Online Counselling £100 £98 £90 £90

Early Intervention - Face to Face Counselling £360 £362 £362 £360

Resilience £200 £200 £200 £200

Workforce development £70 £70 £129 £129

Marketing Communications & Engagement £0 £0 £0 £0

Total Funding £2,408 £2,546 £2,499 £2,499

Funding allocated from FIM £'000

28



 
 
 
 
 

  

 

 

Future in Mind - Plan on a Page 2017 - 2018 
Promoting, Protecting and Improving  

Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing 
 

 Work streams Key Activities Outcomes 

Im
p

ro
v
in

g
 A

cc
es

s 

to
 E

v
id

en
ce

 B
a

se
d

  

P
ra

ct
ic

e 

 

Develop a single point of Access 

for emotional health and 

wellbeing  

 Develop options  - and agree model 

 Transact contractual arrangements 

 Agree a triage process  

 Develop a directory of services  

 Review and simplify thresh holds of care  

 Support  transition to adult services 

 

1. Stakeholders are aware of the services that are 

available & how to access them  

2. Receiving the right care at the right time  

3. Reduced wait times to assessment and treatment  

4. Increased staffing levels 

5. Increase range of evidence based practice  

6. Children and young people and families 

 feel supported  

 positive experience 

 improved MH and Wellbeing  

 

Deliver a shared model of care  Agree and deliver  a shared model of service delivery, with a shared 

language to deliver easy access in and out of services depending on 

need  

Workforce Development  Develop a CYPMH LLR workforce development strategy 

 Develop a CYPMH interlinked training programme 

 Develop a partnership to steer the direction of Workforce 

development and CYPIAPT 

Im
p

ro
v

e 
 T

ra
n

sp
a
re

n
cy

 a
n

d
 

A
cc

o
u

n
ta

b
il

it
y

 

Reliable  data - Measuring 

Outcomes and impact 

 

 

 Include key performance indicators and  outcomes in 

contracts and service specifications  

 Develop a collective data source for reporting  

 Produce and deliver data sharing agreements  

 Develop outcomes dashboard 

 
1. Delivery of efficient , effective quality services 

delivery VFM 

2. Evidence the impact of the transformation 

programme 

3. Full range of services co developed for young 

people by young people  

4. The transparency, accountability and governance of 

Future in Mind is strengthened 

5. Sustainable Transformation  

 

 

Communication and 

Engagement 
 Involve C&YP in designing and evaluating services 

 Develop a range of methods to promote services 

communication  

 Develop practical ways to Improve engagement with schools 

Governance  Alignment to the STP 

 Review the terms of reference for the Future in mind Steering 

Group 

 Review the membership of the FIM Steering Group 

 Deliver partnership working across all stakeholders 

 

29



 
 
 
 
 

  

 

 

30



 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 25 JANUARY 2018 
 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 
 

REPORT ON CONSULTATION ON FUNDING SUPPORTED HOUSING 
 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1.  On 31 October 2017, the Government published two new consultations, one on 

housing costs for sheltered and extra care accommodation, and one on housing 
costs for short-term supported accommodation. 
 

2.  Both of the consultations seek the views on the design of the Government’s new 
supported housing funding models.  The deadline for responses to the consultations 
is 23 January 2018. 

 
3. This report outlines the Government’s proposals and the key questions addressed in 

the consultation and seeks agreement to submit a response. 
  

Link to Better Care Together 
 

Workstream Relevance Workstream Relevance 

Maternity, neonates, 
children and young people  
 

 Mental health  
 

X 

Long term conditions  
 

 Frail and older people 
 

X 

Urgent care 
 

 Planned care  
 

 

Learning disabilities  
 

X End of life  
 

 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
4. The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and the 

Department for Work and Pensions published two new consultations on 31 October 
2017 one on housing costs for sheltered and extra care accommodation, and one on 
housing costs for short-term supported accommodation.  The consultation 
documents are attached to this report.  Further background documentation can be 
accessed at: 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/65602
7/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf 

 
Background 
 
5. The Government states that the aim is to provide funding security to providers by 

allowing them to make long term investment decisions and therefore secure future 

 

31 Agenda Item 9

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf


 

supply. These changes are designed to ensure value for money for the taxpayer, 
enable councils to have a stronger role in providing appropriately for their local areas, 
and support better outcomes for tenants. Supported housing is seen as an integral 
part of the wider social housing sector, and there will be a future Social Housing 
Green Paper.  

 
6. The Government has concluded that a one-size-fits-all approach will not work for all 

types of supported housing and a new funding regime is required from April 2020 
tailored to the three main types of supported housing:  

 

  Sheltered and extra care housing (usually designated for older people, but 

including some working age tenants);  

  Short-term supported housing (for those in crisis such as those fleeing 

domestic violence and homeless people with support needs, or shorter term 

transitional help for those with substance misuse problems or vulnerable young 

people, such as care leavers); 

  Long-term housing (for those with long-term needs, such as people with 

learning or physical disabilities, or mental ill health).  

 
7. The consultations propose the following future arrangements: 

 
a) Sheltered housing and extra care will continue to be funded in the welfare 

system (Housing Benefit, Universal Credit, Pension Credit), and a ‘Sheltered 

Rent’ will be introduced. This will see gross eligible rent (rent inclusive of eligible 

service charges) regulated by the social housing regulator. Appropriate rates for 

sheltered and extra care housing costs, will be established in consultation with 

the sector. There will be a further, more detailed consultation next year linked to 

the new funding design for sheltered and extra care provision. 

 
b) Short-term supported housing will be funded through a new long term ring-

fenced grant to local authorities in England. All provision will be commissioned 

at a local level and underpinned by a new local planning and oversight regime. 

Therefore, all the funding for housing costs (including rent and eligible service 

charges) that were previously met from Housing Benefit will instead be allocated 

to local authorities giving them more oversight and control over the provision in 

their areas. 

 

Funding will be paid as a grant from DCLG to local authorities using existing 
powers under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. This will include 
detailed grant conditions which will be supported by non-statutory guidance 
setting out our key requirements for delivery. Local grant allocations will be 
equivalent to what would otherwise have been spent on short-term 
accommodation through Housing Benefit and Universal Credit in each local area 
in 2020-21. The expectation is that any vulnerable individual needing to stay in 
short-term supported accommodation who would be eligible to have their 
housing costs supported through the welfare system will continue to have their 
housing costs met through the funding model for short-term accommodation.  
 

32



 

In two-tier local authority areas DCLG plans to allocate the grant for short-term 
supported housing to the upper tier authority. This will be used to fund provision 
in agreement with districts in line with the strategic plan. Grant conditions and 
non-statutory guidance will set out how provision should be planned for, 
deployed and monitored. 

 
c) Long-term supported housing will remain funded via the welfare system, as it 

is currently (Housing Benefit, Universal Credit, Pension Credit). However, the 

Government will work with the sector to develop and deliver improvements to 

cost control, quality and outcomes. 

 
d) Local strategic planning and oversight - The consultation states that to 

achieve the best outcomes for supported housing tenants, local areas need to 

work strategically and collaboratively with local partners, with the appropriate 

level of oversight and guidance from the Government. Therefore, alongside the 

new funding models, a new planning and oversight regime will be introduced to 

ensure that local areas are best able to provide for their vulnerable citizens, and 

that the accommodation represents both quality and value for money. 

 

A National Statement of Expectation will set general expectations for the 

supported housing sector. Local authorities will be asked to undertake a 

strategic needs assessment to identify current provision and future need 

followed by a local strategic plan, in partnership with lower tier authorities, local 

commissioners and providers, setting out how funding will be used to meet 

identified local needs. 

 
Issues for the response 
 
8. Initial discussions between departmental and Corporate Resources colleagues have 

identified the following key issues for inclusion in a response to the consultations: 

 
a) Retention of the existing welfare system arrangements for sheltered housing 

and extra care and long-term supported housing is generally welcomed, 

compared with the previous proposals to include them in the local grant. 

However, it is recognised that retaining the welfare system arrangements will 

mean that working age people, in particular would face the additional 

complexity/conditionality within Universal Credit, for example. 

 

b) It is unclear whether or not retaining the existing arrangements for long-term 

supported housing would be sufficient to promote further growth in provision. 

 

c) Introducing a single sheltered rent limit across sheltered and extra care housing 

might be too low for extra care due to the difference in age and quality of 

schemes. The sheltered rent limit would need to be set at a realistic level to 

promote new provision. The consultation seeks views on whether a banded 

approach might be required. 

 

33



 

d) Moving to a ring fenced Local Grant Fund is a more significant change, 

including allocation to upper tier authority. The long term nature of the ring 

fence would be crucial to promoting stability of provision of short-term support. 

 

e) The Local Grant Fund would alleviate current difficulties experienced by 

providers and service users in establishing entitlement to housing benefit for 

very short stays and avoid potential additional difficulties under Universal Credit. 

However, some providers, for example domestic violence and homelessness 

organisations, have raised concerns that the Grant Fund would distort provision 

(on a winners and losers basis) rather than individual service users holding 

individual entitlement to benefit. 

 

f)  Would the Local Grant Fund be best administered by the County Council or 

individual Districts which already hold the responsibility for their housing 

strategies?  

 
Proposals/Options 
 
9. The proposals for future funding of short term supported housing relate to cross 

cutting early help and prevention services which together with the requirement for 
completion of the strategic needs assessment suggest that the Director of Public 
Health may be best placed to lead the response to consultation and commissioning 
of future services within the overall Early Help and Prevention strategy. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
10. The proposed Local Grant Fund would require new commissioning work to be 

undertaken /co-ordinated by the County Council. 
 
11. An assessment would be required of the implications of the County Council 

administering the Local Grant Fund, any commissioning of short-term supported 
housing and coordinating the Local Strategic Plan. 

 
Conclusions/Recommendations 
 
12. The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to 
 

a) Note the Government consultation documents. 

 
b) Consider the implications for housing and support services within 

Leicestershire.  

 

c) Consider whether or not the County Council is best placed to hold the Local 

Grant Fund, and if so what arrangements need to be in place to deliver strategic 

planning and needs assessment . 

 

d) Agree that the Director of Public Health as Senior Responsible Officer for the 

County Council’s Early Help and Prevention programme should lead the 

34



 

response to the consultations and consult with colleagues to determine how to 

develop any future commissioning responsibilities which may arise from 2020. 

 
Background papers 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Fun

ding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
 None. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Jon Wilson, Director of Adults and Communities 
Telephone: 0116 305 7454 
Email:  jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk 
 
List of Appendices 
 

 Section 2: Consultation on housing costs for sheltered and extra care accommodation; 

 Section 3: Consultation on housing costs for short-term supported accommodation. 

 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
13. Supported housing helps address the housing needs of people including older 

people, people with learning or physical disabilities or mental ill health and people in 

crisis such as those fleeing domestic violence, homeless people with support 

needs,  people with substance misuse problems, or vulnerable young people, such 

as care leavers. Supported housing therefore plays a central role in addressing the 

care and support needs of many vulnerable people. 

 
14. The proposed Local Grant Fund and the local strategic planning and oversight role 

for the County Council would require strategic and collaborative working between 

upper and lower tier authorities, local commissioners and providers. 

 

35

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/656027/Funding_supported_housing_-_policy_statement_and_consultation.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 25 JANUARY 2018 

 
REPORT OF THE INTERIM DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE 

INTEGRATION 
 

DELAYED TRANSFERS OF CARE PERFORMANCE 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide a progress report on the Better Care Fund 

(BCF) target for improving delayed transfers of care (DTOC).  
 

2. The report details the performance targets, along with current progress locally, and 
the work being undertaken across the partnership to reduce delays. 

  
Recommendation 
 
3. The Health and Wellbeing is asked to: 

a. Receive the progress report; 

b. Discuss the actions in progress as noted in this report and consider if any further 
actions should be undertaken; 

c. Note that this report has been forwarded to the Discharge Working Group and the 
Director of Urgent Care for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) in support 
of their oversight of DTOC performance on an LLR-wide basis. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
4.  The BCF policy framework was introduced by the Government in 2014, with the first 

year of BCF plan delivery being 2015/16. The County Council’s Cabinet in February 
2014 authorised the Health and Wellbeing Board to approve the BCF Plan and plans 
arising from its use. 
 

5. The Board received a paper to provide an overview on the DTOC target and the 
potential implications related to not achieving the target on 16 November 2017. 
 

Background 
 
6. The requirement to deliver improvements in managing transfers of care is one of the 

national conditions and national metrics for the BCF, as set out in the Integration and 
Better Care Fund Policy Framework 2017/18 – 2018/19, which applies to BCF Plans 
with effect from April 2017 http://ow.ly/tnEI30g7jAu. 
 

7. As part of achieving improvement, each local BCF Plan must demonstrate how the 
Department of Health’s high impact changes framework for improving hospital 
discharge http://ow.ly/IYhT30g7jIK is being implemented locally. The framework 

51 Agenda Item 10

http://ow.ly/tnEI30g7jAu
http://ow.ly/IYhT30g7jIK


 

provides a basis for each health and care system to assess their position, and 
identify any gaps, to ensure all the recommended interventions are in place locally. 

 
8. There is also a requirement that a proportion of the adult social care allocation (the 

Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF) announced in the March 2017 budget) will be 
spent on reducing DTOC. 
 

9. In Leicestershire, the total amount of funding being spent on managing transfers of 
care and improving delayed hospital discharges is £16.4million. This includes 
£5million of the IBCF and over £11million from the core BCF pooled budget. 
 

10. The impact of these investments is measured through the monitoring of LLR’s 
performance on DTOC, including the individual performance in each of the three 
Health and Wellbeing Board footprints within LLR. 

 
BCF Plan 
 
11. The Leicestershire BCF Plan was submitted on 8th September 2017 to NHS England. 

The plan met all the national requirements except that the delayed transfers of care 
improvement trajectory was not compliant with the NHS England requirement to 
make a specific level of improvement by November 2017. Instead the BCF plan 
submission profiled this improvement to March 2018, which partners agreed was the 
realistic improvement trajectory based on the LLR DTOC action plan, as agreed with 
the LLR A&E Delivery Board. 
 

12. Correspondence from NHS England to Leicestershire County Council during late 
September and early October stated that BCF Plans would automatically be rated as 
“not approved” if they did not comply with the NHS DTOC target. It was therefore 
agreed, via a report to the Leicestershire County Council Cabinet and with partners, 
to revise the DTOC target to comply with the BCF national conditions.  

 
13. A revised DTOC target was submitted to NHS England on 12th October 2017. Formal 

confirmation that the Leicestershire BCF Plan has been approved was received on 
20 December 2017. 

 
14. It was reported to the 16 November 2017 Health and Wellbeing Board that there 

were potential implications of not achieving the DTOC target by November 2017, 
which could result in funds being withheld from BCF pooled budgets in 2018/19. 

 
15. Leicestershire County Council received a letter from the Secretaries of State for 

Department of Communities and Local Government and the Department of Health on 
6 December 2017 that confirmed that due to the improved DTOC performance there 
would be no impact on the IBCF allocation in 2018/19. (Letter attached as Appendix 
A). 

 
16. The first wave of CQC local system reviews were undertaken during Q3 2017/18, 

which covered 12 areas across England. The second wave of local reviews was 
published in December. Leicestershire was not included in this list. 

 
 
 
 

52



 

DTOC Target 
 

17. DTOC data is captured in three categories: 
i. Patients who are delayed due to NHS reasons; 
ii. Patients who are delayed due to Local Authority reasons; 
iii. Patients whose delay is jointly attributable. 

 
18. Delayed days from all inpatient settings of care and against all three categories are 

brought together to measure overall performance for each local area. Any 
Leicestershire residents delayed in out of area hospitals also count towards 
Leicestershire’s overall performance. 

 
19. The national target set by NHS England is that no more than 3.5% of occupied bed 

days should be delayed nationally, by November 2017. 
 
20. The national target has been apportioned across each Health and Wellbeing Board 

area and translated into a rate per 100,000 population for each local area. In order to 
make its contribution to the national percentage, Leicestershire is required to achieve 
a rate of no more than 6.84 beds delayed per 100,000 population, by November 
2017 (reported 11 January 2018). 
 

DTOC Target and Current Performance and Actions 
 
21. In November there were 1,311 days delayed, a rate of 240.03 per 100,000 population 

against a target of 205.32. This is 8.0 average days delayed per day per 100,000 
population, against a target of 6.84.The table below shows the Leicestershire 6.84 
target broken down into the three categories, against the actual performance. 
 
 NHS Delays LA Delays Joint Total 

Target for 
November 2017 

3.78 1.33 1.73 6.84 

Actual performance 
at November 2017 

5.80 1.20 0.99 8.00 

 
22. Below is graphical representation of performance, mapped against Leicestershire’s 

original trajectory (shown in red) and the revised trajectory (shown in green). 
 

53



 

 
 
23. The LLR wide DTOC action plan is being enacted by all partners and this continues 

to be a top priority. The paragraphs below details a summary of current actions to 
improve the DTOC target. 
 

Summary of Actions in Progress 
 

24. A detailed joint action plan is in progress to improve the delayed transfers of care 
position. The following paragraphs provide an update on actions since the last report 
in November. 

 
25. Throughout November, twice weekly discharge escalation calls took place at a senior 

level with engagement of all CCG and Local Authority partners. The calls focused on 
patient specific delays within Leicestershire Partnership Trust Community Hospitals.  

 
26. The Multi Agency Discharge Events (MADE) commenced from 11 December. Calls 

focused on identifying high level thematic actions and patient level actions to facilitate 
effective discharge. These calls have been system level calls covering all discharge 
issues across acute, community hospital and mental health. 

 
27. Conference calls have been established between the Council’s Assistant Director 

Care Pathway - West, University Hospitals of Coventry and Warwickshire and 
Coventry and Rugby CCG to improve the accuracy of coding and data sharing.  

 
28. In December, a letter was received from Association of Directors of Adult Social 

Services (ADASS) to all Local Authorities, CCGs and provider Chief Officers 
regarding assuring that DTOC reporting is credible. The letter stated that providers 
must ensure that before DTOC data is uploaded to Unify that Social Care and jointly 
attributable delays should be agreed by the relevant Local Authority’s Director of 
Adult Social Services or their nominated representatives. A process has been put in 
place between Leicestershire Partnership Trust and Leicestershire County Council, 
and a process is being developed for University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust. 
Steps are being taken for introducing similar processes with nearby out of county 
providers. 

54



 

 
Conclusion 

 
29. The Leicestershire BCF DTOC target was not achieved by November 2017 but due 

to the improvements that have been made in the performance the risk of having IBCF 
funding withheld in 2018/19 has been removed.  

 
Background papers 
 
High Impact Change Model – Managing Transfer of Care http://ow.ly/IYhT30g7jIK  
 
Report to Health and Wellbeing Board: 16 November 2017 – Delayed Transfers of Care 
Target, Performance and Risk Analysis 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4941  
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name and Job Title:  Helen Seth, Interim Director of Health and Care Integration 
Telephone:   0116 3054212 
Email:    Helen.Seth@leics.gov.uk  
 
List of Appendices 
 

 Appendix A – Letter from DCLG and DH regarding DTOC Performance 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
30. The BCF aims to improve outcomes and wellbeing for the people of Leicestershire, 

with effective protection of social care and integrated activity to reduce emergency 
and urgent health demand. 
 

31. An equalities and human rights impact assessment has been undertaken which is 
provided at  
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-care-fund-overview-ehria.pdf. 
This finds that the BCF will have a neutral impact on equalities and human rights. 

 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
32. The delivery of the BCF Plan and the governance of the associated pooled budgets 

is managed in partnership through the collaboration of commissioners and providers 
in Leicestershire.  
 

33. Day to day oversight of delivery is via the Integration Executive through the scheme 
of delegation agreed via the Integration Executive’s terms of reference which have 
been approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

55

http://ow.ly/IYhT30g7jIK
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4941
mailto:Helen.Seth@leics.gov.uk
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-care-fund-overview-ehria.pdf


 

 
34. The delivery of the Leicestershire BCF ensures that a number of key integrated 

services are in place and contributing to the system wide changes being 
implemented through the five year plan to transform health and care in 
Leicestershire, known as Better Care Together http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk. 
 

56

http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/


 

 

 
The Rt Hon Sajid Javid MP                                                        The Rt Hon Jeremy Hunt MP                                                                            
Secretary of State for                                                                 Secretary of State for Health 
Communities and Local Government                                     

                                                                                  
                                                                                                

 

 

 

5 December 2017 

 

 

Dear Leader, 

 

 

 

On 10 October we wrote to every council expressing the urgency of our combined work 

to reduce delayed transfers of care before winter. Whilst we are still a long way off from 

delivering the 3.5% target needed to ensure we go into winter as prepared as we can be, 

it is encouraging that across the country around 1050 beds have been freed up since 

February 2017, with delays back down to levels last seen in summer 2016. It is vital that 

the focus and attention that has driven this improvement continues. 

 

In our letter we confirmed our commitment to challenge entrenched poor performance 

by conducting a review in November of 2018/19 iBCF allocations announced at Spring 

Budget. Following this work we are pleased to confirm that there will be no impact on 

your additional iBCF allocation in 2018/19.  

 

We remain committed to ensuring that councils and the NHS receive appropriate 

support to help tackle local challenges and barriers to performance. We are taking steps 

to ensure that councils and the NHS receive appropriate support to help tackle local 

challenges and barriers to performance and will continue to monitor performance 

nationally and locally to support you in this. Please do get in touch with Hulya Mustafa 

(Hulya.mustafa@dh.gsi.gov.uk) to discuss the DToC support offer for your council. 

 

In addition to this letter you will be hearing shortly jointly from NHSE and NHS 

Improvement on the support available, including through the Better Care Fund to  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

57

mailto:Hulya.mustafa@dh.gsi.gov.uk


 

 

support continued reductions on delayed transfers of care. 
    

 
          

RT HON SAJID JAVID MP                                    RT HON JEREMY HUNT MP 
Department for Communities and Local Government                                              Department for Health   
2 Marsham Street                                                                                                           Richmond House 79 Whitehall 
London SW1P 4DF                                                                                                         London SW1A 2NS 
Tel: 0303 444 3450                                                                                                         Tel: 020 7210 3000 
E-Mail: sajid.javid@communities.gsi.gov.uk                                                                   E-Mail: healthsofs@dh.gsi.gov.uk 

 
  

58

mailto:sajid.javid@communities.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:healthsofs@dh.gsi.gov.uk


 
LEICESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 25 

JANUARY 2018 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 

JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT 2018 

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to highlight the responsibility of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board to publish a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), the 
timescale to do so, and the proposed governance structure to enable 
production of the JSNA. 

 
 Links to the local Health and Care System 

 
2. The local authority and clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) have equal and 

joint statutory responsibility to prepare a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA) for Leicestershire, through the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 amended the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 to introduce duties and powers for Health and 
Wellbeing Boards in relation to JSNAs. 

 
3. JSNAs are a continuous process and are an integral part of CCG and local 

authority commissioning cycles. Health and Wellbeing Boards need to decide 
for themselves when to update or refresh JSNAs or undertake a fresh process 
to ensure that they are able to inform local commissioning plans over time.  

 
Recommendations  
 
4. The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested:  
 

i. to note this report; 
ii. to approve the delegation of the assurance role to the Integration 

Executive; 
iii. approve the proposal to form a JSNA reference group and the draft 

terms of reference for the JSNA reference group; 
iv. to receive further reports on progress of the JSNA  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
5. Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland’s Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

(STP) sets out a vision for the future of health and care services. It focuses on 
ensuring that consistently quality services are delivered which are easier for 
local people to access. Where possible, it is important that the JSNA is used 
evidence base for the STP. 
 

 

59 Agenda Item 11



6. The last JSNA for Leicestershire was produced in 2015 and can be accessed 
at:  http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2015-jsna.html 
 

Background 
 

7. The purpose of the JSNA is to improve the health and wellbeing of the local 
community and reduce inequalities for all ages. It should be viewed as a 
continuous process of strategic assessment and planning with the aim to 
develop local evidence-based priorities for commissioning which will improve 
the public’s health and reduce inequalities. 
 

8. It is proposed the JSNA will be published in subject-specific chapters 
throughout a three-year time period on an iterative basis, in line with CCG and 
local authority commissioning cycles. The JSNA chapters will be aligned to 
Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Outcomes Framework. The outputs 
of JSNA will be: 

 

 Subject-specific chapters of an assessment of current and future health 

and social care needs.  

 Infographic summary of each chapter 

 A data dashboard that is updated on a quarterly basis to allow users to 

self-serve high level data requests  

9. The JSNA will be used to help to determine what actions the local authority, the 
local NHS and other partners need to take to meet health and social care 
needs, and to address the wider determinants that impact on health and 
wellbeing. 
 

10. The local authority, CCGs and NHS England’s plans for commissioning 
services will be expected to be informed by the JSNA. Where plans are not in 
line with the JSNA, the local authority, CCGs and NHS England must be able to 
explain why. 
 

11. The JSNA is a statutory document that is used by many organisations to 
provide evidence for changes to the commissioning of local services. As such, 
if any organisation receives a legal challenge to the services they commission 
based on the JSNA, the local authority could also be part of that legal 
challenge.  It is essential that the process that is followed meets the legislation 
that is set out and that the JSNA is a robust document. 

 
 Governance 
 
12. As many of the relationships required for the JSNA in Leicestershire are wide – 

involving representation from NHS England, CCGs, Leicestershire Partnership 
Trust, University Hospitals of Leicester, District Councils and the voluntary 
sector - a JSNA Reference Group will be established.  This Reference Group 
will support JSNA work across the Health and Wellbeing Board.   
 

60

http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2015-jsna.html


13. Draft terms of reference and membership for the JSNA Reference Group are 
attached as Appendix A.   
 

14. It is proposed that the Reference Group will provide a status report on a 
quarterly basis to the Integration Executive. The Integration Executive will 
provide assurance to the Health and Wellbeing Board that the JSNA is an 
accurate reflection of the needs of the population and has been developed 
using robust processes. 

 
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement 
 
15. An engagement plan has been proposed to promote the initiation of a new 

JSNA cycle to the County Council and wider partners. This will start with a 
newsletter explaining the new process circulated by email.  
 

Resource Implications 
 
16. The principal resourcing for the development of the Leicestershire JSNA is 

provided by the Leicestershire County Council Business Intelligence Service, 
with information and advice provided through the JSNA Reference Group by 
Leicestershire County Council departments, CCGs, NHS England, 
Leicestershire Partnership Trust, District Councils and the Voluntary Sector. 

 
Timetable for Decisions 
 
17. The guidance documents provide information on the JSNA content.  This has 

been reflected in the overview of proposed content of the JSNA provided in 
Appendix B.   
 

18. Appendix B also provides the project timescales. The project plan is tight with 
respect to delivering the first JSNA chapters by July 2018. Subsequent JSNA 
chapters will then follow on an iterative basis. The JSNA Reference Group will 
monitor timescales and report any issues of concern to the Integration 
Executive. 

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys 
Director of Public Health 
Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 305 4239 
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 
 
Caroline Boucher 
Head of Business Intelligence & Economic Growth 
Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 305 7262    
Email: caroline.boucher@leics.gov.uk 
 
 

61

mailto:mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:caroline.boucher@leics.gov.uk


List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Reference Group Terms of 
Reference 
Appendix B – Joint Strategic Needs Assessment – Working Outline and Timescale 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
19. The JSNA will be subject to an EHRIA.  

62



APPENDIX A 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT 
REFERENCE GROUP 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Purpose: 

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a legal duty of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board (HWB). Each HWB will need to decide for themselves when to 
update or refresh JSNAs; however boards will need to assure themselves that their 
evidence-based priorities are up to date to inform the relevant local commissioning 
plans. The last JSNA for Leicestershire was produced in 2015. 

The purpose of this Reference Group is to develop the JSNA for Leicestershire.   
The team will set the timetable for the development of the JSNA and agree the 
format and content of the JSNA.  

The Reference Group will meet on a continuous basis quarterly, starting in February 
2018.  

Key responsibilities: 

 To oversee the JSNA process  

 To ensure that the development of the JSNA meets the statutory duties of the 
HWBs 

 To ensure active engagement from all stakeholders 

 To communicate to a wider audience how the JSNA is being developed 

 To ensure that the JSNA addresses issues of provision and identifies need 

 To identify any gaps in health and social care provision 

 To map any future provision 
 
Governance: 

 Leicestershire County Council – the Health and Wellbeing Board will task the 

Integration Executive with ensuring the JSNA is conducted according to the 

legislation. 

 The Reference Group will be chaired by the Public Health Director of 

Leicestershire County Council, Mike Sandys. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

63



JSNA Reference Group membership: 
 
Local Authority JSNA Leads 

 Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health, Chair, LCC 

 Caroline Boucher, Head of Business Intelligence, LCC 
 
Adults & Communities, LCC 

 Sandy McMillan, Assistant Director Strategy, LCC 
 
Children & Families, LCC 

 Jane Moore, Assistant Director Education and Early Help, LCC 
 
Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 Paul Gibara, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 

 Jade Atkin, West Leicestershire CCG 
 
District Councils 

 Jon Wells, Blaby District Council 

 Simon Jones, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council 
 
Environment & Transport, LCC 

 Alex Scott, Head of Service Business Management, LCC 
 
Health and Care Integration 

 Cheryl Davenport, Director of Health and Care Integration, LCC  
 
Healthwatch Leicestershire 

 Representative to be confirmed 
 
Intelligence Leads 

 Natalie Greasley, Public Health Business Partner, LCC  
 
Leicestershire Partnership Trust 

 Katrina Coley/Sarah Fenwick, Family Services Manager 
 
NHS England 

 Representative to be confirmed 
 
Public Health 

 Rob Howard, Consultant in Public Health, LCC 
 
Public Health England 

 Representative to be confirmed 
 
University Hospital of Leicester 

 Representative to be confirmed 
 
Voluntary Sector 

 Representative to be confirmed 

64



NB: Membership will be reviewed regularly and may be extended by agreement of 
the Reference Group members 
 
Frequency of meetings: The first four meetings will be arranged – March 2018, 
June 2018, September 2018, December 2018. 
Additional meetings may be required between March 2018 and June 2018 as this will 
be a key development phase of the first chapters of the JSNA.  
 
Support arrangements: 
The meetings will be minuted by Leicestershire County Council. 
 
Confidentiality  
An undertaking of confidentiality will be signed by non-Local Authority employed 
group members. 
During the period of membership of the Reference Group, members may have 
access to information designated by the Local Authorities or other members as being 
of a confidential nature and which must not be divulged, published or disclosed 
without prior written consent.  Improper use of or disclosure of confidential 
information will be regarded as a serious disciplinary matter and will be referred back 
to the employing organisation. For the avoidance of doubt as to whether an agenda 
item is confidential all papers will be marked as confidential before circulation to the 
group members. 
 
Declarations of Interest  
Where there is an item to be discussed, where a member could have a commercial 
or financial interest, the interest is to be declared and formally recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting. 

65



APPENDIX B 
 
JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT – WORKING OUTLINE AND 
TIMESCALE 

 
 Purpose 

1. To improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce 
inequalities for all ages.  
 

2. To determine what actions the local authority, the local NHS and other partners 
need to take to meet health and social care needs, and to address the wider 
determinants that impact on health and wellbeing. 

3. To provide a source of relevant reference to the Local Authority, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and NHS England for the commissioning of any future 
services.  
 

Publication Outline 
 
Each health chapter of the JSNA will review and include a section examining the 
following: 
 

 Who is at risk? 

 Level of need in Leicestershire (including Inequalities) 

 How does this impact? (including Costs) 

 Policy and Guidance 

 Current Services  

 Unmet needs/Gaps 

 Recommendations 
 
 
The published document will cover the following themes which are aligned to 
the Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Outcomes Framework (this list 
is a guide and will evolve alongside the development of report): 
 
1. Strong Economy 
 
This theme will present a summary of the Economy and Transport of Leicestershire. 
It will include a section on how this impacts on the health of the population of 
Leicestershire. It will be updated on an annual basis. 
 

2. Wellbeing and Opportunity 

 
This theme will present of an assessment of current and future health and social 
care needs for various health areas. The chapters will be published in line with CCG 
and local authority commissioning cycles. This theme will be split into the following 
chapters and sub-chapters: 
 

66



 
3. Keeping People Safe 
 
This theme will present two chapters, summarising Safeguarding and Crime 
throughout Leicestershire. It will include sections on how this impacts on the health 
of the population of Leicestershire. It will be updated on an annual basis. 

 
4. Great Communities 
 
This theme will present a summary of Communities throughout Leicestershire. It will 
include a section on how this impacts on the health of the population of 
Leicestershire.  It will be updated on an annual basis. 
 
5. Affordable and Quality Homes 

 

Outcomes Framework Supporting 
Outcome 

JSNA Chapter JSNA Sub-Chapter 

Every child has access to good 
quality education 

Education 

Access to Education 

Everyone is able to aim high and 
reach their full potential 

Early years development 

Educational achievement 

Every child gets the best start in life 
Health of Children 
and Young People 
(CYP) 

Best Start in Life 

Leicestershire has a healthy 
population with increased healthy life 
expectancy and reduced health 
inequalities 

Physical health of CYP 

Mental health in CYP 

Children's oral health 

Healthy Lives 

Teenage Pregnancy 

Alcohol 

Substance Misuse 

Tobacco 

Obesity 

Physical Activity 

Sexual health 

Oral health 

Health of Adults 

Cardiovascular disease 

Diabetes 

Cancer 

Respiratory disease 

Mental health and Wellbeing 

Health Protection 

Frail older people 

Winter pressures 

Dementia 

End of life 

People are cared for at home, in their 
own community, whenever possible, 

and for as long as possible 

Social Care 
Children's Social Care 

Adult's Social Care 

Carers 

67



This theme will present a summary of Housing throughout Leicestershire. It will 
include a section on how this impacts on the health of the population of 
Leicestershire. It will be updated on an annual basis. 
 
6. Supporting Information 
 
Three additional chapters will be presented in a Supporting Information theme. 
These chapters will crosscut the whole of the JSNA and will provide reference 
information to other chapters. They will be updated on an annual basis, if applicable. 
The chapters proposed are: 

 Demographics of Leicestershire 

 Deprivation of Leicestershire 

 Vulnerable People of Leicestershire, to include: 
o Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND), including Autism and 

Transition 
o Physical and sensory disability 
o Learning disabilities 
o Child Sexual Exploitation 
o Female genital mutilation (FGM) 

 
 
Publication Outline 
 
The supporting information chapters will be published at the start of the JSNA cycle, 
in July 2018. These chapters will then be updated on an annual basis in accordance 
with data releases. The health needs assessment chapters of the JSNA will be 
published in line with CCG and local authority commissioning cycles. The draft 
timetable for the publication of chapters is presented in the below table.  

68



 
 

Theme Chapter Sub-Chapter Timeline Snr. Officer 

1. Strong Economy Economy and Transport Jul-18 CB 

2. Wellbeing and 
Opportunity 

Education 

Access to Education  TBC TBC 

Early years development TBC TBC 

Educational achievement TBC TBC 

Health of Children 
and Young 
People (CYP) 

Best Start in Life Mar-19 RH 

Physical health of CYP Apr-20 RH 

Mental health in CYP Jul-18 JM 

Children's oral health Jul-18 KP 

Healthy Lives 

Teenage Pregnancy Jun-20 JM 

Alcohol Mar-19 JM 

Substance Misuse Mar-19 JM 

Tobacco Jun-19 KP 

Obesity Apr-19 EO 

Physical Activity Apr-19 EO 

Sexual health Jun-20 JM 

Oral health Jun-18 KP 

Health of Adults 

Cardiovascular disease HEA CT 

Diabetes HEA CT 

Cancer Sep-18 MM/KP 

Respiratory disease HEA CT 

Mental health and Wellbeing Jul-18 JM 

Health Protection HP AR MM 

Frail older people Sep-19 MM 

Winter pressures  TBC RH 

Dementia TBC JM/MM 

End of life Sep-19 MM 

Social Care 
Children's Social Care TBC  TBC 

Adult's Social Care TBC  TBC 

Carers TBC  TBC 

3. Keeping People 
Safe 

Safeguarding Jul-18 TBC 

Crime Jul-18 TBC 

4. Great 
Communities Communities Jul-18 

TBC 

5. Affordable and 
Quality Homes 

Housing Jul-18 
TBC/RH 

6. Supporting 
information 

Demographics Jul-18 CB 

Deprivation Jul-18 CB 

Vulnerable 
People 

Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND), including 
Autism and Transition 

Jul-18 
CB 

Physical and sensory disability Jul-18 CB 

Learning disabilities Jul-18 CB 

Child Sexual Exploitation Jul-18 CB 

Female genital mutilation (FGM) Jul-18 CB 

69



Project Schedule – Under Development 
 
Stage 1 – Project implementation (February 2017)  
 

 

Stage 2 – Initial Document Drafts  
(February – June 2018) 

Milestone COMPLETE 

Draft JSNA template (contents) agreed  

Draft risk register  

Develop engagement plan  

1st draft JSNA chapters  

Communications plan in place  
 
Stage 3 – Approval & Publication of 1st JSNA Chapters (July 2018) 

Milestone COMPLETE 

1st JSNA chapters published  
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Milestone Complete 

Formally initiate project  

Establish JSNA Reference Group  

Set up project templates  

Confirm recruitment of key project team members  

70



 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 25 JANUARY 2018 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2017 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to look back at the past year (2017) for the Health and 

Wellbeing Board and to reflect on the progress that has been made. The focus 
throughout the report is the progress that has been made across the partnership to 
improve the health and wellbeing of the population of Leicestershire.  

  
Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board:  

a. Approve the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report for publication;  
b. Note the progress that has been made by the Board in 2017; and  
c. Support the key workstreams that have been identified to further progress the 

impact of the Health and Wellbeing Board in 2018.  
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
3. The Health and Wellbeing Board’s Annual Report for 2016 was approved by the Board 

in January 2017. 
 
Background 
 
4. The report includes the following information:-  

 
(a) An overview of some of the achievements and outcomes that have been delivered 

by the Health and Wellbeing Board in 2017, including the roll out of the Lightbulb 
Service, the development of a new falls pathway for Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland and the self-care communications campaign.   
 

(b) An update from Healthwatch Leicestershire on the progress that is being made to 
meet the needs of the people of Leicestershire and how their insights have 
contributed to the work of the Health and Wellbeing Board during 2018. 
 

(c) A look ahead to 2018 which will involve delivering the vision and strategy of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment refresh and the 
Better Care Fund. 

 
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement 
 

71 Agenda Item 12



 

5. The report reflects on the ways that Healthwatch Leicestershire have worked with the 
Health and Wellbeing Board to ensure that the views of patients and the public are 
considered appropriately by the Board.  

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys 
Director of Public Health 
Telephone: 0116 305 4239 
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk  
 
Rosemary Whitelaw 
Democratic Services Manager 
Telephone: 0116 305 6098 
Email: rosemary.whitelaw@leics.gov.uk  
 
List of Appendices 
 
Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2017 
 

72

mailto:mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:rosemary.whitelaw@leics.gov.uk


 

73



Foreword 

I would like to pay tribute to the excellent work of Ernie White, CC, former Chairman 

of the Health and Wellbeing Board who sadly passed away at the beginning of 2018.  

Ernie was a great advocate for health and wellbeing, passionate about the subject 

and particularly about the positive impact that sport and physical activity has on 

health and wellbeing.   

2017 has been a difficult year across health and social care and I thank staff across 

the partnership for the effort that they have put into their work on a daily basis.  We 

have seen real improvements in processes and team working and these are starting 

to bring positive changes in the services we deliver.  I am confident that we will 

continue to make progress during 2018. 

After a challenging year, it is always useful to look back and note the achievements 

that have been made and the improvements in performance.  It is easy to lose sight 

of these and I welcome the opportunity to celebrate our hard work provided by this 

report.  I would particularly highlight:- 

 The roll out of our award winning Lightbulb Service, bringing together housing 

related services across all seven Leicestershire districts and providing a 

customer centred standardised delivery; 

 The development of a new falls pathway for Leicester, Leicestershire and 

Rutland; 

 Our self-care communications campaign, focused on lifestyle improvements 

including getting active, healthier eating and reducing the risk of diabetes. 

Looking ahead, we look forward to leading integration work within Leicestershire, to 

reduce duplication and improve consistency in services for the people of 

Leicestershire.  We will continue to be focused on achieving the best health and 

wellbeing outcomes for our local population. 

 

 

Pam Posnett 

Interim Cabinet Lead Member for Health 

 

 

 

 

74



Section A: Introduction 

The purpose of this report is to look back at the past year (2017) for the Health and 

Wellbeing Board and to reflect on the progress that has been made. The focus 

throughout the report is the progress that has been made across the partnership to 

improve the health and wellbeing of the population of Leicestershire.  

The report includes the following sections:-  

 An overview of some of the achievements and outcomes of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board and its subgroups, including those supported by the Better 

Care Fund pooled budget.  

 An update from Healthwatch Leicestershire on the progress that is being made 

to meet the needs of the people of Leicestershire and how their insights have 

contributed to the work of the Health and Wellbeing Board during 2017.  

 A look ahead to 2018 which will involve continued focus on delivery of the 

Better Care Fund Plan and the refresh of the Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

75



Section B: Health and Wellbeing Board Progress in 2017 

1. Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 

We have a statutory requirement to prepare a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 

(PNA) for Leicestershire and publish it by March 2018.  The PNA will:- 

 identify the pharmaceutical services currently available and assess the need for 

pharmaceutical services in the future; 

 inform the planning and commissioning of pharmacy services by identifying which 

services should be commissioned for local people, within available resources, 

and where these services should be; 

 inform decision making in response to applications made to NHS England by 

pharmacists and dispensing doctors to provide a new pharmacy. 

In September, a 60 day consultation on the PNA commenced.  It closed on 31 

December.  The responses to the questionnaire will now be analysed and a 

summary of feedback from attendance at meetings and patient groups will be 

included in a consultation summary report.  This summary will be used to populate 

the consultation results section of the PNA document.  The consultation report will be 

taken into account in further developing the gap analysis and recommendations 

sections of the final PNA document.  

We look forward to seeing the final version of PNA at our meeting in March 2018. 

2. Health and Wellbeing Board Achievements and Outcomes 

Better Care Fund Refresh 

Throughout the year, we received regular updates on the refresh of the Better Care 

Fund.  In March, the Government announced that it had allocated additional 

resources to the County Council for adult social care.  The Better Care Fund policy 

framework required this to be incorporated into the Better Care Fund Plan and we 

were pleased to be able to allocate this money to support hospital discharge, adult 

social care service capacity and the Home First Workstream of the Sustainability and 

Transformation Plan. 

In July, we were made aware of the greater focus on improving delayed transfers of 

care (DTOC).  In September we were told that plans that did not meet the NHS 

DTOC target, such as ours, would automatically be rated as not approved.  A 

revision to the DTOC target, to make it compliant with NHS requirements, was 

agreed by partners in October. 

It is statistically unlikely that the revised DTOC target will be met although we have 

been assured that due to the improved DTOC performance there would be no impact 

76



on the Improved Better Care Fund allocation during 2018/19.  Nonetheless, we will 

continue to be closely monitoring performance to ensure that the actions being taken 

are having the desired effect.  The Integration Executive will also have a continued 

focus in this area. 

Summary Care Record 

We recognise the need for improved record sharing between different parts of the 

NHS and between the NHS and social care.  We have therefore taken an interest in 

the development of the summary care record.  This shares important summary 

information about patients and the care they are already receiving in an electronic 

record, based on source data from GP records, with other health and social care 

professionals, subject to the patient having given their explicit consent.  We have all 

agreed to act as champions for the Summary Care Record and give consent to our 

data being shared through this means. 

We had some concerns that feedback from GPs regarding the quality of the 

Summary Care Record had not been addressed, however we were subsequently 

assured that GP practices could submit a request for changes to be made to the 

template and that, where this was not possible, reasons would be given. 

Radio Wellbeing 

We were really pleased to hear about the development of a community radio station, 

created by the voluntary sector, to promote health and social care issues in 

Leicestershire.  It will do this by aligning its content to the health and wellbeing 

priorities of partners.  The application for an OFCOM wide-area license has recently 

been approved and the station should be fully operational by September 2018.  All 

partners are providing support in terms of content and integrating the radio station 

with existing IT programmes.  The County Council is also providing practical support 

to help the station become operational.  We look forward to the next stage of 

development for this exciting project. 

3. Self-Care Communications Campaign 

In November we launched a ‘Self-Care’ communications campaign across the 

county, working with partner organisations. 

One of our key priorities is ‘Supporting people to avoid ill health, particularly those 

most at risk, by facilitating solutions, shifting to prevention, early identification and 

intervention’. Our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 2017-2022 outlines a 

vision to “improve health outcomes for the local population, manage future demand 

on services and create a strong and sustainable health and care system by making 

the best use of the available resources” 

Self-care covers many areas, but overall it is about an individual looking after 

themselves in a healthy way. It can include getting people to live healthier lives by 

77



quitting smoking, drinking sensibly or exercising more. The term is also used to 

cover taking medications, treating minor ailments and knowing when and how best to 

seek help.   

Our campaign focuses on lifestyle improvement including getting active, healthier 

eating and reducing the risk of diabetes. It will also support and integrate the work of 

existing individual campaigns that address key areas of self-care and are seasonal 

including falls prevention, staying warm and celebrating safely. 

The initial areas of focus included: 

 Healthy living – Encouraging activity through walking, promoting healthy 

eating and raising awareness of how to stay safe and well.. 

 Long term conditions – diabetes.  In 2017, Leicestershire performed 

significantly worse than the England average for recorded diabetes. 

 Self-care options – signposting to local healthcare services and awareness of 

county wide opportunities to engage in a healthier lifestyle.  

4. The work of our subgroups 

a. Integration Executive 

Integration and the Better Care Fund 

The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a pooled budget of £52million between the Clinical 

Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the County Council targeted at improving the 

integration of health and care. The Health and Wellbeing Board has responsibility for 

approving the BCF for submission to NHS England and plans arising from this. 

The Integration Executive is the subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing Board with 

responsibility for overseeing delivery of the BCF Plan on behalf of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board.  

Our performance and achievements in relation to the BCF during 2017 is set out 

below:- 

 The national delayed transfer of care target set by NHS England is that no 

more than 3.5% of occupied bed days should be coded as delayed nationally, 

by November 2017. In Leicestershire, this translated to no more than 6.84 bed 

days delayed per 100,000 population by November 2017. In November, there 

was a total of 8.0 average days delayed per 100,000 against the target. 

 Health and care partners across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) 

are working hard to deliver improvements to transfer out of hospital and 

reduce delayed transfers of care. In Leicestershire, we have focused in 

particular on delays affecting patients in community hospitals and our mental 

78



health and learning disabilities services. An LLR wide action plan is in place 

which has been based on analysing LLR’s position against the high impact 

changes framework for hospital discharge.  

 A major local development within the action plan is the new Integrated 

Discharge Team (IDT), which started in July 2017 at University Hospital 

Leicester. The IDT is an integrated multi-disciplinary and multi-agency 

discharge service within some of the busiest wards at the Leicester Royal 

Infirmary, providing expert discharge advice and assistance to get people 

home as soon as they are well enough to leave the acute hospital. The IDT 

attend a daily board round where patient’s progress is discussed and 

pathways towards discharge identified. If the team feel that the patient’s 

needs are ‘simple’ (e.g. care package re-start) they advise and support the 

ward team to complete the required actions. If the patient requires 

assessment, or a change of services then the IDT becomes involved in the 

case. 

 Integrated Urgent Response – during 2016/17 LLR partners worked towards a 

new model of integrated urgent care in line with the NHS England Five Year 

Forward View, through our participation in the national Urgent Care Vanguard 

programme. The work culminated in a procurement for a new model of 

service commencing in April 2017, which had the following key design 

principles – responsive, accessible person-centred services as close to home 

as possible; services wrap care around the individual, promoting self-care and 

independence, enhancing recovery and reablement, through integrated health 

and social care services that are innovative and promote care in the right 

setting at the right time. Also that urgent care services will consistently be 

available 24 hours per day, seven days a week in community and hospital 

settings and that clinical triage and navigation is a central part of the 

integrated urgent care offer, reducing demand on ambulances and acute 

emergency services. 

 As part of the work done by the LLR Falls Steering Group, a new falls 

pathway has been designed. Each of the stages within the pathway has been 

developed into an agreed level of service that forms part of the LLR Falls 

Prevention and Treatment Strategy. The current programme of work includes: 

• The new falls triage and assessment process has continued across the 

county showing great improvements in access to therapy for patients 

and patient outcomes. 

• Leicestershire Partnership Trust and the County Council’s Adult Social 

Care department are working together to develop seamless therapy 

and falls prevention training to care home staff. 

79



• A needs analysis is underway for falls prevention activity across the 

county involving the voluntary sector. 

• A video explaining how the eFRAT tool work has been developed. It 

explains how the app benefits both professionals and patients by 

ensuring that the most appropriate course of action is taken for each 

individual who has had a fall, to help them maintain their independence 

and remain in the community. 

• LLR was chosen as the demonstrator site for an important East Midlands 

Academic Health Science Network (EMAHSN) project. This is an NHS 

England funded project, developing tools to help people at risk of falling look 

after themselves and have access to monitoring devices and equipment that 

will help them to maintain independence when at high risk. The work will run 

in tandem with the local falls programme. 

• Integrated Points of Access – we currently have multiple points of access that 

receive referrals for health and social care community based services and 

admissions into and from acute hospitals. Through our integrated care work 

we have highlighted the need to simplify these points of access. Working 

together, adult health and social care teams want to provide integrated, high 

quality services, delivered in local community settings (where appropriate to 

do so). We see the creation of a single point of access for adult services as 

key to supporting this ambition. The aim of integrating adult service points of 

access is to make it as simple as possible to access health and care services 

without having to go through multiple services and organisations. This will not 

only achieve a more consistent and efficient service, bringing joined up care 

services to our citizens, it will also support professionals delivery care in 

Home First and Integrated Locality Teams to coordinate care and support in 

each local area. 

• An options appraisal approach report was produced over the summer which 

outlined the key activities and outputs that would need to be considered to 

enable the County Council and partners to produce an options appraisal about 

the future assistive technology (AT) across the county. This was discussed 

with partners in September and it was agreed to scope a market appraisal. 

The market appraisal will be informed by customer segmentation and the 

target outcomes for customers and their families or carers. Income streams 

associated with AT and self-funders will also be a key consideration. In 

developing the future strategy, the work will also consider how solutions could 

assist with other functionality that supports the delivery of integrated health 

and care in the home and how the developments within the LLR Digital 

Roadmap could interface with AT.  

80



• A new dementia service was procured across LLR during 2017, which 

launched in October 2017. The service offers pre and post diagnostic support 

and guidance for people with memory issues and/or diagnosis of dementia 

and to offer support and guidance also to their carer(s). The service also 

provides support to health and social care professionals through good 

partnership working and the establishment of proactive relationships. 

b. Unified Prevention Board 

The Unified Prevention Board oversees the development and delivery of prevention 

activities underpinning the health and wellbeing strategy for Leicestershire and more 

recently ensuring the objectives of the new Sustainability and Transformation 

Partnership (STP) prevention work stream are closely aligned with the Leicestershire 

prevention strategy, and are jointly delivered locally as needed across 

Leicestershire. 

Between April and September 2017 the UPB discussed and agreed four key 

outcome pillars that it was felt all partners contributed to in helping residents 

maintain their own health and wellbeing.  These are: 

 Keep Well; 

 Keep Safe; 

 Stay Independent;  and 

 Enjoy life 

Three cross-cutting programmes of work were identified as the focus in developing 

the unified prevention offer: 

 Joined Up Communications – in June the self-care campaign and 

accompanying strategy was agreed. This covered many areas, but overall 

was about an individual looking after themselves in a healthy way. This aimed 

to re-enforce national and local public health messages, drive support and 

participation in self-care and to encourage behaviour change and perception 

through self-care actions and increase awareness and understanding of how 

to navigate the healthcare system 

 Lessons Learned from key integration programmes – In September the board 

focused on learning from a project called Braunstone Blues which brought 

together all three blue light services in an area of high service need to support 

the community and to develop positive outcomes  

 Healthy Workforce = Healthy Leicestershire – In November the UPB endorsed 

a programme of work across the partner organisations to make their 

workforces happier and healthier by encouraging activity and fitness in the 

work place. 

81



 

 

From October to December, the UPB has been working on requirements to support 

the social prescribing model for Leicestershire. The local definition for social 

prescribing was agreed in April 2017 as: 

“A mechanism for empowering people to help themselves and link individuals that 

need it, with non-medical sources of support within the community. It will ensure that 

the response given is appropriate to the individual and allows them choice and 

influence over their wellbeing”.  

In 2017 work began to develop the social prescribing model as the wrap-around 

prevention offer to support Integrated Locality Teams (ILT). This will initially focus 

around pockets of need e.g. people with multiple long-term conditions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
re

ve
n
ti
o
n

a
n
d

se
lf

ca
re

Local
clinic

Extended primary care
and community teams

Unscheduled care

in
th

e
co

m
m

u
n
ity

Sp
ecialist

a
n
d

p
la

n
n
ed

care

Reducing
multple

appointments
/ handoffs

Home

Local GP
practice

Effective
care

planning

Improving
health and
wellbeing

LOCAL
AREA

More control
over long term

conditions

Community
nurse /

therapist

Social
care

Practice
nurse

GP Pharmacist

Better care
coordination

Improved
access to
specialist
support

 Tier 0 focuses on building 
community capacity enabling 
to support themselves; 
building skills and 
infrastructure enabling them 
to rely less on specific 
services. 

 

 Tier 1 focuses on supporting 
people to remain 
independent, supporting 
good health and wellbeing 
and offering information and 
advice services to support 
self-help. 

 

82



First Contact 

First Contact and First Contact Plus is the front door for this offer linking patients to a 

wide range of county and locality based support services. The scheme offers access 

to a range of low level preventative services through a single point of contact. 

From April 2017, the warm home service was integrated into First Contact Plus. The 

aim of this service is to minimise the effects of fuel poverty and cold homes on 

people’s health and well-being whilst raising awareness among professionals and 

the public about the impact of fuel poverty and how to keep warm at home. There 

are two levels of support available.  

Local Area Co-ordination 

As well as First Contact, Local Area Co-ordinators helps link people to their 

community helping to engage with support provided by charities, district councils and 

volunteers and volunteering opportunities. In 2017 the service was expanded and 

there are now 22 co-ordinators in place across Leicestershire. 

Lightbulb 

The countywide roll out of the Lightbulb integrated housing support service took 

place in October 2017. This brings together housing related services across all 

seven Leicestershire districts/boroughs that cover the county and will provide a 

customer centred standardised delivery. Staff recruited to the new service had a ‘Big 

Welcome’ event in September to induct them and welcome them into the new culture 

and new way of delivering the service.  

The service also includes the hospital housing discharge service based at Leicester 

Royal Infirmary and the Bradgate Mental Health Unit, working closely with the 

integrated discharge team to support patients with a range of housing solutions so 

they can return home from hospital.  

Lightbulb became an award winning service, having won the Best Collaborative 

Working Initiative at the Association for Public Service Excellence (APSE) Annual 

Service Awards in September 2017.  

Case Study: 

Mr S had a lot of difficulty with walking due to chronic ulcers on his legs.  This 

made it impossible to climb the stairs and therefore, to access the bathroom 

due to its small size and difficult lay out. Mr S was confined to a downstairs 

existence with a bed located downstairs and unable to access the bathroom or 

toilet.  

The Housing Support Co-ordinator helped Mr S to apply for a Disabled 

Facilities Grant. Mr S was assessed as having to make a large contribution to 

the grant for the works required.  However, this was not possible as they had 

83



already incurred debts they were struggling to pay off due to retiring early 

because of ill health and continued mortgage payments. They were supported 

to apply for Carers Allowance for Mrs S which reduced the contribution to the 

grant and they applied to Leicester Charity Link for a grant to make up some of 

the shortfall.  They referred Mr S onto Grocer Aid charity as Mr S had been a 

Baker for most of his working life.  They supplied Mr S with most of the 

contribution money to the grant and will provide a quarterly amount of money 

going forward for a hardship allowance. Work on the required adaptations to 

their home has been completed and Lightbulb has been able to give Mr S 

access to bathing facilities for the first time in many years.  Mr and Mrs S are 

delighted with the outcome as this has given Mr S his dignity back and has 

improved his mental health.  Mrs S was very pleased to be helped through the 

process and by the partner charities involved. 

c. Children and Families Partnership 

Work throughout the year has continued on producing a Children and Young 

People’s Plan for Leicestershire.  A workshop of the Partnership was held in August 

for partners to look at creating a strategic document which partners could commit to.  

At this workshop, partners agreed that the vision for the Children and Families Plan 

would be: 

“Children and young people in Leicestershire are safe and living in families where 

the can achieve their full potential.” 

Partners also reviewed the five outcomes within the Plan and agreed that these 

should be: 

1. Ensure the best start in life 

2. Safe and free from harm 

3. Support families to be self-sufficient and resilient 

4. Ensure families receive personalised, integrated care and support 

5. Enable children to have good physical and mental health. 

The draft Plan was presented to the Partnership meeting in September, and was 

also circulated to members of the Health and Wellbeing Board for approval.  Further 

progress was reported at the Partnership meeting in November.  Leads for each of 

the outcomes have now been agreed, and task and finish groups were due to take 

place before the next meeting in January where a development session was being 

held to provide an update on each outcome and to finalise the work to produce the 

Plan.  Following this, a one page document highlighting the key elements of the Plan 

would be finalised and presented. 

84



Public engagement on the outcomes within the Plan has taken place.  Further 

engagement would take place, in particular with children and young people, to ask 

how the priorities within the Plan could best be delivered. 

Although the main focus for the Partnership this year has been the production of the 

Plan, other items have been discussed, including details of the transformation of the 

Children and Families Department.  A work programme for meetings in 2018 has 

been developed and includes a wide range of items 

5. Health and Wellbeing Board Development 

We held two Development Sessions for the Board during 2017.  These enable us to 

comment on and contribute to a number of cross cutting strategies such as 

Integrated Locality Teams, the Children and Families Plan and the Whole Life 

Disability Strategy as well as to share commissioning intentions for 2018.  It is clear 

from these sessions that Board members had concerns around the duplication of 

work, governance arrangements and the need for consistent partnership models, 

commissioning approaches and information sharing.  We felt that the Health and 

Wellbeing Board could collectively do more to mitigate risk and track progress in 

delivering our priorities. This will be the focus of our development sessions during 

2018. 

6. Working in Partnership with Healthwatch 

Healthwatch Leicestershire’s (HWL) representation on the Health and Wellbeing 

Board provides a platform for sharing formal patient, user and public insights, 

evidence and intelligence to both inform the process of strategic commissioning and 

improve services for the benefit of the local population.  

Below are some examples of how HWL and the Health and Wellbeing Board have 

worked together as partners to improve outcomes for local people living in 

Leicestershire:-  

Fibromyalgia: It’s not in my head 

Healthwatch Leicestershire launched a survey to gather experiences of people 

suffering from Fibromyalgia. They were overwhelmed with the volume of responses 

and in total 950 individuals with Fibromyalgia completed their survey. 291 responses 

from LLR, 605 from individuals living elsewhere in the UK and 54 individuals did not 

provide information of where they live.    

The report was presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board at the June meeting 

and highlights how people feel about services, for example:  

• Fibromyalgia impacts on individual’s quality of life and limits their chances for 

education, employment and social life. Individuals are sometimes left unable to 

85



perform routine chores and look after personal care needs such as eating, 

bathing and dressing.  

• The majority of respondents had not experienced misdiagnosis, however, that 

over half of respondents from LLR and the UK were not offered information by 

the NHS on living with Fibromyalgia.  

• The length of time taken for a diagnosis contributes to their isolation and 

frustrations. Despite waiting a long time for diagnosis, there were contradictory 

views on individual experiences with their GP. 

• Nearly a quarter of LLR respondents and almost a fifth of UK respondents 

stated that they did not see their GP regarding Fibromyalgia because they feel 

their GP is not supportive or knowledgeable of their condition.  

Healthwatch Leicestershire in partnership with the Shuttlewood Clarke Foundation 

and University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust, produced a jointly badged Top 10 

Tips poster for those living with the condition. Copies of the poster were mailed to 

GP practices across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to display and use as a 

reference.  

Board members agreed that the condition was poorly understood by all, including 

GPs, and felt that the ‘top ten tips’ section of the report was very useful.  

Annual Report 2016/17 

Healthwatch Leicestershire presented its Annual Review for 2016-17.  This reported 

on the activities undertaken over the last year, and demonstrated the impact that 

these were having on the commissioning, provision and management of local health 

and social care services. 

Healthwatch Leicestershire reported that they had exceeded their performance 

targets over the past year, and the reports and publications produced had been very 

well received by stakeholders and the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

Check-in @ the new Emergency Department 

The Health and Wellbeing Board considered a report from Healthwatch 

Leicestershire presenting the findings from a survey of patients undertaken at the 

new Adult’s Emergency Department at the Leicester Royal Infirmary (LRI).  

Having visited the previous A&E, Healthwatch had spent twelve hours in the new 

department in May 2017.  

The emerging findings from the report were: 

86



• Almost two thirds of patients had tried to seek help elsewhere before arriving 

at the Emergency Department, and a third of patients had been advised to 

attend by their GP.   

• Almost two thirds (67%) of patients told us that they had arrived by car. 

Although 43% of patients reported to having a ‘good’ experience of parking, a 

third (31%) rated their experience as poor, sighting the distance from ED as 

the main issue.  

• An overwhelming 85% of patients rated the check in process as ‘good’, with 

only 5% rating it as ‘poor’. Although, when we asked patients if they think that 

they were given enough information about what will happen next, over a third 

(37%) said no or not sure. 

A number of recommendations had arisen out of the report which UHL welcomed 

and responded to, in the form of an action plan, which was circulated to members of 

the Board. The report also received media attention including a segment on East 

Midlands Today.  

Your views about GP Services 

During the months of August and September 2017, Healthwatch Leicestershire 

promoted a quick poll survey with questions around GP services, such as online 

services for registered patients, referrals for support and treatment and support for 

Carers. 

Healthwatch heard from 240 local people and the findings were presented at the 

November meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board and outlined that:  

• The majority of respondents reported that they were aware that their GP 

practice offers an online booking service, which many had used.  

• All but a small minority of respondents said they would not mind seeing a 

Specialist Nurse instead of a GP.   

• A majority of Carers who responded to this survey have not been able to 

access useful information about support. 

80% of respondents to the Healthwatch survey were satisfied with their GP practice. 

The quick poll report was shared with East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG and 

West Leicestershire CCG as well as the wider health network.  

The Board noted the findings to urge health and social care partners to consider 

actions associated to the report recommendations to improve services, systems and 

processes outlined in the findings report. 

 

87



Section C: Looking forward to 2018 

1. Delivering our Vision and Strategy 

Our vision is “to improve health outcomes for the local population, manage future 

demand on services and create a strong and sustainable health and care system by 

making the best use of the available resources.”  To deliver this during 2018 we will 

be focussing on goals that have the most potential to reduce health inequalities; that 

require collaborative working across the partnership and which will have the greatest 

impact on Leicestershire people. We will also seek to make the best use of 

resources, aiming to invest in early intervention to avoid higher costs in the future.  

2. JSNA refresh 

During 2018, we will need to start the refresh of the Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment (JSNA).  This is the data that informs our strategy and vision so it is vital 

that it is kept up to date and relevant. It also helps to determine what actions the 

local authority, the local NHS and other partners need to take to meet health and 

social care needs, and to address the wider determinants that impact on health and 

wellbeing.   

We are proposing to refresh all chapters in an iterative process over the next three 

years.  We expect the first tranche of refreshed chapters to be completed by the 

summer of 2018.   We will align the JSNA to Leicestershire County Council’s 

Strategic Outcomes Framework. Its outputs will be: 

 Subject-specific chapters of an assessment of current and future health and 

social care needs; 

 An infographic summary of each chapter; 

 A data dashboard that is updated on a quarterly basis to allow users to self-

serve high level data requests. 

3. Better Care Fund 

Although we have received confirmation that, due to the improved performance 

regarding Delayed Transfers of Care there will be no impact on the Improved Better 

Care Fund allocation in 2018/19, we will continue to monitor performance closely in 

this area, to assure ourselves that the actions being taken continue to have the 

desired effect.  It will also be important to ensure that there is a continued focus on 

delivery of the other three metrics within the Better Care Fund, which relate to the 

number of permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and over) to residential 

and nursing care homes, the proportion of older people (65 and over) who are still at 

home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation services 

and the total number of non-elective admissions into hospital (general and acute). 

88



 
 

 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 25 JANUARY 2017 
 

REPORT OF HEALTHWATCH LEICESTERSHIRE 
 

IN MUMS WORDS  
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the findings of Healthwatch 

Leicestershire’s (HWL) survey that saw HWL listen to expecting mothers, mothers 
and healthcare professionals.  

  
Link to the Local Health and Care System   
 
2. The County Council, following the Health and Social Care Act 2012, is required to 

directly commission a local Healthwatch. The local Healthwatch in turn has a set of 
statutory activities to undertake, such as gathering local views and making these 
known to providers and commissioners, monitoring and scrutinising the quality of 
provision of local services and a seat on the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

3. HWL has become an established member of the Health and Wellbeing Board where 
we are able to present evidence-based insights and findings reflecting patients and 
the public views of health and social care services. 

 
Recommendations 
 
4. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:  

I. Note the findings and to urge health and social care partners to consider 
actions to improve services, systems and processes outlined in the report. 

II. Suggest stakeholders that would welcome the presentation of this report. 
 
Background 
 
5. The target audience for this research was expecting mothers, mothers, midwives 

and public health nurses. Two separate surveys were produced to capture 
feedback, one for healthcare professionals and the other for expecting mothers and 
mothers. We heard from 136 expecting mothers and mothers and 54 healthcare 
professionals.   

 
Emerging themes 
 

Results and reassurance   
6. From our focus group discussions and survey responses, mums and mothers to be 

mentioned there is an assumption that GP’s needed to somehow confirm their 
pregnancy. As part of this conversation, half of mums and mothers to be were not 
aware that they could go directly to a midwife once pregnant. Some mums told us 
that their GP practice had stated they needed to see the GP first.  

89 Agenda Item 13



2 
 

 
A listening ear   

7. From the responses received, it’s clear that mums value and appreciate the time 
they have with their healthcare professional. However, when looking at the 
feedback closer, we have learnt that mums are all too aware of the limited time 
for each appointment, so are self-conscious about taking up more time to feel 
comfortable enough to ask further questions. Feeling unsure and unconfident, 
mums told us that any questions they may have, did not feel that important in the 
grand scheme of things, against the key messages that healthcare professionals 
needed to discuss within their meeting. This contributed to feeling a lack of 
emotional support especially for those that previously had issues with pregnancy, 
for example miscarriage or complications.  

 
Feeling abandoned  

8. After birth – Mums told us about the vulnerability they experience in the immediate 
hours of giving birth. They expressed a feeling of abandonment, especially those 
mums who were not allowed to have their partners stay with them. Many mums 
wanted more guidance and support from hospital staff during the night, as this was 
when their energies were low and reflecting on their childbirth experience and 
future responsibilities.  

 
Building a bond  

9. Expectant mums and mothers told us that the relationship between them and their 
midwife is important, allowing advice, support and information to be shared by a 
trusted professional. It matters to them that the same midwife that visits them at 
home is the one they see throughout their pregnancy; and that a strong 
relationship is established to provide comfort and reassurance to mums.  

 
Sharing of information 

10. It was clear from their responses that many healthcare professionals thought there 
should be greater or more effective sharing of information. For example, this could 
be in the form of joint meetings between midwives and public health nurses. In 
addition, professionals discussed having a more effective relationship by using the 
same online systems and the possibility of a formal handover from midwife to 
public health nurse.  
 

11. Healthcare professionals reported that their time during meetings with mums is 
limited, which can restrict a fuller discussion. Imparting information to mums that 
maybe useful, delivering contractual information, putting mums at ease as well as 
building a relationship with them is reported to be difficult to achieve in the 
allocated time frame.  

 
Report recommendations  

 
12. This report highlights experiences and insights into how mothers, mothers to be 

feel about services; and how healthcare professionals feel about internal workings. 
We have provided both strategic and practical recommendations as follows:  

 
In light of the local improvements and changes that are set to take place due to 
the National Maternity Review: Better Births - Five Year Forward View for NHS 

90



3 
 

maternity services in England; and the Care Quality Commission ‘choosing 
maternity care’ initiative. 

 
1. We recommend that you use the findings of this report to help inform 

future procurement and commissioning of services; as well as further 
public engagement when reviewing maternity services locally.   

 
2. We recommend a small campaign or publicity, similar to the ‘Direct to 

Midwife’ initiative that promotes women’s choices and an avenue to get 
their pregnancy care started sooner directly with the midwife. 

 
When we asked patients what could be done to improve their experience of the 
ED, a reoccurring theme was the lack of beverages and snacks available.  

 
3. We recommend that UHL consider how to provide suitable hot and cold 

drinks and snacks for patients visiting the ED.  
 

Feedback from mothers has highlighted that their initial expectation of being 
allocated a named midwife against the reality of seeing the same person is not 
aligned.  

 
4. In order to manage expectations, we recommend that healthcare 

professionals are clear and transparent informing mothers that they may 
see multiple midwives at various points throughout their pregnancy.    

 
Better integration of services is a key driver for local health systems, as well as 
using the knowledge of frontline staff to shape services.  

 
5. We recommend improved joint working and sharing of information 

amongst healthcare professionals. 
 
6. We recommend a demonstrable process that allows healthcare 

professionals to provide a formal response/ have meaningful input into 
any consultation or new service changes. 

 
The emotional support provided to mothers is a key factor within this report and 
the feedback that mothers provided.   

 
7. We recommend the exploration of new ways of working, including 

signposting or specific initiatives, to give mothers a better sense of 
emotional support, particularly in the first few days and weeks of giving 
birth.    

 
Officer to Contact 
 

Name and Job Title: Vandna Gohil, Director 
Telephone: 0116 257 5040 
Email: Vandna.g@healthwatchleics.co.uk 

 
Relevant Impact Assessments 

 

91



4 
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

1. Healthwatch Leicestershire is aware that the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
applies to all functions of public authorities that are listed in Schedule 19 Equality 
Act 2010. Schedule 19 list does not include Healthwatch England or Local 
Healthwatch organisations, however as bodies carrying out a public function using 
public funding we are subject to the PSED general duty. 

 
2. Healthwatch Leicestershire is committed to reducing the inequalities of health and 

social care outcomes experienced in some communities. We believe also that 
health and social care should be based on a human rights platform. We will utilise 
the Equality Act 2010 when carrying out our work and in influencing change in 
service commissioning and delivery. 

 

92



Survey of mothers, mothers to be and 
healthcare professionals

In Mum’s words

93



3 Executive Summary
3 Overview

4 Context

6 Key Headlines

7 Insights and Emerging Themes

9 Recommendations

10 Positive experiences of services

11 Top tips for new mother’s

13 Introduction

13 Our Approach

14 Who we heard from

15 Main findings from mothers 
and mothers-to-be

16 Antenatal Care - What we found

22 Birth Care - What we found

31 Neonatal Care - What we found

34 Main findings from healthcare 
professionals

34 What healthcare professionals told us

38 Conclusion

Contents

Acknowledgements
Healthwatch Leicestershire would like to thank all 
the mothers and mothers-to-be that responded 
to our survey and the healthcare professionals 
that took the time to share their insights with us. 

As part of the National Healthwatch network, best 
practice is often shared amongst colleagues and 
local Healthwatch. We would like to acknowledge 
Healthwatch Suffolk – ‘Supporting Mums’ 
report and Healthwatch Cumbria’s ‘Maternity 
Matters’ report as reports that contributed to our 
approach for survey questions. 

‘In Mum’s words’

2

“The community midwives 
and midwives at the hospital 
who were available to ring 
within the first 6 weeks were 
a blessing. I rang them three 
or four times and they were 
so helpful and reassuring. 
Can’t fault that service at all”

Female, 25-35, Charnwood

94



3

Healthwatch Leicestershire

Foreword
Following the National Maternity review: ‘Better Births Five Year 
Forward View for NHS maternity services’ we know that at a National 
and local level, NHS England is committed to improving maternity 
services to become safer, more personalised, kinder, more professional 
and more family friendly, where every woman has access to information 
to enable her to make decisions about her individual needs and 
circumstances.

Multiple agencies are involved in the delivery of the services and care that a mother may experience 
during this time, making their opinions invaluable to the ongoing development of future service 
provision.

Our report has gathered experiences and insights into how mothers and mothers-to-be feel about the 
local maternity and Healthcare services provided and also how healthcare Professionals feel about 
operational workings.

Our focus was to capture related experiences from healthcare professionals and mothers and mothers 
to be, with an aim to help inform and improve local Maternity care and services.

The report also captures positive experiences as well as providing tips for new mothers and 
information for support services.

In reviewing the key findings, most importantly we are reminded of the emotional, psychological and 
physical journey that mothers experiences from pregnancy to birth.  

Our findings highlight a number of themes including:

 n Providing a listening ear to mothers

 n Reassuring mothers that they are not alone

 n Providing consistent information from conception

 n Building and forming a relationship with expectant mothers

 n Sharing of information between agencies

Our full report and recommendations will be shared with the University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) NHS 
Trust and Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT). The findings will also be presented at the Leicestershire 
Health & Wellbeing Board, which is made up of local councilors, GPs, health and social care officials and 
representatives of patients and the public.

This report will also be shared with NHS England, Healthwatch England, neighbouring Healthwatch and 
respective local and district authorities.

HWL is grateful to the mothers, mothers to be and healthcare professionals for sharing their insights 
and experiences.

Sue Staples
Healthwatch Leicestershire Board Member

Healthwatch Leicestershire

95



4

Overview
This executive summary provides an overview of the qualitative and 
quantitative findings from our surveys of mothers, mothers-to-be and 
healthcare professionals. 
For this project, our target audience, of mothers, mothers-to-be and healthcare professionals, were 
engaged via two separate questionnaires/surveys, internal partners and social media. 

Executive Summary

Who participated:

We heard from 190 people

mothers and mothers to be*

staff**

190

6
Currently 

pregnant with 
first child

14
Pregnant and 
already have 
another child

108
Not pregnant, 
have another 

child under age 3

136

*We heard from mothers and mothers-
to-be as follows:

54

 **We heard from Healthcare     
       professionals as follows:

52
Female

16
Midwives

32
Public Health 

Nurses

6
Other

1
Male

1 stated they prefer not to say

Which hospital did you have your child?

47
Leicester 

Royal 
Infirmiary

26
Leicester 
General 
Hospital

3
Not born in 

Hospital

30
Other

Executive Summary

96



5

Healthwatch Leicestershire

Context
At a National level, conversations are taking place regarding the review and improvement of the 
maternity system and how this affects local systems and subsequently mothers and families.   

A National Maternity Review: Better Births - Five Year Forward View for NHS maternity services in 
England, recognised that delivering a vision for maternity services could only be delivered through 
locally led transformation, suitably supported at national and regional levels. 

By October 2017, Local Maternity Systems we’re aiming to have established a shared vision and plan 
to implement Better Births by the end of 2020/21; and work adjacent with the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP) Footprint involving all commissioners and providers of maternity services, as 
well as service users. 

Better Births: Improving outcomes of maternity services in 
England 1 
Our vision for maternity services across England is for them to become safer, more 
personalised, kinder, more professional and more family friendly, where every woman has 
access to information to enable her to make decisions about her care and where she and her 
baby can access support that is centred around their individual needs and circumstances.

All staff should be supported to deliver care which is women-centred, working in high 
performing teams, in organisations which are well led and in cultures which promote innovation, 
continuous learning, and break down organisational and professional boundaries.

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) have launched a new national campaign called 
#Yourbirthplan, aimed at raising awareness of CQC amongst women who are pregnant, planning 
to have a baby or have recently used maternity services in England. The CQC want more 
women to be aware that, if they’re pregnant and choosing where to have a baby, CQC resources, 
inspection reports and ratings, are there to help them make that decision. 

We endeavour to ensure that local voices are listened to and that they have a pathway to be 
heard, through formal strategies such as Better Births and that relevant information such as CQC 
ratings are promoted as widely as possible. 

1 National Maternity review: Better Births https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/national-maternity-review-re-
port.pdf

97



6

Key Headlines

Executive Summary

The following headlines highlight the key issues that have emerged from 
the main analysis of findings after reviewing feedback from mothers, 
mothers-to-be, midwives and public health nurses. 

Mothers and Mothers-to-be 
 n  Over a third of survey respondents (38%) told us 

that they did not have a birth plan. A further third 
(33%) told us that their plan was not followed, 
with just under a third (29%) saying that their 
birth plan was followed. 

 n  Just over half of survey respondents (51%) were 
not aware they could go directly to the midwife 
without first going to see their GP, when they 
were pregnant. 

 n  85% of survey respondents had never noticed 
an opportunity nor been approached to give 
feedback or become involved in making 
services better. 

 n  Nearly all survey respondents (90%) would like 
their maternity notes to be shared with their 
Midwife, Public Health Nurses and their GP. 

 n  Over three quarters of survey respondents 
(86%) told us that they stayed in hospital 
overnight after giving birth. Two thirds of those 
(71%) told us that their partners were not given 
the option to stay with them overnight.  

 n  Over two thirds of survey respondents (69%) 
told us that during their antenatal check-ups, 
they were given the right amount of time to ask 
questions or discuss their pregnancy. 12% told us 
that they were not given enough time and 19% 
told us they were given more than enough time. 

 n  Just over half of survey respondents (54%) told 
us that they could have been better supported 
emotionally. 

Healthcare professionals  
 n Almost two thirds (65%) of healthcare 

professionals told us that there ‘definitely or very 
much so’ could be better joint working between 
Public Health Nurses (PHN) and a third (35%) of 
Midwives. told us that there could be a ‘slight or 
moderate’ improvement. 

 n  Over three quarters (80%) of healthcare 
professionals told us that there ‘definitely or 
very much so’ could be better information 
sharing between PHNs and Midwives. 20% told 
us that there could be a ‘slight or moderate’ 
improvement. 

 n  Nearly half (48%) of healthcare professionals told 
us that they have enough time with the client to 
inform them of the things they need to know.

“You learn to trust one person and form 
a professional relationship. I did not like 
having to explain my history to a new 
midwife every time I went. They do not 
understand your personal journey as well”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“Specific commissioning targets have 
squashed innovative practice which 
provided a bespoke targeted service 
to those in greatest need. We really 
need to look at services from the client 
perspective which I feel is being lost”
Public Health Nurse

“High caseload in relation to time at 
work. Particularly means clinics run late 
in order to ensure safe and effective 
care, particularly when a woman is 
encountering problems”
Midwife

“Midwives and health visitors need 
to have meetings to discuss clients...
and be using the same online system. 
There needs to be a formal handover 
from midwife to health visitor”
Midwife

98



7

Healthwatch Leicestershire

Insights and Emerging Themes
From the survey responses of mothers, mothers-to-be, midwives 
and public health nurses, the following themes were identified as 
common:

Results and reassurance  
From our focus group discussions 
and survey responses, mothers and 
mothers-to-be mentioned that there 
is an assumption that GPs needed to 
somehow confirm their pregnancy. 
As part of this conversation, half of mothers and 
mothers-to-be were not aware that they could go 
directly to a midwife once pregnant. Some mums 
told us that their GP practice had stated they 
needed to see the GP first. 

“My surgery reception said I needed to 
see GP”
Leicester City, 25-34

A listening ear  
From the responses received, it’s clear 
that mums value and appreciate the 
time they have with their healthcare 
professional. However, when looking 
more closely at the feedback, we have learnt 
that mums are all too aware of the limited 
time for each appointment, and so are self-
conscious about taking up more time to feel 
comfortable enough to ask further questions. 
Feeling unsure and unconfident, mums told us 
that any questions they may have, did not feel 
important in comparison to the key messages 
that healthcare professionals needed to convey. 
This contributed to feeling a lack of emotional 
support, especially for those that previously had 
issues with pregnancy, for example miscarriage 
or complications. 

“Appointments were rushed and I 
felt as though I was being rushed, so 
didn’t ask the questions I wanted to”.
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

 

Feeling abandoned 
Mums told us about the vulnerability 
they experienced in the immediate 
hours of giving birth. They expressed 
a feeling of abandonment, especially 
those mums who were not allowed 
to have their partners stay with them. Many 
mums wanted more guidance and support from 
hospital staff during the night, as this was when 
their energy was at its lowest and they were 
reflecting on their childbirth experience and 
future responsibilities. 

“My partner was not allowed to stay. 
This was very upsetting as we were 
unsure if our baby was going to 
survive”

North West Leicestershire, 25-34

Building a bond 
Mothers and mothers-to-be told 
us that the relationship between them and their 
midwife is important, allowing for advice, support 
and information to be shared by a trusted 
professional. It matters to them that the same 
midwife that visits them at home is the one they 
see throughout their pregnancy and that a strong 
relationship is established to provide comfort and 
reassurance to mums. 

“I had a different midwife throughout 
and had to keep going over the same 
things all the time”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

99



8

Executive Summary

Sharing of information
It was clear from their responses 
that many healthcare professionals 
thought there should be greater 
or more effective sharing of 
information. For example, this could be in the 
form of joint meetings between midwives and 
public health nurses. In addition, professionals 
discussed having a more effective relationship by 
using the same online systems and explored the 
possibility of a formal handover from midwife to 
public health nurse. 

Healthcare professionals reported that their time 
during meetings with mums is limited, which can 
restrict a fuller discussion. Imparting information 
to mums that may be useful, delivering 
contractual information, putting mums at ease, 
as well as building a relationship with them is 
reported to be difficult to achieve in the allocated 
time frame. 

“I would like regular phone 
communication/ secure email/ 1:1 
discussions/ meetings”
Public Health Nurse

“With the pregnancy of my 
1st child, I had appointments 
with 8 midwives over the 
course of the 40 weeks! 
Each time I had to explain 
my pregnancy (few 
complications). There wasn’t 
any consistency”
Anonymous

100



Substance Misuse: Swansell Report

9

Recommendations 
This report highlights experiences and insights into how mothers 

and mothers-to-be feel about services, and how healthcare 

professionals feel about internal workings. 

We have provided both strategic and practical recommendations as 

follows: 

In light of the local improvements and changes that are set to take 
place due to the National Maternity Review: Better Births - Five Year 
Forward View for NHS maternity services in England and the Care 
Quality Commission ‘Choosing Maternity Care’ initiative:

1.  We recommend that the findings of this report are used  to help 
inform future procurement and commissioning of services, as 
well as further public engagement when reviewing maternity 
services locally.  

2.  We recommend our Awareness Raising Campaign, similar to the 
‘Direct to Midwife’ initiative that promotes women’s choices and 
an avenue to get their pregnancy care started sooner directly 
with the midwife. 

Feedback from mothers has highlighted that their initial expectation 
of being allocated a named midwife is not aligned with the reality of 
seeing multiple people. 

3.  In order to manage expectations, we recommend that 
healthcare professionals are clear and transparent in informing 
mothers that they may see multiple midwives at various points 
throughout their pregnancy.   

Better integration of services is a key driver for local health systems, 
as well as using the knowledge of frontline staff to shape services. 

4.  We recommend improved joint working and sharing of 
information amongst healthcare professionals. 

5.  We recommend a demonstrable process that allows healthcare 
professionals to provide a formal response/have meaningful 
input into any consultation or new service changes. 

The emotional support provided to mothers is a key factor within 
this report and the feedback that mothers provided.  

6.  We recommend the exploration of new ways of working, 
including signposting or specific initiatives, to give mothers a 
better sense of emotional support, particularly in the first few 
days and weeks of giving birth.   

Healthwatch Leicestershire

101



Executive Summary

10

Positive experiences of services

“Fantastic, Leicester General Hospital was full, 
which meant the Leicester Royal Infirmary was 
extra stretched. Staff were having to come up 
from the wards to assist and deliver babies. 
Even so, the care was great and you would 
never have known they were so busy”
Blaby, 25-34 

“Excellent, my midwife was friendly, attentive 
and even stayed after her shift. The doctor put 
me at ease, using humour, and quickly got my 
daughter out. Water bath was great”
Charnwood, 25-34 

“Very good advice given, I had an excellent 
midwife who showed me how to breastfeed”
North West Leicestershire, 35-44

“Overall, I was very impressed with the level of 
care I received, from the community midwives 
to the team in Medical Assessment Unit and 
then on to the delivery suite. I would have no 
hesitation in recommending the Leicester Royal 
Infirmary if anyone asked my opinion and will 
hopefully get to deliver there again one day”
Blaby, 25-34 

“I had a student midwife and a qualified 
midwife with me at all times. Anything they 
did for example drips/cannula, were explained 
to me and why they were necessary. Couldn’t 
have asked for more, even when I had to be 
taken to deliver my little boy using forceps. All 
the doctors and nurses continued to explain 
everything to me”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34 

“Excellent care at Leicester Royal Infirmary, 
midwives supportive and listened to my wishes”
Harborough, 25-34 

“Excellent. I attended Leicester Royal Infirmary 
and everyone from start to finish was great. 
They explained my options very well when it 
was decided that we needed to go to theatre. 
The aftercare on recovery and in the ward, was 
friendly and supportive”
Leicester City, 25-34 

“Very good hospital care. Extremely well 
looked after and lucky enough to have a 
fantastic midwife who really cared and looked 
after me. Even offering a hug when much 
needed” 
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“Fantastic midwife at the hospital, she was 
caring, so supportive, explained things and 
reassured me and my partner. She had a 
‘human’ side, not just clinical. All staff from 
consultant to anesthetist were great although 
due to an emergency situation it was a scary 
time and the team were quick but I didn’t fully 
understand what was happening”
Hinckley & Bosworth, 35-44

“The whole experience was brilliant. Midwife 
was amazing and I felt so relaxed and 
comfortable there”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“I gave birth at the Leicester Royal and I cannot 
fault the staff. They were amazing during labour 
and the birth. Nothing was too much trouble; 
they were supportive and informative”
Harborough, 25-34

“Excellent staff, though they were short of staff, 
the exchange of midwifes was great and the 
level of care I was given was truly excellent”
Leicester City, 35-44 

The following are examples of feedback from respondents that reflect 
services user views.

102



1 Inform yourself, get as much information as possible, speak to new 
mothers and put plans in place to get the support you might need after you 
come home from hospital. Ask a lot of questions and call health services as 
often as you need to, to seek advice and information for your newborn.

2 Enjoy the birth as much as possible and know that it isn’t necessarily 
something of which to be scared. You can do it! Enjoy your time with baby. 
It goes by so quickly. No one knows your baby as well as you. If you want to 
stay in your PJs for the first few days and cuddle baby then do so; visitors 
can wait.

3 Don’t be disheartened if your birth plan isn’t followed through. Birth is 
unpredictable; don’t be too upset if yours doesn’t go as you planned. It’s 
fine to not have the dream birth. Be positive during labour and listen to 
your body as you would if you were ill or exercising too hard, and go with 
what it’s telling you. 

4 Do not feel pressured into breastfeeding your baby; it isn’t always easy. 
Being attentive, responsive and loving towards your baby is the most 
important thing. Breastfeeding is a tool to achieving this but there are many 
other ways to form a secure bond with your child. This is by no means a 
failure; it’s just the beginning. 

5 Allow yourself to rest whenever you can. Sleep when baby is asleep, accept 
any help given and don’t be afraid to ask for it if you need it. Don’t suffer 
in silence and don’t assume that you should know how to do it all. Don’t 
worry about the house, it’s ok for it not to be perfect. Don’t be too hard on 
yourself.

6 Don’t buy too many clothes beforehand. Wait until baby is born and then 
buy what you need when you know your child. 

7 Talk about how you’re feeling; it’s ok to admit if you’re struggling. Don’t 
compare yourself or your baby to others. 

8 Trust your motherly instincts when it comes to your baby. 

9 Sometimes, baby girls will bleed within the first few weeks as your 
hormones pass through their bodies - this is normal.

10 Go to some classes, groups or regular meetings. Having something in the 
diary makes it so much easier to get out of the house and helps to create a 
support network with other mums.

11

Healthwatch Leicestershire

Top tips for new mothers
We asked mothers to share their insights into preparing for motherhood 
and to tell us the things that maybe comforting for other new mums to hear, 
from people who have already been through it. Every baby is different and 
some mothers may take longer to adjust to parenthood than they originally 
expected. The following is a summary of what mothers told us. 

103



12

Introduction

“Very good advice 
given, I had an excellent 
midwife who showed 
me how to breastfeed” 
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

104



13

Healthwatch Leicestershire

In this report, we present our findings from the data and responses 
gathered from two separate surveys with mothers, mothers-to-be and 
healthcare professionals, mainly midwives and public health nurses.  

The report highlights the main themes that emerged from the analysis of the qualitative and 
quantitative responses and presents this information by target group. 

Introduction

Our approach
Focus group  
In July 2017, we delivered a focus group 
and met with a number of new mothers, 
second-time mothers and those that 
were expecting a child in the coming 
months. We asked the group what 
mattered most to them concerning 
their health and social care during 
pregnancy, and the subsequent couple 
of years. 
The intention of the focus group was to identify 
some of the key issues that people experience 
when going through the journey of pregnancy 
and how they feel about their experiences. This 
provided us with some trigger points and gave 
us a better idea as to what questions we wanted 
to ask during the main part of our engagement. 

From the feedback gathered, we decided to 
have a wide focus and ask people about their: 

 n  Antenatal experiences 

 n  Birth experiences 

 n  Neonatal experiences 

Survey design
In designing the survey, we wanted 
to provide respondents with the 
opportunity to share their general 
experiences and to discuss their 
aspirations for current and future 
services. We decided to use Survey 
Monkey as a tool to capture responses. 
We recognise that staff are well placed to 
identify areas that could be improved and 
provided them with the opportunity to share 
their insights. A short questionnaire was 
circulated mainly to midwives and public health 
nurses, in order to gather feedback. 

In developing our questions for mothers, we 
were able to gather insights and expertise from 
colleagues at University Hospitals of Leicester 
(UHL) NHS Trust and Leicestershire Partnership 
NHS Trust (LPT), who were able to temperature-
check our questions to gather feedback from 
mothers and mothers-to-be.

Our survey questions were also framed against 
the Families, Young People and Children’s 
Services Standard Operating Guidance for 
Health Visiting Teams delivering the Healthy 
Child Programme2. The Healthy Child 
Programme is the guidance which underpins 
the work undertaken by health visitors as part of 
an integrated approach to supporting children 
and families. 

2 Families, Young People and Children’s Services Standard 
Operating Guidance for Health Visiting Teams   http://alturl.
com/uzyxf

105



14

Introduction

Who we heard from

5%
Currently 

pregnant with 
first child

11%
Pregnant and 
already have 
another child

84%
Not pregnant, 
have another 

child under age 3

Mothers and mothers-to-be 

30% 
Midwives

59%
Public Health 

Nurses

11%
Other

Healthcare professionals

We heard from staff members as follows; 

96% 
Female

2%
Male

2% stated they prefer not to say

Age

18-24 5%

25-34 62%

35-44 33%

45-54 0%

% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

10%

0%

5%

42%
0%

8%
14%

10%

5% Harborough

Rutland

Melton

Charnwood

Hinckley & 
Bosworth

NW 
Leicestershire

Oadby & 
Wigston

Blaby

Leicester

Out of 
Area

6%

Area

Age

18-24 8%

25-34 19%

35-44 23%

45-54 41%

55-64 9%

% 10 20 30 40 50

13%

0%

5%

42%
0%

8%
20%

10%

6% Harborough

Rutland

Melton

Charnwood

Hinckley & 
Bosworth

NW 
Leicestershire

Oadby & 
Wigston

Blaby

Leicester

Out of 
Area

6%

Area

106



Healthwatch LeicestershireHealthwatch Leicestershire

“I was very fortunate to have the same 
midwife throughout my pregnancy 
and fortunately she was on shift as a 
community midwife, helping at the 
hospital, so she delivered my baby, I also 
saw her postnatally; it was an amazing 
experience, every woman deserves 
continuity of care”

Hinckley and Bosworth, 25-34

107



16

Main Findings

45 YES

12 NO

Main Findings 
from mothers and mothers-to-be
Gathering experiences of mothers and mothers-to-be has
enabled us to gain insight in to their journey through 
pregnancy and maternity. From the data collected, we 
have highlighted the key messages that have emerged. 

Antenatal Care
Through our questions, we provided an opportunity for 
mothers-to-be and mothers to share experiences and suggest 
improvements. The following is what emerged from their 
experiences.

Were you aware that you could book a midwife appointment 
directly without seeing a GP or a Nurse?

We asked mothers and mothers-to-be if they were aware that they could book 
a midwife appointment directly without seeing a GP or a Nurse. Half of the 
respondents (51%) said that they were not aware you could go directly to the 
midwife. The other 49% told us that they were aware. 
In 2012, an NHS campaign, called ‘Direct to Midwife’, was designed to 
encourage mums-to-be to contact their midwife as a first point of contact 
to access advice and antenatal care more quickly, to help ensure a healthy 
pregnancy.

“I rang my local doctor’s surgery and asked them what the process 
was. They asked me to fill in some forms and booked me straight in 
with the surgery’s midwife at the relevant check dates” 
Anonymous 

“I was told at the doctor’s surgery that I needed to fill out a form and 
that the midwife would be in touch. I didn’t know until this point that 
a form was available”
Blaby, 35-43 years

“In my first pregnancy, with one GP I was allowed to do this, second 
pregnancy, different GP I was told I had to meet with a GP first to 
confirm the pregnancy before meeting with a midwife”
Charnwood, 25-29 years 

108



17

Antenatal Care

During your antenatal check-ups, were you given enough time to ask questions 
or discuss your pregnancy?

Two thirds of respondents (70%) told us that they had the right amount of time in their 
antenatal checkups to ask questions and discuss their pregnancy. 18% said they had more than 
enough time and 12% said they did not have enough time.  

Although the majority of respondents said that they had the right amount of time, many of the 
comments reflected that they felt rushed during the checkups or that they went overtime in 
order to have fuller discussions. 

“I felt that the midwives seem to be overstretched, although it depended on which 
midwife I saw as to whether they were helpful or not”
Blaby, 35-44 years 

“My midwife was very nice; though she was allowed to give 10 minute appointments, I 
always had a lot to ask therefore she used to book 20 minute appointments”
Blaby, 35-44 years

109



18

Main Findings

Do you feel that you were seen by the 
midwife often enough?

It was encouraging to hear that the 
overwhelming majority of mums and mothers-
to-be (75%) said that they were seen regularly 
enough by a midwife throughout their 
pregnancy. However, there were 25% that felt 
they should have been seen more frequently. 
Some of their comments are below. 

“No not for the second pregnancy which I 
am still going through, I feel a lot different the 
second time around but sometimes wonder 
if there are any underlying issues as to why I 
feel so tired, but feel this may not get picked 
up because of seeing the midwife less” 
Blaby, 35-44 years

 

“Due to a maternity cover gap, and then 
a long-term sickness issue with the cover 
midwife, I saw a different midwife at each 
of my appointments, which prevented any 
real continuity to my consultations”
Blaby, 25-34 years

“Due to history of miscarriage, would 
have welcomed more appointments for 
reassurance which would have helped to 
reduced anxiety through the pregnancy”
Charnwood, 25-34 years

Was the printed information given to 
you during your pregnancy useful?

The majority (81%) of mothers and mothers-to-
be found the printed information that is given to 
them during their pregnancy useful. 19% did not 
find it useful. 

“A very good range of information leaflets 
were provided”
Leicester City, 35-44

 “I felt it was excessive, lots of leaflets and 
pieces of information. There was one 
booklet called ‘Maternity Services Guide’ 
which was quite handy, would have been 
better if everything could have been 
encompassed all in that one space”
Charnwood, 25-34

 

“Midwife mentioned leaflets which she 
couldn’t give due to a supply issue, but 
informed everything online”
Charnwood, 25-34

 

“Not all of it and generally the useful stuff 
gets lost in a sea of unnecessary flyers and 
leaflets”
North West Leicestershire, 35-44

Is it important for you to be supported 
by the same midwife throughout your 
pregnancy?

% 1 2 18 43 36

 Not at all 1%
 Slightly important 2%
 Moderately important 18%
 Very important 43%
 Extremely important 36%

110



19

Antenatal Care

 “Obviously understand that this may not 
be the case. I alternated between two, which 
was equally fine”
Charnwood, 25-34

“I don’t mind as long as they have time to see 
you and you don’t feel like you have been 
rushed through your appointment”
Blaby, 35-44

“I was lucky that I saw two midwives 
throughout the pregnancy and after the 
birth, both got in touch to follow up, but was 
great to express concerns and for them to 
remember on the next visit”
 Oadby and Wigston, 25-34

“As I saw the same midwife, it allowed me to 
build a personal relationship and feel cared 
about rather than just another number”
Anonymous 

“There were a lot of complications, so it 
was nice to see someone who knew my 
situation”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“During pregnancy, changed midwife 
halfway but didn’t mind”
Hinckley and Bosworth, 25-34

“My dad passed away at the end of my 
pregnancy and it was nice to speak to the 
midwife that I had met the most although 
I didn’t see them at every antenatal 
appointment”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34 

“This continuity of care is really important; 
when my midwife was on leave, I saw 
someone else and felt like I had to go over 
the whole pregnancy again”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34 

“It’s always great to have consistency, 
however all have the same skills/
expertise, therefore I felt that to have a 
variety is great too because you get more 
advice from everyone”
Leicester City, 35-44

Mothers responded passionately, with over three-quarters (79%) of respondents stating that having 
the same midwife is very or extremely important. Respondents spoke about building a bond with the 
midwife and having fluidity with appointments, as well as the difficulty of being able to open up to or feel 
comfortable with a new person. Many respondents expressed that the continuity of personnel during 
such a personal and emotional time would benefit them. 

However, there were respondents who either did not mind the change of personnel or told us they were 
fortunate enough to have the same midwife throughout their care. 

Those who told us they had a good experience

111



20

Main Findings

“I did not have the same midwife which 
caused issues at the end of my pregnancy”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“Didn’t meet my named midwife until I was 
over 6 months pregnant”
Oadby and Wigston, 35-44

“I have seen a different midwife at every 
appointment”
Anonymous 

“Unfortunately, this didn’t happen”
Blaby, 25-34

“Occasionally seeing someone different is 
acceptable. The most often I saw the same 
midwife before giving birth was twice; 
there wasn’t much consistency from the 
community midwife team”
Anonymous 

“Had this with my first and it makes you feel 
more confident, but with this pregnancy I 
don’t have a named midwife, as no one will 
come to surgery permanently”
North West Leicestershire, 35-44

“I was not and it did affect me a little - the 
changes were unsettling, not knowing who 
I would see upon each of my appointments. 
It also made me less likely to talk about any 
issues or concerns, as I had not built up trust 
in the constantly changing midwife”
Anonymous 

“I saw a number of different midwives, which, 
in one case, led to a misunderstanding”
Anonymous 

“It’s easier to talk about pregnancy side-
effects with a midwife you know rather 
than a stranger”
Anonymous

“Yes, but if your midwife doesn’t support 
you, it’s important to be able to request a 
change. If I had kept my first midwife, I feel 
I wouldn’t have felt able to have confidence 
in my own decisions”
Harborough, 25-34

“I had different midwifes during my first 
pregnancy, which led to complications, as 
through the last trimester, I had only seen a 
student midwife”
Harborough, 25-34

“I feel it is so important to ensure continuity 
of care. Unfortunately, this was not the case 
for me and I had numerous midwives and 
so had to start again at each appointment”
Anonymous 

“I had different midwives throughout my 
pregnancy; it would have been nice to have 
the same midwife, as you do get different 
views from different people”
Leicester City, 35-44

“I was disappointed that the midwife sent 
home was different, as I had built up a 
relationship with my GP-based midwife 
and would have preferred her to have seen 
me through the journey”
Leicester City, 35-44

Those who told us their experience could have been improved

112



21

Antenatal Care

Would you like your maternity notes to 
be shared between your Midwife, Public 
Health Nurses and GP? 
An overwhelming 90% of mothers and mothers-
to-be welcomed the sharing of information 
surrounding their pregnancy and their child’s 
care amongst midwives, public health nurses and 
GP’s. We found that there is a partial expectation 
that this is already happening, or that it would 
be beneficial for, at least, their GP to be kept 
informed by midwives and public health nurses. 

“Yes, that would be most helpful, and to have 
a main electronic system rather than paper 
notes which is very antiquated”
Blaby, 35-44

 “Is there a reason they are not shared? 
Wouldn’t it help for care to be more 
streamlined, if they are shared?” 
Hinckley & Bosworth, 35-44

“I assumed they were. Considering I had a 
difficult birth, I had hoped that they were all 
aware of what we had experienced without 
explaining it to each practitioner so that the  
best advice could be given for next time...”
Blaby, 25-34

“It would help to reduce the number of 
questions asked and to make public health 
nurses aware of any previous issues”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“They all have a role in mine and the baby’s 
health, so I see no issue”
North West Leicestershire, 35-44

“It would save repeating the same 
information to each professional. Wasting our 
appointment time recapping”
 Anonymous 

“Yes and no. I would like my GP and midwife 
to have shared to information... However, I 
don’t feel it’s necessary for health visitors”
Anonymous

Were you ever signposted/ directed 
to any additional services or support 
services?
As a patient champion that offers a sign posting 
service, we understand that it can be crucial for 
patients/clients to be advised of services at the 
right time. We asked respondents if they had 
been signposted or directed to other services, 
including support services and 42% said that they 
had. This does, however, mean that over half of 
mothers-to-be or mothers were not advised of 
a service that would benefit them. Some of the 
services that were suggested are as follows. 

 n  Extra growth scans 
 n  Breastfeeding 
 n  Consultant for colitis 
 n  Mental health services 
 n  Sure-Start support worker 
 n  GP 
 n  Birth reflections, Health & Wellbeing clinic 
 n  Antenatal class and support/baby groups
 n  Sure Start 
 n  Bereavement midwife 
 n  Physio 

Alongside your pregnancy, did 
you suffer from any health-related 
conditions?
A third of respondents (31%) told us that 
they suffered from health-related conditions 
whilst pregnant. From these, nine conditions 
emerged through the feedback we received, 
after removing the duplications. We used NHS 
Choices3  to help provide a brief description of the 
conditions and would suggest this website as one 
option for anyone that wanted more information 
on the following conditions. 

Preeclampsia – Pre-eclampsia is a condition that 
affects some pregnant women, usually during 
the second half of pregnancy (from around 20 
weeks), or soon after their baby is delivered. 
Early signs of pre-eclampsia include high blood 
pressure (hypertension) and protein in your urine 
(proteinuria). It’s unlikely that you’ll notice these 
signs, but they should be picked up during your 
routine antenatal appointments.

3 NHS Choices http://www.nhs.uk/pages/home.aspx

113



22

Main Findings

Hyperemesis Gravidarum – is a pregnancy 
complication, characterised by severe nausea, 
vomiting, weight loss, low blood pressure and possibly 
dehydration. It is much worse than the normal nausea 
and vomiting of pregnancy (“morning sickness”). 

Hypertension - is the medical term for high blood 
pressure. Both terms mean the same thing. High 
blood pressure, or hypertension, rarely has noticeable 
symptoms. But if left untreated, it increases your risk 
of more serious problems such as heart attacks and 
strokes.

HELLP syndrome - HELLP syndrome is a rare liver 
and blood clotting disorder that can affect pregnant 
women. It’s most likely to occur immediately after 
the baby is delivered, but can appear any time after 
20 weeks of pregnancy and, in rare cases, before 20 
weeks.

Irritable bowel syndrome - (IBS) is a common, long-
term condition of the digestive system. It can cause 
bouts of stomach cramps, bloating, diarrhoea and/or 
constipation.
There were reports of those who suffered with 
extreme IBS before, during and after pregnancy.

Obstetric Cholestasis - Obstetric cholestasis is a 
disorder that affects your liver during pregnancy. This 
causes a build-up of bile acids in your body. The main 
symptom is itching of the skin but there is no skin rash. 
The symptoms get better when the baby is born.

Carpal tunnel - Carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) is a 
common condition that causes a tingling sensation, 
numbness, and, sometimes, pain in the hand and 
fingers. These sensations usually develop gradually 
and start off being worse during the night. They tend 
to affect the thumb, index finger and middle finger.

Anaemia - Iron deficiency anaemia is a condition in 
which a lack of iron in the body leads to a reduction in 
the number of red blood cells.

Symphysis pubis dysfunction - Some women 
develop pelvic pain in pregnancy. This is sometimes 
called pregnancy-related pelvic girdle pain (PPGP) 
or symphysis pubis dysfunction (SPD). PPGP is a 
collection of uncomfortable symptoms caused by a 
stiffness of your pelvic joints or the uneven movement 
of joints at either the back or front of your pelvis. PPGP 
is not harmful to your baby, but it can cause severe 
pain around your pelvic area and make it difficult for 
you to get around. 

Do you feel that you were given enough 
support to manage your health-related 
condition?
As mentioned previously, a third of respondents 
(31%) told us that they suffered from health-related 
conditions whilst pregnant. We then asked these 
respondents if they felt they were given enough 
support to manage their health-related condition. We 
received a variety of comments about the support 
they received, which can be found below. 

“I wasn’t even advised that I had preeclampsia 
until my birth reflections appointment”
Anonymous 

“I was referred to the General for my 
preeclampsia, where I received excellent care”
Harborough, 35-44

“I didn’t feel that enough information was given 
on my condition (Obstetric Cholestasis) to 
make educated choices about the birth. I was 
told I would have to be induced and not given 
any stats, if I did or did not want to undergo this 
procedure”
Anonymous

“I was well supported by the hospital for my 
condition (Hyperemesis Gravidarum) but my 
GP questioned the repeat prescription and 
wanted me to make further appointments. I 
was also only prescribed one week’s worth of 
medication at a time”
Anonymous

“I was referred to Physio for Symphysis Pubis 
Dysfunction but the practitioner said she 
wasn’t an expert, but if she had referred me to a 
specialist the wait would have been so long and 
I wouldn’t have been seen until after the birth”
Harborough, 25-34

“Staff in the antenatal diabetic clinic were 
brilliant. Very supportive”
Blaby, 35-44

114



Birth Care
When your waters broke, how 
confident were you that you knew 
what it was?

We asked mothers and mothers-to-be 
to tell us how confident they felt when 
their waters broke, and if they knew 
what it was. 

Over half of the mothers that we heard from 
told us that their waters did not break naturally 
before labour (55%). A third of mother told us 
that they were very confident or extremely 
confident that they knew what it was.

Was your birth plan followed?

  29%  YES

 33%  NO

38% stated they didn’t have a birth plan

Over a third of respondents said that they did 
not have a birth plan. A further third stated that 
their plan was not followed. However, many of 
the comments we received stated they were 
due to unavoidable complications. 

23

Healthwatch Leicestershire

23

Birth Care

% 3 2 8 11 21 55

 Not at all 3%
 Slightly confident 2%
 Moderately confident 8%
 Very confident 11%
 Extremely confident 21%
 My waters did not break 55%

115



24

Main Findings

Comments where birth plan was not 
followed 

“Wanted to have elective C-section but 
talked into natural labour when arrived at 
hospital”
North West Leicestershire, 35-44

“Unfortunately, my little boy went to the 
toilet inside of me, so I couldn’t go to Melton 
Mowbray birthing centre and had to go to 
the Leicester Royal Infirmary”
Blaby, 35-44

“I had written things down but I don’t 
remember anyone actually reading it”
Hinckley and Bosworth, 25-34

“I was advised to come to the hospital as 
soon as labour started (due to a previous 
emergency C-section) although I probably 
left this late and I hadn’t appreciated I was 
fully in labour. This was probably because I 
wanted to be at home for as long as possible 
as the first time I did not find the midwife as 
supportive; she seemed busy and thought 
I had come in too early. This time I was left 
alone a lot of the time, she was also younger 
(I don’t want to discriminate but it seemed 
she lacked confidence and experience)”
Hinckley and Bosworth, 35-44

“I wrote my own but no one asked to see it”
Harborough, 35-44

“I’m so devastated my request for delayed 
cord clamping was not followed and that 
my baby was given antibiotics without my 
consent”
Hinckley and Bosworth, 35-44

“Health professionals at the hospital did not 
ask about my birthing plan”
Anonymous

Unavoidable

“No, but due to change in circumstances, 
ended up high risk when admitted so 
unavoidable really”
Blaby, 25-34

“Only because there wasn’t enough time 
and I had done the entire labour at home”
Charnwood, 25-34

“But it had been read and wasn’t followed 
due to complications”
 Leicester City, 25-34

“Only due to the nature of the birth”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“Had to be amended due to complications”
North West Leicestershire, 35-44

“Unfortunately, not due to complications”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“It didn’t even come out of my bag”
North West Leicestershire, 35-44

“Waters broke 5 weeks early”
North West Leicestershire, 35-44

“As I hadn’t planned on being induced”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“Had to be induced due to being overdue 
- but I knew my birth plan wouldn’t be 
set in stone anyway. I was given all the 
options throughout my labour and most 
importantly my baby was born safely”
Out of Area, 35-44

“Only asked about cutting cord and skin-to-
skin after delivery”
Blaby, 25-34

116



Birth Care

No birth plans

“I wasn’t asked to complete one”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“No, as I had to be induced which 
changed the plan”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

Comments where birth plan was 
followed 

 “Yes, in the main, although my midwife 
did not seem as knowledgeable on hypno-
birthing as during my last labour”
Anonymous 

“As much as possible”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“I chose to have a home water birth and my 
midwife was very supportive”
Blaby, 35-44

Case Study
Hazel’s story

Hazel has 2 children and lives in the Harborough 
area of Leicestershire. Hazel was a high-risk 
pregnancy but did not feel she had enough 
appointments with the midwife.  

“I gave birth at the Leicester Royal Infirmary and I 
cannot fault the staff, they were amazing during my 
labour and the birth. Nothing was too much trouble, 
they were supportive and informative. 

“I had a couple of stays in hospital before my baby 
was born… I felt comfortable and in safe hands. I felt 
much better staying a night in hospital; the staff in the 
night were really good when I worried about feeding 
my newborn and changing her. However, it feels like 
you are just sent home, with a newborn, and just have 
to get on with it. For a first-time mother, it feels VERY 
daunting. 

“I suffered with postnatal depression but not until 
4/5 months after giving birth. I thought it was an 
immediate thing that came on; I had no idea it could be 
weeks or months later. 

“After the first few months, I felt the health visitor 
service was somewhat lacking in my area. They are 
impossible to get hold of; they didn’t make time for 
me. I have had my daughter’s 2-year check messed up 
twice: once they sent me to the wrong place, second 
appointment cancelled with no reason and now I’m 
waiting for a third. If I have a problem, the first call I 
make is to my GP as I feel more supported there”.

25

117



26

Main Findings

If there were any complications during 
the birth, was everything explained in a 
timely manner?

Almost two thirds of mothers and mothers-to-
be told us that they had complications and, in 
many cases, they were totally happy with the way 
issues were communicated. Even when they were 
informed after the fact, mothers understood that 
timing was critical. 

  58%  YES

 13%  NO

29% stated there were no complications

“My little boy’s heart rate went up and the 
midwife did say that she was going to press 
a button and a lot of doctors would come in”
Blaby, 35-44 

“Was explained that I would have 
emergency C-section the next morning but 
was left all day with no updates and finally 
had the operation about 5pm after being nil-
by-mouth for nearly 24 hours”
Leicester City, 35-44

“Skin-to-skin wasn’t even offered; they just 
took baby away straight away, even though 
he was perfectly fine according to checks. 
One of my biggest regrets was that whole 
hour my newborn son spent on his own, as 
I was finishing up in theatre. There were no 
complications, so I really feel as if he should 
have been kept with me”
Oadby and Wigston, 18-24

“There were complications with my first, 
however there wasn’t much time to explain 
things. It was something that had to be 
done. I was in-and-out of consciousness. 

Things were explained to my birth 
partners”
Anonymous

“Had to have an emergency C-section due 
to not dilating past 4 cm. Everything was 
explained, including warnings of potential 
outcomes. I was constantly updated on 
next steps and time scales (e.g. If I hadn’t 
dilated any further in 2 hours they’d discuss 
C-section)”
Anonymous 

“Minor issues were explained, for 
example, heart traces. I don’t recall other 
complications other than immediately after 
the birth, which was explained as we had a 
student midwife extra in the room” 
Charnwood, 25-34

“Epidural went wrong twice and after first 
one, I knew it had not worked but had to 
wait too long until they tried to give me 
the second, by which time I was too far 
gone and needed spinal injections instead. 
Understandable afterwards, but at the time 
I just wanted the pain to ease”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“Yes, everything was thoroughly explained”
Charnwood, 25-34

“There were disagreements between 
midwives and consultants, which were 
played out in front of me, with little 
explanation offered” 
Charnwood, 35-44

“No time to explain, but was reassured as 
we went along”
Blaby, 25-34

“The baby’s cord was wrapped around its 
neck, which was only apparent when I was 
close to delivery and pushing. I arrived at 

118



hospital just in time as the contractions 
became shorter very quickly. I was rushed 
to emergency section (code red) and it 
was all very frantic and scary. At that time, 
I didn’t understand what was happening 
or what this meant, but was told to get on 
the bed and if the epidural didn’t work first 
time I would be put to sleep. I appreciate 
that there was no time for explanation 
and the team seemed to be working hard 
and quickly to help me and my baby and 
although the consultant apologised the 
next day for the way it had happened, I still 
didn’t have much of an analysis. I didn’t ask; 
I was relieved to have baby okay”
Hinckley and Bosworth, 35-44

Did you stay in hospital over night after 
giving birth?

  86% YES

 14%  NO

Was your partner given the option to 
stay with you?

  29% YES

 71%  NO

A third of mothers (71%) told us that their partners 
were not allowed to stay overnight. Many of the 
comments we received emphasised that mothers 
would have found it helpful if their partners could 
have stayed. Mothers reported that, in some 
cases, it was a little daunting and they felt a sense 
of abandonment being left on their own in a 
room with a newborn. For some mothers, they 
had just experienced a traumatic event and then, 
shortly afterwards, told that they would need to 
be without their primary person of support.  

“I believe UK hospitals should be able to 
have Dads stay as long as they like; it is their 
baby as much as the woman’s and would 
also give the mam slight more chance to rest”
Charnwood, 35-44

“I had an extremely traumatic birth and was 
unable to feed or change my baby. Having 
my partner there would have been a great 
support, as I had to wait for midwives to 
help me and there wasn’t always enough 
people on duty”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“Probably the worst part of the experience. 
I gave birth in the evening and was on the 
ward by around 9/10 and so the three of us 
only had an hour or two before my partner 
had to go home, which I found distressing”
Charnwood, 25-34

Overnight experiences

When we asked mothers about their overnight 
experiences, they tended to report them as 
either very good or very bad. We heard about 
the great service that midwives and nurses 
provided, supporting mothers and relieving the 
pressure of having a newborn. However, this 
was counteracted by the experiences of anxiety 
and inconsistency in the care shown by staff. 
Many mothers felt they were not given enough 
guidance as to how to care for their newborn on 
the ward. 

“One of my twins would not sleep in the 
crib and wanted to sleep with me... very 
common with newborns. Unfortunately, 
the midwives were completely against 
co-sleeping and would remove baby from 
me as soon as they noticed us asleep. This 
would wake baby up within 10 seconds and 
the cycle would restart. No support on how 
to get baby to sleep in the crib, so no sleep at 
all in 3 nights! This all seemed ridiculous”

North West Leicestershire, 35-44

Birth Care

119



28

“Nurses were good as they took my little boy 
for a couple of hours in the night so I could get 
some sleep. Helped me change nappies after I 
had fed him, as I had stitches and could barely 
move”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“Midwives responded promptly to requests. 
One took my daughter for an hour to give me 
time to rest”
 Charnwood, 25-34

“Was moved to the ward at around 4am, so 
my husband had to leave then. Was put with 
three other women, none of whom had given 
birth yet but were all in for complications. 
This was undesirable because I was very 
conscious of my crying baby and the other 
women were all in for illnesses. I was not told 
until around 2pm the next day that I would 
be staying a whole night and I was extremely 
upset about that. I was never told why I had 
to stay a further night, but I understand from 
friends and family that it may have been due 
to my baby’s reluctance to feed. It would have 
been very good to have had this explained 
to me. I was moved into a private room for 
the second night however, which was better. 
Midwives were on hand when I needed them, 
which was very good considering how busy 
they were”
Charnwood, 25-34

“It was okay; staff were very kind. Discharge, 
however, was a nightmare and very time-
consuming, waiting on doctors, which made 
it quite a negative experience. Because of my 
history with mental health they wanted to let 
my consultant and CPN know I had delivered 
before I left the hospital, but they only 
decided this on the Friday when I was due to 
leave. Obviously my consultant and CPN had 
left work for the weekend and an emergency 
nurse from the crisis team had to be sent out 
to evaluate my release, a very emotional, 
stressful and, in my honest opinion, needless 
event. If anything, it triggered my anxiety 
and made me felt trapped. I was then asked, 
after having given birth, to explain my 

entire history of mental health to a stranger 
to reassure them that I was fit to leave the 
hospital with my son. I felt judged and 
penalised to say the least”
Oadby & Wigston, 18-24

“I found it quite difficult as there were only 3 
midwives on overnight, so it took a while for 
anyone to respond to calls. I also struggled 
with breastfeeding initially and would have 
liked some support/guidance”
Harborough, 35-44

“Not overly helpful staff. Felt a bit unsure. 
Didn’t feel comfortable asking for help. Sort of 
left to figure it out on my own. The postnatal 
care was lacking compared to the care I 
received before baby was born”
Unknown

“Stayed over with my first child (she is 3). 
Husband wasn’t given the option of staying. 
Everyone was friendly and approachable. 
Discharge process took a long time, could 
have happily left early morning but was not 
discharged until 3-4pm as waiting for advice/
leaflets & doctor review (perhaps could have 
been provided by community care)”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“I had a really good experience of being 
supported by the staff throughout the night, 
my baby had jaundice and wasn’t feeding 
so they really kept a close eye on me and 
provided me with any support I needed”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

“I had a lot of support from the midwives on 
the ward, helping me to feed and change my 
son after my section”
Harborough, 25-34

The care provided by health care 
professionals during my labour was very 
good, but midwives swapped shifts, which 
was unsettling. I was sent home straight 
away but it was my second child and I chose 
to go home. The call from the midwife at 
home the next morning was reassuring”
Harborough, 35-44 years of age

Main Findings

Overnight experiences continued...

120



29

Birth Care

Case Study
Janes Story
I was monitored fully and put at high risk due 
to failings in my first pregnancy in 2013, where 
my first child only weighed 4lb and nearly 
died. Investigations were held and to this day 
I will never know what was missed and why 
my first child was so small and poorly. 3 years 
later, I was pregnant with my second child and 
suffering from postnatal depression. 

With my first child, I wasn’t really prompted to 
complete my red book, but with the second I 
didn’t think to, as there are other ways parents 
record milestones (in memory books and 
photos etc.)

My child needed to go to the Neonatal unit, but 
this was only for 5 hours and the experience 
was very good. I felt that my baby was well 
looked after, although I did not see this for 
myself as I was in recovery, my husband did.  

The ward itself after birth was great and lots 
of help was given. I work in healthcare myself, 
so I understand the demands on staff and 

understand that some patients may have been 
frustrated by long waits. The staff try their best 
and I felt that I was supported when I needed 
it, especially in feeding. However, the care I 
received before birth in the assessment units 
with both babies was awful, and I nearly lost my 
first child due to lack of proper monitoring and 
key problems in urine samples and babies heart 
beat traces being missed. This was discovered 
in an investigation after my first baby and whilst 
pregnant with my second. This investigation was 
only held because I had a nervous breakdown 
during my second pregnancy, fearing the same 
would happen again. I was given a chance to meet 
with a professional at Leicester General, who 
looked through my notes and said “they were 
sorry for missing things”. Things should not be 
missed.

I was very happy with the help and advice from 
health professionals regarding my baby’s health 
and progress, during the six weeks after birth.

Charnwood 25-34 years of age

121



30

Main Findings

  40% YES

Better options for overnight stays

“Let spouses stay after birth of baby”
Leicester City, 25-34 

More staffing to increase time spent 
with new mums

“More staff, they have more time and are 
more reassuring. I felt I was left a lot and 
they didn’t have time to see me during my 
first labour”
Harborough, 35-44

Improved waiting times 

“Improve waiting times, modernise the 
waiting rooms and hospital wards, ensure 
everyone is kept updated on decisions 
made”
Leicester City, 35-44 

Keeping patients better informed of 
changes

“Communication. I got told where my 
antenatal classes were and booked them. 
They said “Any problems, we will contact 
you.” We turn up on the day and it’s a 
building site. No one had told us it had 
changed venues and luckily, we drove and 
used our brains and found out where they 
were. We were late and we have never had a 
baby before so didn’t want to miss them”
North West Leicestershire, 35-44

Increased emotional support

“A little more emotional support, as I 
miscarried in my first pregnancy”
Leicester City, 25-34 

Continuity of care 

“Same midwife throughout pregnancy. 
Option for extra appointments if needed or 
if I have a concern”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34  

Improving empathy for mums who feel 
anxious

“The attitude of the consultants at the 
hospital could have been better. My baby 
measured as really large on a growth 
scan at 38 weeks which made me feel 
very anxious - the consultants were very 
dismissive of my concern”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

Is there anything else that you think could be done differently to improve the 
experience during pregnancy?

 60%  NO

122



Neonatal Care
Were you given advice on what to expect in 
the first few weeks after the birth, including 
parental advice and contact information in 
case you had any concerns?

  82%  YES

“Yes and no. You’re told some things to expect 
but not others. There were a few things that 
happened in the first few days which when I then 
asked about them was told were completely 
normal. Had I been told in advance to expect 
those things it might have saved some concern 
and worry and trips to the doctors”
Charnwood, 25-34 

It is encouraging to see that over half (57%) of mothers 
were very happy or extremely happy with the help 
and advice from health professionals during the first 
six weeks after birth. A third of mothers (31%) were 
moderately happy and 12% were slightly or not-at-all 
happy with their help and advice. 

“I was seen a lot at home which made me feel well 
looked after as I didn’t have to worry about my or 
my little boy’s health”
Blaby, 35-44

“The community midwives and midwives at 
the hospital who were available to ring within 
the first 6 weeks were a blessing. I rang them 
three or four times and they were so helpful and 
reassuring. Can’t fault that service at all”
Charnwood, 25-34

“It was better with my first baby born in 2010 as 
there was more support”
Harborough, 25-34

31

Neonatal Care

% 4 8 31 39 18

 Not at all happy 4%
 Slightly happy 8%
 Moderately happy 31%
 Very happy 39%
 Extremely happy 18%

  18%  NO

123



32

Main Findings

Were you given enough information 
about your own emotional needs 
after the birth? For example, postnatal 
depression.

 74%YES       26% NO

“I think it should be talked about a lot more”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

 “Although I know the professionals were 
looking for signs of postnatal depression, 
I did have days of feeling ‘low’, not 
necessarily formally PND, but I think 
perhaps some resources would have been 
useful”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34

Did you breast feed your child?

 59%YES       41% NO

Were you told about breast feeding cafes 
and peer support? 

  71%YES        29% NO

Were you given enough support with 
breast feeding in the early stages?

“I had a lot of trouble feeding, a feeding 
expert came to see me a couple of times in 
the early days, and the midwives were very 
encouraging to keep trying. After day 4, my 
daughter got the hang of it”
Charnwood, 25-34

% 9 18 26 27 20

 Not at all 9%
 Slightly 18%
 Moderately  26%
 Very 27%
 Extremely 20%

“Although I felt supported, it was 
overlooked that my baby was not getting 
the amount he needed for a large baby. He, 
therefore, began losing weight dramatically 
due to a tongue tie that made breastfeeding 
very difficult for him. This was missed 
through every support session I had”
Blaby, 25-34

“Plenty of support on the physical side. Not 
enough info/support on the emotional side - 
new mums are told it’s the best way to bond 
with your baby, so when that wasn’t the 
case for me and I felt isolated, I didn’t feel 
able to voice it as I thought I was abnormal 
for feeling that way. I breastfed exclusively 
for 2 weeks, then combined expressed and 
formula for 2 more weeks, then switched 
fully to formula. Best decision I made”
Unknown

“Throughout my stay, I had support from 
some fantastic staff on the neonatal ward”
North West Leicestershire, 25-34 

If you have had more than one child, 
were the services you received 
consistent each time?

  21%YES        22% NO

59% Have not had a second child

“I’m with a different GP, with a different 
set of midwives, this time so there have 
definitely been changes in that respect. 
It’s been much more consistent with this 
GP. You’re seen much less the second-time 
round, which I find odd. They always tell 
you every pregnancy is different, but the 
assumption is always made that one low-
risk pregnancy means a second low-risk 
pregnancy”
 Charnwood, 25-34

124



33

Neonatal Care

Were you given any advice or 
information on your child’s oral health?

  54%YES      46% NO

“Nobody has ever mentioned to me a 
suitable age to start taking my child to the 
dentist, or discussed oral hygiene. Friends 
in the dental field have told me that you 
can start taking them as soon as their first 
teeth come through, but I don’t really know 
the process, whether you register and book 
an appointment or just take them along to 
yours”
 Charnwood, 25-34

Were there times that you think you 
could have been supported better 
emotionally?

  54%YES      46% NO

Just over half of mothers told us that they had a 
desire to receive better emotional support. Within 
the qualitative answers to this question, mothers 
emphasised their vulnerability at the time in their life.

“I have spoken to my midwife and doctor 
about how low I felt, due to severe nausea 
and sickness, trying to hold down a full-time 
job and look after a 3-year-old, but it took 
multiple conversations for anything to be 
done. I just kept getting told it’s normal, you 
are pregnant”
North West Leicestershire, 35-44

“Yes, I felt abandoned by my consultant and 
only the community midwife offered any 
consistency”
North West Leicestershire, 35-44

“Was left hanging, waiting for a C-section. 
Then all medication was stopped by doctors. 
I had to keep travelling back to hospital as 
my blood pressure shot up again. Went back 
each day for 1st week, and once overnight 
due to errors in medication. Ruined the first 
week at home with my baby”
Leicester City, 35-44

“Straight after birth, when I had to be alone; I 
needed my partner”
North West Leicestershire, 25-44

“The aftercare was just awful, to leave 
mothers traumatised on their own is not 
okay”
Oadby and Wigston, 35-44

Did you smoke or drink during 
pregnancy?

  8%YES      92% NO

Have you ever been approached about 
or noticed an opportunity for mothers 
to provide feedback and be involved in 
making services better?

  14%YES      86% NO

Being a patient and public champion, we would 
advocate that expecting mothers would be 
involved in any review of services that is taking 
place. It is evident that the mothers and mother-
to-be to whom we listened, did not notice any 
opportunity to be involved in change.

125



34

Main Findings

What healthcare 
professionals told us
We provided an opportunity for suggestions 
and improvements to be shared by staff, we 
then collated those suggestions and ideas, 
and summarised them under headings. 
The following is what emerged from staff 
experiences.

Do you believe there could be better joint 
working between Public Health Nurses and 
Midwives?
65% (34) of staff answered ‘very much so’ or ‘definitely’ 
when we asked if they thought there could be better 
joint working. 35% (18) answered ‘moderately’ or 
‘slightly’ when answering the same question. 

Below is an amalgamation of feedback from some of 
the comments that we received.  

 n  Safeguarding: Monthly protected time to discuss 
safeguarding and allocations - Regular meetings 
within aligned caseload to discuss safeguarding 
concerns - Liaison with Public Health Nurses 
regarding safeguarding referrals. 

 n  Shared initiatives: Joint antenatal and postnatal 
visits for vulnerable patients - Local joint meetings 
with shared initiatives.

 n  Better communication: Easier to contact 
community midwives. 

 n  Regular Meeting: Face-to-face meetings - Sharing 
records - midwives do not input on ‘System One’ so 
cannot see clients’ records 

Main Findings 
from Healthcare Professionals
Gathering experiences and views of healthcare professionals has 
enabled us to gain insight into how processes affect not only staff, but the 
lives of patients. From the data collected, we have highlighted the key 
messages that have emerged. 

“Get UHL and LPT to communicate and 
have same agendas”
Public Health Nurse

“Unsure how Public Health Nurses 
actually work with us at all presently”
Midwife

“I am very passionate about this and 
feel it is vital”
Public Health Nurse

“More Multidisciplinary Team 
meetings. This happens in some 
areas/surgeries but not all. It would 
enable ease of updates re: women 
and their families rather than relying 
on telephone calls and written 
information, and lead to better 
working relationships between teams”
 Midwife

126



35

Healthcare Professionals

Do you believe there should be better 
information sharing between Public 
Health Nurses and Midwives?

80% (33) of staff answered ‘very much so’ 
or ‘definitely’ when we asked if they thought 
there could be better information sharing. 20% 
(11) answered ‘moderately’ or ‘slightly’ when 
answering the same question. 

Below is an amalgamation of feedback from 
some of the comments that we received.  

 n  Time to share: Allocated time to share 
information via face-to-face meetings between 
PHN and MW - Increased frequency of formal 
meetings to share learning, including the 
handover of identified vulnerable pregnant 
ladies 

 n  System One: Midwives being on or having 
access to System One may aid consistency 
regarding information. 

“We have a very good relationship with the 
midwives with whom we work, contacting 
them by mobile telephone. Maybe a Multi-
Disciplinary Team would be useful?”
Public Health Nurse

“Midwives and health visitors need to have 
meetings to discuss clients, just like the GP 
liaison meetings, and both professions need 
to be using the same online system. Really 
do need to have a midwife to health visitor 
formal handover”
Public Health Nurse

“It would be much better if our smartcards 
enabled us the same access as the Public 
Health Nurses and for them to be able to 
see our entries. Currently we can access 
a surgery’s entire patient list, which is not 
necessary, but I can’t access a woman’s 
record if she isn’t at a surgery with which 
I’m registered”
Midwife

127



36

Main Findings

Are there any parts of your role that 
could be improved in order to support 
clients/ patients better?

Staff mentioned wanting more autonomy to be 
able to offer clients more support when there 
is a need, whilst ensuring client empowerment. 
This included freedom to assess the amount of 
support required for families with unmet health 
needs. 

Below is an amalgamation of feedback from 
some of the comments that we received.  

 n  Autonomy: Allow Public Health Nurses 
to make their own universal contact 
appointments for the home. That phone call 
begins the relationship, and allows the client a 
say in when it is convenient for a professional 
to visit in their own home. More autonomy to 
see families as necessary.

 n  Communication: Antenatal appointments are 
frequently changed because the impersonal 
letter that is sent to clients assumes that no 
one works and can attend or have a visit on 
any day or time. 

 n  Information: Better if more information is 
shared from midwives and the red book 
completed, for example body maps. - 
Handover of vulnerable clients formalised. 

 n  Information: Better quality resources - More 
information available in different languages.

 n  Partnership working: Better liaison with 
outside agencies and more free-flow of 
information, particularly with social care. 

 n  Signposting: Places and support to refer 
to. Due to so many cuts in services, many 
services are either being stopped, reduced or 
have very high thresholds for referral. 

 n  Continuity: Better continuity of care, which 
could also be improved with additional staffing 
in order to cover workload adequately. 

 n  Safeguarding: Safeguarding and social care 
involvement could be greatly improved. 

Do you believe you have enough time 
with the client to inform them of the 
things they need to know?

Just under half (48%) of staff told us that they had 
enough time with clients to tell them what they 
needed to know. 

Staff told us that this varies from day to day but 
that there is a huge amount of information to 
impart to parents and sometimes there is not 
enough time. It can often be difficult to build 
relationships with people that allow them to feel 
comfortable enough to discuss their needs in the 
time that staff do have. 

 n  Appointments: 15 minute appointments are 
not long enough for antenatal appointments, 
if there are other clinical issues to deal with. 1 
hour for a booking appointment and 15 minutes 
for a repeat antenatal appointment is no longer 
sufficient to cover all of the things specified by 
UHL or the expectations of women. 

 n Public Health messages: Who delivers public 
health information? Large focus on public health 
information instead of focusing on midwifery 
and birth preparation. 

“There is a high caseload in relation to time 
at work. In some cases, it means clinics run 
late in order to ensure safe and effective care, 
particularly when a woman is encountering 
problems”
Midwife 

If you could make any other changes or 
improvements to the service what would 
it be?

Midwives 
 n  Give midwives System One access, in line with 

the Public Health Nurse to allow information to be 
shared more efficiently. 

 n  Working in a Sure Start centre we have to continue 
to use paper records. We have a computer but 
because of System One restrictions, we can’t use it. 
It’s frustrating. 

128



37

Healthcare Professionals

 n  Health care professional specific telephone lines 
(direct dial), as often, when referring, I have to 
wait in a telephone queue or call on multiple 
occasions, due to lines being engaged, causing 
stress for myself and worry for the women for 
whom I am caring. 

 n  More midwives and quicker recruitment. 

Public Health Nurses
 n  Working to individual needs of children and 

families rather than one-size-fits-all approach 

 n  Regular monthly meetings with midwives, more 
telephone liaison and sharing of information 
between services.

 n  Understanding different policy and procedures to 
support a seamless service. Public health nurses 
and midwives giving the same information; joint 
training would help with this. 

 n  Make record keeping less time-consuming so that 
staff can spend more time with clients and have 
more time for public health/community activities. 

 n  Move the Public Health Nurse birth visits to later 
than 10 days, as Midwives are involved until day 
10. The parents have a flurry of professionals 
and then no one. Also consider stopping the 10 
month reviews as children invariably do not pass 
on areas such as gross motor. 

 n Better joined up working including more 
integration more with children centres and social 
care.

129



38

Conclusion

Conclusion 
In May 2017, NHS England published a document, 
‘Patient and public participation in commissioning 
health and care’ 4. The report outlines the 
importance of involving patients and the public in 
their work, in a meaningful way. It also shows the 
importance of involving people in commissioning 
to improve health and care services, and how NHS 
England can meet their legal duties to do so.

Gathering experiences from local people, as 
presented in this report, is a good way for 
commissioners to utilise relevant and recent 
information, as well as other avenues such as the 
Better Births agenda. Listening to the voices of 
healthcare professionals, especially those on the 
frontline, is extremely important when we aim to 
make improvements in any system. We found that 
there is a desire amongst healthcare professionals 
to have conversations that will drive improvements 
for better working. 

Ultimately, those who commission and provide 
services must deliver improvements in a way that 
will make this journey better for staff and patients.   

4  ‘Patient and public participation in commissioning health and care: 
statutory guidance for clinical commissioning groups and NHS Eng-
land’. http://alturl.com/fe4uq

130



Substance Misuse: Swansell Report Healthwatch LeicestershireHealthwatch LeicestershireHealthwatch Leicestershire

BUMPS TO BABIES

The Bumps to Babies programme is a coordinated 
4-week group session for first time parents provided 
by midwives and local public health teams. Midwives 
facilitate week 2 and the Public Health team, weeks 
1,3&4. The sessions cover preparing for the birth, birth 
itself, feeding and caring for your baby and are run 
throughout Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.

CHATHEALTH

This is a new secure text messaging service run by 
public health nurses for parents of children 0-19. 
You can get confidential advice and support with 
behavior, parenting, child development, emotional 
health and wellbeing and general health queries.

  In Leicester text: 07520 615381

   In Leicestershire and Rutland text: 07520 615382

ChatHealth operates Monday - Friday from 9am until 
5pm, and during this period messages are responded 
to within 24 hours. Outside these times, users receive 
an automatic reply indicating that they will receive a 
response when the line re-opens.

This is not an emergency service. 
For urgent medical attention please contact your GP 
or call 111 or 999

HEALTH FOR UNDER 5’s

This is a website dedicated to help parents with 
children under the age of five years has been 
launched at www.healthforunder5s.co.uk
 
The website is written by NHS professionals and 
houses sections that detail support and information 
from pregnancy, through the developmental stages 
of your child’s life to pre-school.

   www.healthforunder5s.co.uk

Useful services and 
programmes to 
support parents

39

131



In Mum’s words
Healthwatch Leicestershire
Voluntary Action LeicesterShire
9 Newarke Street, Leicester, LE1 5SN

0116 2574 999
info@healthwatchleics.co.uk
www.healthwatchleicestershire.co.uk

Voluntary Action LeicesterShire 
(VAL). is the contract holder for 
Healthwatch Leicestershire  ©

January 2018

132



 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 25 JANUARY 2018 
 

REPORT OF INTERIM DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE 
INTEGRATION 

 
BETTER CARE FUND SECTION 75 AGREEMENT APPROVAL AND 

ASSURANCE 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide assurance that the Leicestershire Better Care 

Fund (BCF) section 75 (s75) agreement has been refreshed and updated for 2017-
19, and to seek approval from the Health and Wellbeing Board  to continue with 
pooled budget arrangements for 2017/18 and 2018/19. 

 
Recommendation 
 
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 

a. Receive assurance on the work undertaken to refresh the s75 pooled budget 
agreement for the BCF.   

b. Approve and agree to continue s75 pooled budget arrangements between 
Leicestershire County Council, East Leicestershire and Rutland and West 
Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
3.  The BCF policy framework was introduced by the Government in 2014, with the first 

year of BCF plan delivery being 2015/16. The County Council’s Cabinet in February 
2014 authorised the Health and Wellbeing Board to approve the BCF Plan and plans 
arising from its use. 
 

4. In July 2014 the County Council’s Cabinet approved the negotiation and completion 
of a joint commissioning agreement under Section 75 of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 with NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland and NHS West Leicestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Groups, along with any other legal agreements necessary for 
the joint administration of the Better Care Fund, including setting up a pooled fund to 
be managed by the County Council. 

 
5. The original s75 agreement was developed and approved in March 2015 for the 

2015/16 financial year. It was written on a rolling-agreement basis to be reviewed 
and updated each year.  

 
6. East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG approved the revised s75 agreement for 2017-

19 at their Confidential Board meetings on 12th December 2017. West Leicestershire 
CCG approved it subject to the section 75 agreement explicitly stating that a review 
of the BCF Plan would be undertaken for 2018/19. 

 

 

133 Agenda Item 14



 

Background 
 
7. The Department of Health has made it a condition that the operation of the BCF is 

subject to a s75 pooled budget arrangement where joint governance arrangements 
between the County Council and the two Leicestershire CCGs will apply. 

 
8. The s75 agreement facilitates the commissioning and provision of services in the 

BCF Plan and sets out: 

a. The financial contributions and the operation and management of the pooled 
budget. 

b. The eligible service users included in the agreement. 

c. The County Council and CCGs’ respective roles and responsibilities to be 
exercised in the joint-working arrangements. 

d. The scope of the services that are provided in partnership, including the 
County Council’s functions and the CCGs’ functions. 

e. Review and governance arrangements. 
 

9. Formal confirmation was received on 20 December 2017 from NHS England that the 
Leicestershire BCF Plan for 2017-19 has been approved, which has confirmed that 
the BCF funding can now be released and transferred into pooled funds under the 
s75 agreement. (Letter attached at Appendix A). 

 
2017-19 BCF Section 75 Agreement 
 
10. The BCF s75 agreement and subsequent deed of variation, appended to the 

agreement in June 2016, has been reviewed to ensure that it still meets the national 
BCF conditions and governance requirements of all parties.  
 

11. Following advice from Mills and Reeve (CCG solicitors) it was agreed to develop a 
new s75 agreement for 2017-19, which would incorporate the original agreement and 
the deed of variation, along with changes required for 2017-19. A copy of the BCF 
s75 agreement is attached as Appendix B.  
 

12. The s75 agreement covers 2017/18 and 2018/19 to align with the current BCF Plan 
and supersedes the 2015 agreement. 
 

13. CCG solicitors have led the work to write the new s75 agreement, with support from 
Leicestershire County Council’s legal services. 
 

14. The updated agreement continues to focus on financial risk and risk sharing, with a 
default position that the BCF will continue to operate within its own resources and not 
place additional financial pressures on either Leicestershire County Council or the 
two CCGs. 
 

15. The key changes to the 2015/16 s75 agreement and deed of variation are detailed 
below: 

a. The BCF expenditure covering 2017/18 and 2018/19 is provided in schedule 1 
part 3. 

134



 

b. In July 2017, CCG Boards agreed that an additional schedule for the 
Gynaecological (Menorrhagia) service would be included in an overarching s75 
agreement. However, as this remains work in progress it was felt appropriate to 
append the Gynaecological (Menorrhagia) service schedule to the BCF s75 
agreement. The schedule is provided in schedule 1 part 3b. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
16. The BCF expenditure plan for Leicestershire totals £52million in 2017/18 and 

£56million in 2018/19. The table below provides a summary of the Leicestershire 
BCF allocations, setting out the source of funds for the two year period: 

 

Better Care Fund Funding 2017/18 and 2018/19 

  

Funding Source 2017/18 
£000 

2018/19 
£000 

CCG Minimum Contributions 

  East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG* 15,838 16,139 

West Leicestershire CCG* 20,843 21,239 

  36,682 37,378 

DCLG Funding 
 

 

Disabled Facilities Grants 3,350 3,632 

IBCF (Comprehensive Spending Review -Autumn 2015) Nil 5,582 

IBCF (Adult Social Care Grant Spring Budget 2017) 9,526 6,837 

  12,876 16,051 

   

Additional Contributions   

Additional CCG allocations (ICS Scheme) 2,563 2,563 

  
 

 

Total BCF Funding £52,120 £55,993 

  
 

 

* Inclusive of Care Act Funding 1,388 1,388 

 

17. The BCF expenditure plan is being reviewed during Q4 2017/18 for 2018/19 to 
ensure that it meets planned commissioning intentions.  
 

18. The BCF budget is hosted by Leicestershire County Council. 
 
Background papers 
 
2017-19 Integration and Better Care Fund Policy Framework 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/607754/Inte
gration_and_BCF_policy_framework_2017-19.pdf  
 
Integration and Better Care Fund Planning Requirements for 2017-19 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integration-and-better-care-fund-planning-
requirements-for-2017-19/  
 
 
 

135

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/607754/Integration_and_BCF_policy_framework_2017-19.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/607754/Integration_and_BCF_policy_framework_2017-19.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integration-and-better-care-fund-planning-requirements-for-2017-19/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integration-and-better-care-fund-planning-requirements-for-2017-19/


 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name and Job Title  Helen Seth, Interim Director of Health and Care Integration 
Telephone:   0116 3054212 
Email:    Helen.Seth@leics.gov.uk  
 
List of Appendices 
 

 Appendix A – Leicestershire BCF Plan Letter of Approval 

 Appendix B – Leicestershire BCF Section 75 Agreement. 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
19. The BCF aims to improve outcomes and wellbeing for the people of Leicestershire, 

with effective protection of social care and integrated activity to reduce emergency 
and urgent health demand. 
 

20. An equalities and human rights impact assessment has been undertaken which is 
provided at  
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-care-fund-overview-ehria.pdf.   
This finds that the BCF will have a neutral impact on equalities and human rights. 

 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
21. The delivery of the BCF Plan and the governance of the associated pooled budgets 

is managed in partnership through the collaboration of commissioners and providers 
in Leicestershire.  
 

22. Day to day oversight of delivery is via the Integration Executive through the scheme 
of delegation agreed via the Integration Executive’s terms of reference which have 
been approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

23. The delivery of the Leicestershire BCF ensures that a number of key integrated 
services are in place and contributing to the system wide changes being 
implemented through the five year plan to transform health and care in 
Leicestershire, known as Better Care Together http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk. 
 

136

mailto:Helen.Seth@leics.gov.uk
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-care-fund-overview-ehria.pdf
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/


OFFICIAL 

 

High quality care for all, now and for future generations 
 

 
Dear Colleagues 
 
BETTER CARE FUND 2017-19 
 
Thank you for submitting your Better Care Fund (BCF) plan for regional 
assurance. We know that the BCF has again presented challenges in preparing 
plans at pace and we are grateful for your commitment in providing your agreed 
plan. The Better Care Fund is the only mandatory policy to facilitate integration of 
health and social care and the continuation of the BCF itself. It brings together 
health and social care funding, with a major injection of social care money 
announced at Spring Budget 2017. For the first time, this policy framework for the 
Fund covers two financial years to align with NHS planning timetables and to give 
areas the opportunity to plan more strategically. 
 
Your plan has been assessed in accordance with the process set out in the 
Better Care Fund 2017-19: Guide to Assurance of Plans.  
 
In determining and exercising further powers in connection with your application, 
NHS England has had regard to the extent to which there is a need for the 
provision of health services;  health-related services (within the meaning given in 
section 14Z1 of the NHS Act 2006); and social care services.  
 
I am delighted to let you know that, following the regional assurance process, 
your plan has been classified as ‘Approved’. In summary, the assurance team 
recognises your plan has been agreed by all parties (local authority, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCG’s), and your Health and Wellbeing Board), and the 
plan submitted meets all requirements and the focus should now be on delivery. 
 
Your BCF funding can therefore now be released subject to the funding being 
used in accordance with your final approved plan, and the funding being 
transferred into pooled funds under a section 75 agreement. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

NHS England 
Skipton House 

80 London Road 
London  

SE1 6LH 
 
 

20 December 2017 
 

To: (by email)  

Cllr Ernie White  Chair, Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board 
John Sinnot Chief Executive, Lecestershire County Council  
Karen English  Managing Director, NHS East Lecestershire and Rutland CCG 
Toby Sanders  Managing Director, NHS West Leicestershire CCG  

137



OFFICIAL 

 

High quality care for all, now and for future generations 
 

These conditions have been imposed through NHS England’s powers under 
sections 223G and 223GA of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Care Act 
2014). These sections allow NHS England to make payment of the BCF funding 
subject to conditions. If the conditions are not complied with, NHS England is 
able to withhold or recover funding, or direct the CCG(s) in your Health and 
Wellbeing Board area as to the use of the funding. 
 
Amounts payable to the CCG in respect of the BCF are subject to the following 
conditions under section 223GA of the NHS Act 2006: 
  

1. That the CCG will meet the performance objectives specified in its BCF 
plan; and  

2. That the CCG will meet any additional performance objectives specified by 
NHS England from time to time.  
  

If the CCG fails to meet those objectives, NHS England may withhold the funds 
(in so far as they have not already been paid to the CCG) or recover payments 
already made; and may direct the CCG as to the use of the amounts payable in 
respect of the BCF. 
 
In addition to the BCF funding, the Spring Budget 2017 increased funding via the 
Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF) for adult social care in 2017-19. This has 
been pooled into the local BCF. The new IBCF grant (and as previously the 
Disabled Facilities Grant) will be paid directly to local authorities via a Section 31 
grant from the Department for Communities and Local Government. The 
Government has attached a set of conditions to the Section 31 grant, to ensure it 
is included in the BCF at local level and will be spent on adult social care.  
 

You should now progress with your plans for implementation. Ongoing support 
and oversight with your BCF plan will be led by your local better care manager. 
 
Once again, thank you for your work and best wishes with implementation and 
delivery. 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 

 
 

Simon Weldon 
Director of NHS Operations and Delivery and SRO for the Better Care Fund  
NHS England 
 
 
  

138



OFFICIAL 

 

High quality care for all, now and for future generations 
 

Copy (by email) to: 

 

 

Jon Wilson  Director for Adults and Communities, Leicestershire County Council  

Cheryl Davenport  Director of Health and Care Integration, Leicestershire County Council  

  

Jo Farrar 

Jonathan Marron 

Sarah Pickup 

Director General, Department for Communities & Local Government 

Director General, Department of Health 

Deputy Chief Executive, Local Government Association 

  

NHS England Midlands and East 

Paul Watson Regional Director  

Elliot Howard-Jones Director of Commissioning Operations 

Roz Lindridge Locality Director    

Nigel Littlewood Regional Lead 

Wendy Hoult Better Care Manager 

  

Better Care Support Team  

Keziah Halliday  Programme Director    

Rosie Seymour Deputy Director 

139



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Dated 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

and 
 

NHS WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUP 

 
and 

 
NHS EAST LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND CLINICAL 

COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
FRAMEWORK PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT RELATING 

TO THE COMMISSIONING OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE SERVICES   

 

 
  

141



2 
 

Contents 

Item Page 

 

PARTIES 4 

BACKGROUND 4 

1 DEFINED TERMS AND INTERPRETATION 5 

2 TERM 10 

3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 10 

4 PARTNERSHIP FLEXIBILITIES 11 

5 FUNCTIONS 11 

6 COMMISSIONING ARRANGEMENTS 11 

7 ESTABLISHMENT OF A POOLED FUND 13 

8 POOLED FUND MANAGEMENT 14 

9 NON POOLED FUNDS 15 

10 FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 15 

11 NON FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 16 

12 RISK SHARE ARRANGMENTS, OVERSPENDS AND UNDERSPENDS 16 

13 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 16 

14 VAT 17 

15 AUDIT AND RIGHT OF ACCESS 17 

16 LIABILITIES AND INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 17 

17 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND SERVICE 18 

18 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 18 

19 GOVERNANCE 19 

20 REVIEW 19 

21 COMPLAINTS 20 

22 TERMINATION & DEFAULT 20 

23 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 21 

24 FORCE MAJEURE 22 

25 CONFIDENTIALITY 22 

26 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION REGULATIONS 22 

27 OMBUDSMEN 23 

28 INFORMATION SHARING 23 

29 NOTICES 23 

30 VARIATION 24 

31 CHANGE IN LAW 24 

32 WAIVER 24 

33 SEVERANCE 24 

34 ASSIGNMENT  AND SUB CONTRACTING 24 

35 EXCLUSION OF PARTNERSHIP AND AGENCY 24 

36 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 25 

142



3 
 

37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 25 

38 COUNTERPARTS 25 

39 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 25 

SCHEDULE 1 - PART 1 ARRANGEMENTS COMMON TO ALL INDIVIDUAL SCHEMES 27 

1 FUNDING 27 

2 AIMS AND OUTCOMES 27 

3 THE ARRANGEMENTS 27 

4 FUNCTIONS 27 

5 SERVICES 27 

6 INFORMATION SHARING AND COMMUNICATION 28 

7 DURATION AND EXIT STRATEGY 28 

PART 3 AGREED INDVIDUAL SCHEMES 45 

SCHEDULE 2 – GOVERNANCE 55 

SCHEDULE 3 –  FINANCE PROTOCOL 59 

SCHEDULE 4 – JOINT WORKING OBLIGATIONS 65 

– LEAD COMMISSIONER OBLIGATIONS 65 

– OBLIGATIONS OF THE OTHER PARTNER 66 

Part 2 – OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTNERS (GENERAL) 67 

PART 3 – PERFORMANCE ARRANGMENTS 68 

SCHEDULE 5 – BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 70 

SCHEDULE 6 – POLICY FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 71 

  
 
 
  

143



4 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made on   day of       2017 
 
PARTIES 

(1) LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL of County Hall, Glenfield. Leicestershire  (“the Council"); 

(2) NHS WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP of 55 Woodgate, 
Loughborough, Leicestershire, LE11 2TZ ("WLCCG"); and 

(3) NHS EAST LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP of Room 
G30, Pen Lloyd Building, County Hall, Glenfield, Leicester, LE3 8TB  (“ELRCCG”),  

WLCCG and ELRCCG together referred to as the ”CCGs” 

The Council and the CCGs, together referred to as the “Partners” 

BACKGROUND 

(A) The Council has responsibility for commissioning and/or providing social care services, and certain 
health related services, on behalf of the population of the administrative area of Leicestershire 
County Council. 

(B) The CCGs have the responsibility for commissioning health services pursuant to the 2006 Act in the 
administrative areas of Leicestershire and Rutland. 

(C) The Better Care Fund has been established by the Government to provide funds to local areas to 
support the integration of health and social care and to seek to achieve the National Conditions and 
local objectives.  It is a requirement of the Better Care Fund that the CCGs and the Council establish 
a pooled fund for this purpose. The Partners wish to extend the use of pooled funds to include 
funding streams from outside of the Better Care Fund. 

(D) Section 75 of the 2006 Act gives powers to local authorities and clinical commissioning groups to 
establish and maintain pooled funds out of which payment may be made towards expenditure 
incurred in the exercise of prescribed local authority functions and prescribed NHS functions.  

(E) The purpose of this Agreement is to set out the terms on which the Partners have agreed to 
collaborate and to establish a framework through which the Partners can secure the future position 
of health and social care services through lead, integrated or joint (aligned) commissioning 
arrangements.  It also provides means through which the Partners will to pool funds and align 
budgets as agreed between the Partners. 

(F) The aims and benefits of the Partners in entering in to this Agreement are to: 

a) improve the quality and efficiency of the Services through improvements in integrated care and 
support;  

b) meet the National Conditions outlined in the Integration and Better Fund Planning Requirements 
for 2017-19 (NHS England Publications Gateway Reference 06945) and local objectives;  

c) make more effective use of resources through the establishment and maintenance of a pooled  
fund for revenue expenditure on the Services in order to sustain integration within the local 
health and social care economy on an ongoing basis; and 

d) increase capacity and capability of integrated community services so that more care can be 
delivered in the community in the future. 

(G) The Partners are entering into this Agreement in exercise of the powers referred to in Section 75 of 
the 2006 Act and/or Section 13Z(2) and 14Z(3) of the 2006 Act as applicable, to the extent that 
exercise of these powers is required for this Agreement. 

144



5 
 

(H) This Agreement supersedes a prior s75 agreement between the Partners (as extended by a deed of 
variation) and which governed delivery of the Better Care Fund between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 
2017.   

1 DEFINED TERMS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Agreement, save where the context requires otherwise, the following words, terms and 
expressions shall have the following meanings: 

 1998 Act means the Data Protection Act 1998. 

 2000 Act means the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

 2004 Regulations means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004. 

 2006 Act means the National Health Service Act 2006. 

 Affected Partner means, in the context of Clause 24, the Partner whose obligations under the 
Agreement have been affected by the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event 

 Agreement means this agreement including its Schedules and Appendices. 

 Annual Report means the annual report produced by the Partners in accordance with Clause 20 
(Review). 

 Approved Expenditure means any expenditure approved by the Partners at meetings of the 
Partnership Board or as set out in the Scheme Specification in relation to an Individual Service 
above any Contract Price, Permitted Expenditure or agreed Third Party Costs. 

 Authorised Officers means an officer of each Partner appointed to be that Partner's representative 
for the purpose of this Agreement, details of which are more particularly set out in Clause 29. 

 BCF Deed of Variation means the deed of variation dated 17
th
 June 2016 which amended the BCF 

2015 Agreement, setting out the terms on which the Better Care Fund was delivered by the Partners 
between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017.  

 BCF Quarterly Report means the quarterly report produced by the Partners and provided to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.  

 BCF 2015 Agreement means the agreement between the Partners in respect of the Better Care 
Fund for the period commencing 1 April 2015, as amended by the Deed of Variation. 

 Better Care Fund means the Better Care Fund as described in NHS England Publications NHS 
England Publications Gateway Ref. No.06945 as relevant to the Partners. 

 Better Care Fund Plan means the plan attached at Schedule 6 setting out the Partners’ plan for the 
delivery and use of the Better Care Fund. 

 Better Care Fund Requirements means any and all requirements on the CCGs and Council in 
relation to the Better Care Fund set out in Law and guidance published by the Department of Health 
and NHS England.  

 CCGs’ Statutory Duties means the duties of the CCGs pursuant to Sections 14P to 14Z2  of the 
2006 Act  

 Change in Law means the coming into effect or repeal (without re-enactment or consolidation) in 
England of any Law, or any amendment or variation to any Law, or any judgment of a relevant court 
of law which changes binding precedent in England after the Commencement Date; 

145



6 
 

 Commencement Date means 1 April 2017; 

 Confidential Information means information, data and/or material of any nature which any Partner 
may receive or obtain in connection with the operation of this Agreement and the Services and: 

(a) which comprises Personal Data or Sensitive Personal Data or which relates to any patient or 
their treatment or medical history; 

(b) the release of which is likely to prejudice the commercial interests of a Partner or the 
interests of a Service User respectively; or 

(c) which is a trade secret. 

 Contract Price means any sum payable to a Provider under a Services Contract as consideration 
for the provision of goods, equipment or services as required as part of the Services and which, for 
the avoidance of doubt, does not include any Default Liability. 

 Default Liability means any sum which is agreed or determined by Law or in accordance with the 
terms of a Services Contract to be payable by any Partner(s) as a consequence of (i) breach by any 
or all of the Partners of an obligation(s) in whole or in part) under a Services Contract or (ii) any act 
or omission of a third party for which any or all of the Partners are liable, under the terms of the 
relevant Services Contract. 

 Financial Contributions means the financial contributions made by each Partner to a Pooled Fund 
in any Financial Year. 

 Financial Year means each financial year running from 1 April in any year to 31 March in the 
following calendar year.  

 Force Majeure Event means one or more of the following: 

 (a) war, civil war (whether declared or undeclared), riot or armed conflict; 

 (b) acts of terrorism; 

 (c) acts of God; 

 (d) fire or flood; 

 (e) prevention from or hindrance in obtaining raw materials, energy or other supplies; 

 (f) any form of contamination or virus outbreak; and 

 (g) any other event, 

 in each case where such event is beyond the reasonable control of the Partner claiming relief  

 Functions means the NHS Functions and the Health Related Functions; 

 HART Services means the Homecare Assessment and Reablement Team Services that are more 
particularly described in the Individual Scheme set out in the Scheme Specification at Schedule 1 
part 3A to this Agreement. 

 
  
 Health Related Functions means those of the health related functions of the Council, specified in 

Regulation 6 of the Regulations as relevant to the commissioning of the Services and which may be 
further described in the relevant Scheme Specification. 

146



7 
 

 Host Partner means for each Pooled Fund the Partner that will host the Pooled Fund and for any 
Non Pooled Fund the Partner that will host the Non Pooled Fund. 

 Health and Wellbeing Board means the Health and Wellbeing Board established by the Council 
pursuant to Section 194 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

 Indirect Losses means loss of profits, loss of use, loss of production, increased operating costs, 
loss of business, loss of business opportunity, loss of reputation or goodwill or any other 
consequential or indirect loss of any nature, whether arising in tort or on any other basis. 

 Individual Scheme means one of the schemes which has been agreed by the Partners to be 
included within this Agreement using the powers under Section 75 as documented in a Scheme 
Specification. 

 Initial Term means the period commencing on the Commencement Date and ending at 00.00 hours 
on the 31

st
 March 2019.  

 Integration Executive means a body which both advises the Health and Wellbeing Board on 
matters relating to the management of the Better Care Fund and delivers the health and care 
integration programme on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

 Integrated Commissioning means arrangements by which both Partners commission Services in 
relation to an Individual Scheme on behalf of each other in exercise of both the NHS Functions and 
Council Functions through integrated structures.  

 Joint (Aligned) Commissioning means a mechanism by which the Partners jointly commission a 
Service.  For the avoidance of doubt, a joint (aligned) commissioning arrangement does not involve 
the delegation of any functions pursuant to Section 75. 

 Law means: 

(a) any statute or proclamation or any delegated or subordinate legislation; 

(b) any enforceable community right within the meaning of Section 2(1) European Communities 
Act 1972; 

(c) any guidance, direction or determination with which the Partner(s) or relevant third party (as 
applicable) are bound to comply to the extent that the same are published and publicly 
available or the existence or contents of them have been notified to the Partner(s) or relevant 
third party (as applicable); and 

(d) any judgment of a relevant court of law which is a binding precedent in England. 

 Lead Commissioning Arrangements means the arrangements by which one Partner commissions 
Services in relation to an Individual Scheme on behalf of the other Partner in exercise of both the 
NHS Functions and the Health Related Functions. 

 Lead Partner means the Partner responsible for commissioning a Service as part of a Lead 
Commissioning Arrangement.  

 Losses means all damage, loss, liabilities, claims, actions, costs, expenses (including the cost of 
legal and/or professional services), proceedings, demands and charges whether arising under 
statute, contract or at common law but excluding Indirect Losses and "Loss" shall be interpreted 
accordingly. 

 Menorrhagia Service means the services that are more particularly described in the Individual 
Scheme set out in the Scheme Specification at Schedule 1 part 3B to this Agreement. 

 Month means a calendar month. 

147



8 
 

 National Conditions mean the national conditions as set out in the National Guidance as are 
amended or replaced from time to time. 

 National Guidance means the Better Care Fund Policy Framework as issued from to time to time 
by, the Department of Communities and Local Government, and any relevant guidance issued by 
NHS England, the Department of Health, or the Local Government Association either collectively or 
separately. 

 NHS Functions means those of the NHS functions listed in Regulation 5 of the Regulations as are 
exercisable by the CCGs as are relevant to the commissioning of the Services and which may be 
further described in each Scheme Specification. 

 Non Pooled Fund means the budget detailing the financial contributions of the Partners which are 
not included in a Pooled Fund in respect of a particular Service as set out in the relevant Scheme 
Specification. 

 Non-Recurrent Payments means funding provided by a Partner to a Pooled Fund in addition to the 
Financial Contributions pursuant to arrangements agreed in accordance with Clause 10.5 and 
Schedule 3 

 Overspend means any expenditure from a Pooled Fund in a Financial Year which exceeds the 
Financial Contributions for that Financial Year.  

 Partner means each of the CCGs and the Council, and references to "Partners" shall be construed 
accordingly. 

 Partnership Board means the partnership board known as the Integration, Finance and 
Performance Group responsible for review of performance and oversight of this Agreement whose 
terms of reference are set out in Schedule 2.  

 Permitted Budget means in relation to a Service where the Council is the Provider, the budget that 
the Partners have set in relation to the particular Service. 

 Permitted Expenditure has the meaning given in Clause 7.3. 

 Personal Data means Personal Data as defined by the 1998 Act. 

 Pooled Fund means any pooled fund established and maintained by the Partners as a pooled fund 
in accordance with the Regulations 

 Pooled Fund Manager means such officer of the Host Partner as is nominated by the Host Partner 
from time to time to manage the Pooled Fund. 

 Provider means a provider of any Services commissioned under the arrangements set out in this 
Agreement including the Council where the Council is a provider of any Services. 

 Public Health England means the SOSH trading as Public Health England. 

 Quarter means each of the following periods in a Financial Year: 

1 April to 30 June 

1 July to 30 September 

1 October to 31 December 

1 January to 31 March  

and "Quarterly" shall be interpreted accordingly. 

148



9 
 

 Regulations means the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership Arrangements Regulations 
2000 No 617 (as amended).  

 Scheme Specification means a specification setting out the arrangements for an Individual Scheme 
agreed by the Partners to be commissioned under this Agreement and to which the arrangements 
set out in Part 1 of Schedule 1 to this Agreement shall apply (unless an Individual Scheme expressly 
states that alternative arrangements apply in whole or part to that Individual Scheme). 

 Sensitive Personal Data means Sensitive Personal Data as defined in the 1998 Act. 

 Services means such health and social care services as agreed from time to time by the Partners as 
commissioned under the arrangements set out in this Agreement (and more specifically defined in 
each Scheme Specification, including the arrangements common to each Scheme Specification 
(which are more particularly set out in Schedule 1)).  

 Services Contract means an agreement entered into by one or more of the Partners in exercise of 
its obligations under this Agreement to secure the provision of the Services in accordance with the 
relevant Individual Scheme. 

 Service Users means those individual for whom the Partners have a responsibility to commission 
the Services. 

 SOSH means the Secretary of State for Health.  

 Term means the term of this Agreement as more particularly set out in Clause 2. 

 Third Party Costs means all such third party costs (including legal and other professional fees) in 
respect of each Individual Scheme as the Partnership Board shall agree in advance may be incurred 
by a Partner in the proper performance of its obligations under this Agreement. 

 Underspend means the funds from Financial Contributions that remain in the Pooled Fund at the 
end of the Financial Year and which have not been spent or committed to be spent. 

 Working Day means 8.00am to 6.00pm on any day except Saturday, Sunday, Christmas Day, Good 
Friday or a day which is a bank holiday (in England) under the Banking & Financial Dealings Act 
1971. 

1.2 In this Agreement, all references to any statute or statutory provision shall be deemed to include 
references to any statute or statutory provision which amends, extends, consolidates or replaces the 
same and shall include any orders, regulations, codes of practice, instruments or other subordinate 
legislation made thereunder and any conditions attaching thereto.  Where relevant, references to 
English statutes and statutory provisions shall be construed as references also to equivalent 
statutes, statutory provisions and rules of law in other jurisdictions. 

1.3 Any headings to Clauses, together with the front cover and the index are for convenience only and 
shall not affect the meaning of this Agreement.  Unless the contrary is stated, references to Clauses 
and Schedules shall mean the clauses and schedules of this Agreement. 

1.4 Any reference to the Partners shall include their respective statutory successors, employees and 
agents. 

1.5 In the event of a conflict, the conditions set out in the Clauses to this Agreement shall take priority 
over the Schedules.  

1.6 Where a term of this Agreement provides for a list of items following the word "including" or 
"includes", then such list is not to be interpreted as being an exhaustive list. 

1.7 In this Agreement, words importing any particular gender include all other genders, and the term 
"person" includes any individual, partnership, firm, trust, body corporate, government, governmental 

149



10 
 

body, trust, agency, unincorporated body of persons or association and a reference to a person 
includes a reference to that person's successors and permitted assigns. 

1.8 In this Agreement, words importing the singular only shall include the plural and vice versa. 

1.9 In this Agreement, "staff" and "employees" shall have the same meaning and shall include reference 
to any full or part time employee or officer, director, manager and agent. 

1.10 Subject to the contrary being stated expressly or implied from the context in these terms and 
conditions, all communication between the Partners shall be in writing. 

1.11 Unless expressly stated otherwise, all monetary amounts are expressed in pounds sterling but in the 
event that pounds sterling is replaced as legal tender in the United Kingdom by a different currency 
then all monetary amounts shall be converted into such other currency at the rate prevailing on the 
date such other currency first became legal tender in the United Kingdom. 

1.12 All references to the Agreement include (subject to all relevant approvals) a reference to the 
Agreement as amended, supplemented, substituted, novated or assigned from time to time. 

2 TERM 

2.1 This Agreement shall come into force on the Commencement Date and, subject to the provisions of 
this Clause 2 and Clause 22, shall continue for the Initial Term. 

2.2 The Partners may extend this Agreement beyond the Initial Term for a period or periods and on 
varied terms as may be agreed between them and as approved by the Partners provided that the 
agreed period or periods of extension and the varied terms are recorded in the minutes of the 
meeting of the Integration Executive and such minutes are attached as memoranda to this 
Agreement, which shall constitute a variation pursuant to Clause 30.  

2.3 The duration of the arrangements for each Individual Scheme shall be as set out in the relevant 
Scheme Specification or if not set out, for the duration of this Agreement unless otherwise agreed by 
the Partners through the Partnership Board. 

2.4 This Agreement supersedes the BCF 2015 Agreement without prejudice to the rights and liabilities of 
the Partners under the BCF 2015 Agreement and the Partners agree that the BCF 2015 Agreement 
shall terminate (notwithstanding such of its provisions which expressly or impliedly survive 
termination), immediately prior to the Commencement Date.  

3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 

3.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall affect:  

3.1.1 the liabilities of the Partners to each other or to any third parties for the exercise of their 
respective functions and obligations (including the Functions); or 

3.1.2 any power or duty to recover charges for the provision of any services (including the 
Services) in the exercise of any local authority function; or 

3.1.3 the powers of the Council to set, administer and collect charges for any Council Health-
Related Function; or 

3.1.4 the Council’s power to determine and apply eligibility criteria for the purposes of 
assessment under the Community Care Act 1990; or 

3.1.5 the rights and powers, duties and obligations of the Partners in the exercise of their 
functions as public bodies or in any other capacity 

3.2 The Partners agree to: 

150



11 
 

3.2.1 treat each other with respect and an equality of esteem; 

3.2.2 be open with information about the performance and financial status of each; and 

3.2.3 provide early information and notice about relevant problems. 

3.3 For the avoidance of doubt, the aims and outcomes relating to an Individual Scheme may be set out 
in the relevant Scheme Specification. 

3.4 No changes to the budget or operational arrangements for any Individual Scheme or Financial 
Contributions will be made without the prior approval of the Partnership Board and such 
arrangements shall be recorded in the minutes of Partnership Board meetings. 

4 PARTNERSHIP FLEXIBILITIES 

4.1 This Agreement sets out the mechanism through which the Partners will work together to 
commission services. This may include one or more of the following mechanisms:  

4.1.1 Lead Commissioning Arrangements; 

4.1.2 Integrated Commissioning;  

4.1.3 Joint (Aligned) Commissioning; and 

4.1.4 the establishment of one or more Pooled Funds,  

in relation to Individual Schemes (the "Flexibilities")   

5 FUNCTIONS  

5.1 The purpose of this Agreement is to establish a framework through which the Partners can secure 
the provision of health and social care services in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.   

5.2 This Agreement shall include such Functions as shall be agreed from time to time by the Partners as 
are necessary to commission the Services in accordance with their obligations under this 
Agreement.  

5.3 The Partners may add new Individual Schemes to this Agreement provided that the provisions of 
Schedule 1 Part 1 shall apply to each new Individual Scheme unless otherwise agreed between the 
Partners. Such an addition of a new Individual Scheme shall constitute a variation pursuant to 
Clause 30 and the Partners shall complete a Scheme Specification in the form set out in Part 2 of 
Schedule 1 in respect of that Individual Scheme.  The initial Individual Schemes which will 
commence on the Commencement Date are listed at Schedule 1 part 3. The initial Individual 
Schemes are not in the form set out in Part 2 of Schedule 1 rather the terms of Part 1 of Schedule 1 
apply to them.  The Partners shall not enter into a Scheme Specification in respect of an Individual 
Scheme unless they are satisfied that the Individual Scheme in question will improve health and 
well-being in accordance with this Agreement. 

5.4 The introduction of any Individual Scheme will be subject to business case approval by the Partners 
and the Integration Executive. 

6 COMMISSIONING ARRANGEMENTS 

General 

6.1 The Partners shall comply with the arrangements in respect of any Lead, Integrated or Joint 
(Aligned) Commissioning as set out in the relevant Scheme Specification 

151



12 
 

6.2 Each Partner shall keep the other Partners, the Integration, Finance and Performance Group and the 
Integration Executive regularly informed of the effectiveness of the arrangements including the Better 
Care Fund and any Overspend or Underspend in a Pooled Fund or Non-Pooled Fund. 

6.3 The Partnership Board will report back to the Health and Wellbeing Board as required by its Terms 
of Reference.  

6.4 Where there are Integrated Commissioning or Lead Commissioning Arrangements in respect of an 
Individual Scheme then prior to any new Services Contract being entered into the Partners shall 
agree in writing:  

6.4.1 how the liability under each Services Contract shall be apportioned in the event of 
termination of the relevant Individual Scheme; and 

6.4.2 whether the Services Contract should give rights to third parties (and in particular if a 
Partner is not a party to the Services Contract to that Partner, the Partners shall consider  
whether or not the Partner that is not to be a party to the Services Contract should be 
afforded any rights to enforce any terms of the Services Contract under the Contracts 
(Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 and if it is agreed that such rights should be afforded 
the Partner entering the Services Contract shall ensure as far as is reasonably possible 
that such rights that have been agreed are included in the Services Contract and shall 
establish how liability under the Services Contract shall be apportioned in the event of 
termination of the relevant Individual Scheme.) 

6.5 Where the Council is itself the Provider of Services, the Council; agrees that it shall report to the 
Partnership Board in respect of the delivery of those Services and shall comply with the performance 
arrangements for the relevant Services, as are set out in Schedule 6.   

Integrated Commissioning 

6.6 Where there are Integrated Commissioning arrangements in respect of an Individual Scheme: 

6.6.1 the Partners shall work in cooperation and shall endeavour to ensure that Services in 
fulfilment of the NHS Functions and Health Related Functions are commissioned with all 
due skill, care and attention.   

6.6.2 Both Partners shall work in cooperation and endeavour to ensure that the relevant 
Services as set out in each Scheme Specification are commissioned within each Partners 
Financial Contribution in respect of that particular Service in each Financial Year. 

Appointment of a Lead Partner 

6.7 Where there are Lead Commissioning Arrangements in respect of an Individual Scheme the Lead 
Partner shall: 

6.7.1 exercise the NHS Functions in conjunction with the Health Related Functions as identified 
in the relevant Scheme Specification; 

6.7.2 endeavour to ensure that the NHS Functions and the Health Related Functions are 
funded within the parameters of the Financial Contributions of each Partner in relation to 
each particular Service in each Financial Year. 

6.7.3 commission Services for individuals who meet the eligibility criteria set out in the relevant 
Scheme Specification; 

6.7.4 contract with Provider(s) for the provision of the Services on terms agreed with the other 
Partner; 

152



13 
 

6.7.5 comply with all relevant legal duties and guidance of both Partners in relation to the 
Services being commissioned; 

6.7.6 where Services are commissioned using the NHS Standard Form Contract, perform the 
obligations of the “Commissioner” and “Co-ordinating Commissioner” with all due skill, 
care and attention and where Services are commissioned using any other form of 
contract to perform its obligations with all due skill and attention; 

6.7.7 undertake performance management and contract monitoring of all Service Contracts 
including (without limitation) the use of contract notices, enforcement action and all other 
means deemed appropriate by the Lead Partner where Services fail to deliver contracted 
requirements; 

6.7.8 make payment of all sums due to a Provider pursuant to the terms of any Services 
Contract; and  

6.7.9 keep the other Partner and Partnership Board regularly informed of the effectiveness of 
the arrangements including the Better Care Fund and any Overspend or Underspend in a 
Pooled Fund or Non Pooled Fund. 

7 ESTABLISHMENT OF A POOLED FUND 

7.1 In exercise of their respective powers under Section 75 of the 2006 Act, the Partners have agreed to 
establish and maintain such pooled funds for revenue expenditure as set out in the Scheme 
Specifications.  

7.2 Each Pooled Fund shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement. 

7.3 Subject to Clause 7.4, it is agreed that the monies held in a Pooled Fund may only be expended on 
the following:   

7.3.1 the Contract Price; 

7.3.2 where the Council is to be the Provider, the Permitted Budget;  

7.3.3 Third Party Costs where these are set out in the relevant Scheme Specification or as 
otherwise agreed in advance in writing by the Partnership Board: 

7.3.4 Approved Expenditure as set out in the relevant Scheme Specification or as otherwise 
agreed in advance  and recorded in the minutes of the Partnership Board: and 

7.3.5 Management costs associated with the hosting and management of the Pooled Fund 
(including the costs of engaging the Pooled Fund Manager) as agreed in advance in 
writing and recorded in the minutes of  the Partnership Board, 

("Permitted Expenditure"). 

7.4 The Partners may only depart from the definition of Permitted Expenditure to include or exclude 
other revenue expenditure where both the approval of the Partnership Board and the express written 
agreement of each Partner has been provided. 

7.5 For the avoidance of doubt, monies held in the Pooled Fund may not be expended on Default 
Liabilities unless this is agreed by all Partners in accordance with Clause 7.4.  

7.6 Pursuant to this Agreement, the Partners agree to appoint the Council as Host Partner for each of 
the Pooled Funds set out in the Scheme Specifications save where the Partners expressly agree 
through the Partnership Board that a Partner other than the Host Partner shall be the Host Partner 
for specific Individual Schemes. The Host Partner shall be the Partner responsible for: 

153



14 
 

7.6.1 holding all monies contributed to the Pooled Fund on behalf of itself and the other 
Partners; 

7.6.2 providing the financial administrative systems for the Pooled Fund;  

7.6.3 appointing the Pooled Fund Manager; and 

7.6.4 ensuring that the Pooled Fund Manager complies with its obligations under this 
Agreement. 

8 POOLED FUND MANAGEMENT 

8.1 When introducing a Pooled Fund, the Partners shall agree: 

8.1.1 which of the Partners shall act as Host Partner for the purposes of Regulations 7(4) and 
7(5) and shall provide the financial administrative systems for the Pooled Fund (across 
the Individual Schemes and their composite Services);  

8.1.2 which officer of the Host Partner shall act as the Pooled Fund Manager for the purposes 
of Regulation 7(4) of the Regulations. 

8.2 The Pooled Fund Manager shall have the following duties and responsibilities: 

8.2.1 the day to day operation and management of the Pooled Fund;  

8.2.2 ensuring that all expenditure from the Pooled Fund is in accordance with the provisions of 
this Agreement and the relevant Scheme Specification;  

8.2.3 maintaining an overview of all joint financial issues affecting the Partners in relation to the 
Services and the Pooled Fund;  

8.2.4 ensuring that full and proper records for accounting purposes are kept in respect of the 
Pooled Fund;  

8.2.5 reporting to the Partnership Board as required by the Partnership Board and the relevant 
Scheme Specification; 

8.2.6 ensuring action is taken to manage any projected Underspends or Overspends relating to 
the Pooled Fund in accordance with this Agreement; 

8.2.7 preparing and submitting to the Partnership Board, Partnership Board Quarterly Reports 
(or more frequent reports if required by the Partnership Board) and an annual return 
about the income and expenditure from the Pooled Fund together with such other 
information as may be required by the Partners and the Partnership Board to monitor the 
effectiveness of the Pooled Fund and to enable the Partners to complete their own 
financial accounts and returns. The Partners agree to provide all necessary information to 
the Pooled Fund Manager in time for the reporting requirements to be met including 
(without limitation) comply with any reporting requirements as may be required by 
relevant National Guidance;  

8.2.8 preparing and submitting reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board as may be required 
by it and any relevant National Guidance including (without limitation) supplying Quarterly 
Reports referred to in Clause 8.2.7 above to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

8.3 In carrying out their responsibilities as provided under Clause 8.2, the Pooled Fund Manager shall:  

8.3.1 have regard to National Guidance and the recommendations of the Partnership Board 
and shall be accountable to the Partners. 

154



15 
 

8.4 Unless otherwise agreed by the Partnership Board, there shall be no viring of funds between Pooled 
Funds or between Financial Contributions which are made in respect of Individual Schemes. 

9 NON POOLED FUNDS 

9.1 Any Financial Contributions agreed to be held within a Non Pooled Fund will be notionally held in a 
fund established for the purpose of commissioning that Service as set out in the relevant Scheme 
Specification.   For the avoidance of doubt, a Non Pooled Fund does not constitute a pooled fund for 
the purposes of Regulation 7 of the Partnership Regulations.  

9.2 When introducing a Non Pooled Fund in respect of an Individual Scheme, the Partners shall agree: 

9.2.1 which Partner if any shall host the Non-Pooled Fund; and 

9.2.2 how and when Financial Contributions shall be made to the Non-Pooled Fund. 

9.3 The Host Partner will be responsible for establishing the financial and administrative support 
necessary to enable the effective and efficient management of the Non-Pooled Fund, meeting all 
required accounting and auditing obligations. 

9.4 The Partners shall ensure that any Services commissioned using a Non Pooled Fund are 
commissioned solely in accordance with the relevant Scheme Specification. 

9.5 Where there are Joint (Aligned) Commissioning arrangements, the Partners shall work in 
cooperation and shall endeavour to ensure that: 

9.5.1 the NHS Functions funded from a Non-Pooled Fund are carried out within the relevant 
CCG’s Financial Contribution to the Non- Pooled Fund for the relevant Service in each 
Financial Year; and  

9.5.2 the Health Related Functions funded from a Non-Pooled Fund are carried out within the 
Council's Financial Contribution to the Non-Pooled Fund for the relevant Service in each 
Financial Year. 

10 FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS  

10.1 The Financial Contribution of the CCGs and the Council to any Pooled Fund or Non-Pooled Fund  
for the first Financial Year of the Term are set out in Schedule 3. 

10.2 The Financial Contributions of the respective Partners to any Pooled Fund or Non-Pooled Fund for 
each subsequent Financial Years will be as agreed by the Partners prior to the start of each 
Financial Year.  

10.3 Financial Contributions will be agreed as follows:-  

10.3.1 to reflect the resources required to deliver the agreed service models for the Services; 
and 

10.3.2 to reflect the National Guidance (including any funding requirements set out therein). 

10.4 Financial Contributions will be paid as set out in Schedule 3. 

10.5 With the exception of Clause 13, no provision of this Agreement shall preclude the Partners from 
making additional contributions of Non-Recurrent Payments to a Pooled Fund from time to time by 
mutual agreement.  Any such additional contributions of Non-Recurrent Payments shall be explicitly 
recorded in Partnership Board minutes and recorded in the budget statement as a separate item. 

 

155



16 
 

11 NON FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

11.1 Schedule 3 shall set out any non-financial contributions of each Partner including staff (including the 
Pooled Fund Manager), premises, IT support and other non-financial resources necessary to 
perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement (including, but not limited to, management of 
Service Contracts and the Pooled Fund). 

12 RISK SHARE ARRANGMENTS, OVERSPENDS AND UNDERSPENDS 

Risk share arrangements  

12.1 The Partners have agreed risk share arrangements as set out in Schedule 3, which provide for risk 
share arrangements arising within the commissioning of services from the Pooled Funds as set out 
in National Guidance.  

12.2 Subject to Clause 12.3, the Host Partner for of the relevant Pooled Fund shall manage its 
expenditure on the Individual Schemes within the Financial Contributions allocated to them, and 
shall ensure that the expenditure is limited to Permitted Expenditure. The Host Partner shall report 
its expenditure of Financial Contributions to the Pooled Fund Manager and shall notify the Pooled 
Fund Manager of potential and actual Overspends and Underspends.  

12.3 The Pooled Fund Manager shall not be in breach of its obligations under this Agreement if an 
Overspend occurs PROVIDED THAT it has used reasonable endeavours to ensure that the only 
expenditure from a Pooled Fund has been in accordance with Permitted Expenditure and it has 
informed the Partnership Board in accordance with Clause 12.4.   

12.4 In the event that the Pooled Fund Manager identifies or is notified of an actual or projected 
Overspend in relation to any Individual Scheme or Service, the Pooled Fund Manager must ensure 
that the Partnership Board is informed as soon as reasonably possible and the provisions of 
Schedule 3 shall apply. 

Overspends in Non Pooled Funds 

12.5 Where in Joint (Aligned) Commissioning Arrangements either Partner forecasts an Overspend in 
relation to a Partner’s Financial Contribution to a Non-Pooled Fund that Partner shall as soon as 
reasonably practicable inform the other Partners and the Partnership Board. 

12.6 Where there is a Lead Commissioning Arrangement the Lead Partner is responsible for the 
management of the Non-Pooled Fund. The Lead Partner shall as soon as reasonably practicable 
inform the other Partner and the Partnership Board.  

 Underspend 

12.7 In the event that expenditure (including monies committed to be spent) from any Pooled Fund or any 
Non Pooled Fund in any Financial Year is less than the aggregate value of the Financial 
Contributions made for that Financial Year the surplus monies shall be spent, in accordance with 
Schedule 3. Such arrangements shall be subject to the Law and the Standing Orders and Standing 
Financial Instructions (or equivalent) of the Partners. 

13 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 

13.1 Neither Pooled Funds nor Non-Pooled Funds shall normally be applied towards any one-off 
expenditure on goods and/or services, which will provide continuing benefit and would historically 
have been funded from the capital budgets of one of the Partners.  If a need for capital expenditure 
is identified this must be agreed by the Partners. 

13.2 The Partners agree that capital expenditure may be made from Pooled Funds where this is in 
accordance with National Guidance. 

156



17 
 

14 VAT 

14.1 The Partners shall implement the required treatment of each Pooled Fund for VAT purposes in 
accordance with any relevant guidance from HM Customs and Excise.  

14.2 Subject to Clause 14.1, Services commissioned by the Council will be subject the VAT regime of the 
Council and Services commissioned by the CCGs will be subject to the VAT regime of the National 
Health Service. 

15 AUDIT AND RIGHT OF ACCESS  

15.1 All Partners shall promote a culture of probity and sound financial discipline and control.  The Host 
Partner shall arrange for the audit of the accounts of the relevant Pooled Fund and shall require the 
appropriate person or body appointed to exercise the functions of the Audit Commission under 
section 28(1)(d) of the Audit Commission Act 1998, by virtue of an order made under section 49(5) of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to make arrangements to certify an annual return of 
those accounts under Section 28(1) of the Audit Commission Act 1998.  

15.2 All internal and external auditors and all other persons authorised by the Partners will be given the 
right of access by them to any document, information or explanation they require from any 
employee, member of the relevant Partner in order to carry out their duties. This right is not limited to 
financial information or accounting records and applies equally to premises or equipment used in 
connection with this Agreement. Where possible, any access that is required, shall be on reasonable 
notice to the Partners, however access may be at any time without notice, provided there is good 
cause for requiring access without notice. 

15.3 The Partners shall comply with relevant NHS finance and accounting obligations as required by 
relevant Law and/or National Guidance. 

16 LIABILITIES AND INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY  

16.1 Subject to Clause 16.2, and 16.3, if a Partner (“First Partner”) incurs a Loss arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement (including a Loss arising under an Individual Scheme or Services 
Contract) as a consequence of any act or omission of another Partner or Partners (“Other 
Partner(s)”) which constitutes negligence, fraud or a breach of contract in relation to this Agreement 
or any Services Contract then the Other Partner(s) shall be liable to the First Partner for that Loss 
and shall indemnify the First Partner accordingly.  

16.2 Clause 16.1 shall only apply to the extent that the acts or omissions of the Other Partner or Partners 
contributed to the relevant Loss. Furthermore, it shall not apply if such act or omission occurred as a 
consequence of the Other Partner or Partners acting in accordance with the instructions or requests 
of the First Partner or the Partnership Board.  

16.3 If any third party makes a claim or intimates an intention to make a claim against a Partner, which 
may reasonably be considered as likely to give rise to liability under this Clause 16, the Partner that 
may claim against the other indemnifying Partner(s) will: 

16.3.1 as soon as reasonably practicable give written notice of that matter to the Other Partner 
or Partners specifying in reasonable detail the nature of the relevant claim; 

16.3.2 not make any admission of liability, agreement or compromise in relation to the relevant 
claim without the prior written consent of the Other Partner or Partners (such consent not 
to be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed); 

16.3.3 give the Other Partner or Partners and its/their professional advisers reasonable access 
to its premises and personnel and to any relevant assets, accounts, documents and 
records within its power or control so as to enable the Indemnifying Partner and its 
professional advisers to examine such premises, assets, accounts, documents and 
records and to take copies at their own expense for the purpose of assessing the merits 
of, and if necessary defending, the relevant claim. 

157



18 
 

16.4 Each Partner shall ensure that it maintains policies of insurance (or equivalent arrangements through 
schemes operated by the National Health Service Litigation Authority) in respect of all potential 
liabilities arising from this Agreement and in the event of Losses shall seek to recover such Loss 
through the relevant policy of insurance (or equivalent arrangement). 

16.5 Each Partner shall at all times take all reasonable steps to minimise and mitigate any loss for which 
one party is entitled to bring a claim against the other pursuant to this Agreement. 

Conduct of Claims 
 

16.6 In respect of the indemnities given in this Clause 16: 

16.6.1 the indemnified Partner shall give written notice to the indemnifying Partner as soon as is 
practicable of the details of any claim or proceedings brought or threatened against it in 
respect of which a claim will or may be made under the relevant indemnity; 

16.6.2 the indemnifying Partner shall at its own expense have the exclusive right to defend 
conduct and/or settle all claims and proceedings to the extent that such claims or 
proceedings may be covered by the relevant indemnity provided that where there is an 
impact upon the indemnified Partner, the indemnifying Partner shall consult with the 
indemnified Partner about the conduct and/or settlement of such claims and proceedings 
and shall at all times keep the indemnified Partner informed of all material matters. 

16.6.3 the indemnifying and indemnified Partners shall each give to the other all such 
cooperation as may reasonably be required in connection with any threatened or actual 
claim or proceedings which are or may be covered by a relevant indemnity. 

17 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND SERVICE 

17.1 The Partners will at all times comply with Law and ensure good corporate governance in respect of 
each Partner (including the Partners’ respective Standing Orders and Standing Financial 
Instructions).  

17.2 The Council is subject to the duty of Best Value under the Local Government Act 1999.  This 
Agreement and the operation of the Pooled Fund is therefore subject to the Council’s obligations for 
Best Value and the other Partners will co-operate with all reasonable requests from the Council 
which the Council considers necessary in order to fulfil its Best Value obligations. 

17.3 The CCGs are subject to the CCG Statutory Duties and these incorporate a duty of clinical 
governance, which is a framework through which they are accountable for continuously improving 
the quality of its services and safeguarding high standards of care by creating an environment in 
which excellence in clinical care will flourish.  This Agreement and the operation of the Pooled  are 
therefore subject to ensuring compliance with the CCGs’ Statutory Duties and clinical governance 
obligations. 

17.4 The Partners are committed to an approach to equality and equal opportunities as represented in 
their respective policies.  The Partners will maintain and develop these policies as applied to service 
provision, with the aim of developing a joint strategy for all elements of the service. 

18 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

18.1 The Partners shall comply with the agreed policy for identifying and managing conflicts of interest as 
set out in Schedule 7 and with any statutory obligations applicable to any of the Partners (for 
example but not limited to statutory obligations of the CCGs pursuant to Clause 14O of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 and statutory guidance issued thereunder) . 

158



19 
 

19 GOVERNANCE 

19.1 Overall strategic oversight of partnership working between the Partners is vested in the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  The Integration Executive shall make recommendations to the Partners on behalf 
of the instructions of Health and Wellbeing Board and as to any action it considers necessary. 

19.2 The Partners have established a Partnership Board (known as the Integration, Finance and 
Performance Group) whose terms of reference and remit are set out in Schedule 2 (Governance). 

19.3 The Partnership Board is based on a joint working group structure.  Each member of the Partnership 
Board shall be an officer of one of the Partners and will have individual delegated responsibility from 
the Partner employing them to make decisions which enable the Partnership Board to carry out its 
objects, roles, duties and functions as set out in this Clause 19 and Schedule 2 

19.4 Each Partner has secured internal reporting arrangements to ensure the standards of accountability 
and probity required by each Partner's own statutory duties and organisation are complied with.   

19.5 The Health and Wellbeing Board is responsible for leading and directing work to improve the health 
and wellbeing of the population of Leicestershire through the development of improved and 
integrated health and social care services including the Better Care Fund.  

19.7 The Partnership Board shall be responsible for ensuring that the Better Care Fund Plan achieves its 
aims and outcomes within the Financial Contributions agreed by the Partners and shall operate in 
accordance with Schedule 2.  

19.6 Each Individual Scheme shall be overseen and reported upon in accordance with the governance 
arrangements set out in this Agreement except where alternative governance arrangements are 
specified in the relevant Scheme Specification. 

20 REVIEW  

20.1 The Partners shall produce a BCF Quarterly Report which shall be provided to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in such form and setting out such information as required by National Guidance and 
any additional information required by the Health and Wellbeing Board or National Health Service 
Commissioning Board (NHS England). 

20.2 Save where the Partnership Board agree alternative arrangements (including alternative 
frequencies) the Partners shall undertake: 

20.2.1 a review, at least annually of the operation of this Agreement; 

20.2.2 a Quarterly review of  Pooled Funds, and Non Pooled Funds; and  

20.2.3 a review of the provision of the Services within 3 Months of the end of each Financial 
Year. 

20.3 Subject to any variations to the review process required by the Partnership Board, reviews shall be 
conducted in good faith and, where applicable, in accordance with the governance arrangements set 
out in Schedule 2. 

20.4 The Partners shall within 20 Working Days of an annual review prepare a joint Annual Report 
documenting the matters referred to in this Clause 20.  A copy of the Annual Report shall be 
provided to the Partnership Board and the Integration Executive. 

20.5 In the event that the Partners fail to meet the requirements of the Better Care Fund Plan and NHS 
England the Partners shall provide full co-operation with NHS England to agree a recovery plan. 

 

159



20 
 

21 COMPLAINTS 

21.1 The Partners’ own complaints procedures shall apply to this Agreement. The Partners agree to 
assist one another in the management of complaints arising from this Agreement or the provision of 
the Services.  

21.2 In deciding which Partner should deal with a complaint, the following should be taken into 
consideration: 

21.2.1 where a complaint wholly relates to one or more of the Council’s Health Related 
Functions it shall be dealt with in accordance with the statutory complaints procedure of 
the Council; 

21.2.2 where a complaint wholly relates to one or more of the CCG's NHS Functions, it shall be 
dealt with in accordance with the statutory complaints procedure of the relevant CCG; 

21.2.3 where a complaint relates partly to one or more of the Council’s Health Related Functions 
and partly to one or more of the CCG's NHS Functions then a joint response will be made 
to the complaint by the Council and the relevant CCG, in line with the local joint protocol; 

21.2.4 where a complaint cannot be handled in any way described above or relates to the 
operation of the arrangements made pursuant to this Agreement or the content of this 
Agreement, then the Partnership Board will set up a complaints subgroup to examine the 
complaint and recommend remedies. All complaints shall be reported to the Partnership 
Board. 

22 TERMINATION & DEFAULT  

22.1 This Agreement may be terminated by any Partner giving not less than 12 Months' notice in writing 
to terminate this Agreement provided that such termination shall not take effect prior to the 
termination or expiry of all Individual Schemes.  

22.2 Each Individual Scheme may be terminated in accordance with the terms set out in the relevant 
Scheme Specification provided that the Partners ensure that the Better Care Fund requirements 
continue to be met. 

22.3 If any Partner (“Relevant Partner”) fails to meet any of its obligations under this Agreement, the other 
Partners (acting jointly) may by notice require the Relevant Partner to take such reasonable action 
within a reasonable timescale as the other Partners may specify to rectify such failure.  Should the 
Relevant Partner fail to rectify such failure within such reasonable timescale, the matter shall be 
referred for resolution in accordance with Clause 23. 

22.4 Termination of this Agreement (whether by effluxion of time or otherwise) shall be without prejudice 
to the Partners’ rights in respect of any antecedent breach and any terms of this Agreement that 
expressly or by implication survive termination of this Agreement.   

22.5 In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Partners agree to cooperate to ensure an orderly 
wind down of their joint activities and to use their best endeavours to minimise disruption to the 
health and social care which is provided to the Service Users. 

22.6 Upon termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever the following shall apply: 

22.6.1 the Partners agree that they will work together and co-operate to ensure that the winding 
down and disaggregation of the integrated and joint activities to the separate 
responsibilities of the Partners is carried out smoothly and with as little disruption as 
possible to Service Users, employees, the Partners and third parties, so as to minimise 
costs and liabilities of each Partner in doing so; 

22.6.2 where either Partner has entered into a Service Contract in order to fulfil its obligations, 
pursuant to this Agreement, the term of which continues after the termination of this 

160



21 
 

Agreement, both Partners shall continue to contribute to the Contract Price in accordance 
with the agreed Financial Contribution for that Service prior to termination and will enter 
into all appropriate legal documentation required in respect of this; 

22.6.3 the Lead Partner shall make reasonable endeavours to amend or terminate a Service 
Contract (which shall for the avoidance of doubt not include any act or omission that 
would place the Lead Partner in breach of the Service Contract) where the other Partner 
requests the same in writing, provided that the Lead Partner shall not be required to 
make any payments to the Provider for such amendment or termination unless the 
Partners shall have agreed in advance who shall be responsible for any such payment; 

22.6.4 where a Service Contract held by a Lead Partner relates all or partially to services which 
relate to the other Partner's Functions then provided that the Service Contract allows, the 
other Partner may request that the Lead Partner assigns the Service Contract in whole or 
part upon the same terms mutatis mutandis as the original contract; 

22.6.5 the Partnership Board shall continue to operate for the purposes of functions associated 
with this Agreement for the remainder of any contracts and commitments relating to this 
Agreement; and 

22.7 Termination of this Agreement shall have no effect on the liability or any rights or remedies of the 
Partners already accrued, prior to the date upon which such termination takes effect.  

22.8 In the event of termination in relation to an Individual Scheme the provisions of Clause 22.6 shall 
apply mutatis mutandis in relation to the Individual Scheme (as though references as to this 
Agreement were to that Individual Scheme). 

23 DISPUTE RESOLUTION   

23.1 In the event of a dispute between the Partners arising out of this Agreement, a Partner may serve 
written notice of the dispute on any one or more of the other Partners, setting out full details of the 
dispute. For the avoidance of doubt, if one of the Partners is not involved in the dispute, that Partner 
shall also be required to be provided with a copy of the dispute notice and to be party to any dispute 
resolution proceedings under this Clause 23. 

23.2 The Authorised Officers of all of the Partners shall meet in good faith as soon as possible and in any 
event within seven (7) days of notice of the dispute being served pursuant to Clause 23.1, at a 
meeting convened for the purpose of resolving the dispute. 

23.3 If the dispute remains after the meeting detailed in Clause 23.2 has taken place, the Director of 
Adults & Communities for the Council and the Managing Directors of the respective CCGs or their 
nominees shall meet in good faith as soon as possible after the relevant meeting and in any event 
with fourteen (14) days of the date of the meeting, for the purpose of resolving the dispute. 

23.4 If the dispute remains after the meeting detailed in Clause 23.3 has taken place, then the Partners 
will attempt to settle such dispute by mediation in accordance with the CEDR Model Mediation 
Procedure or any other model mediation procedure as agreed by the Partners.  To initiate a 
mediation, either Partner may give notice in writing (a "Mediation Notice") to the other requesting 
mediation of the dispute and shall send a copy thereof to CEDR or an equivalent mediation 
organisation as agreed by the Partners asking them to nominate a mediator.  The mediation shall 
commence within twenty (20) Working Days of the Mediation Notice being served.  Neither Partner 
will terminate such mediation until each of them has made its opening presentation and the mediator 
has met each of them separately for at least one (1) hour.  Thereafter, paragraph 14 of the Model 
Mediation Procedure will apply (or the equivalent paragraph of any other model mediation procedure 
agreed by the Partners).  The Partners will co-operate with any person appointed as mediator, 
providing him with such information and other assistance as he shall require and will pay his costs as 
he shall determine or in the absence of such determination such costs will be shared equally. 

23.5 Nothing in the procedure set out in this Clause 23 shall in any way affect a Partner's right to 
terminate this Agreement in accordance with any of its terms or take immediate legal action. 

161



22 
 

24 FORCE MAJEURE 

24.1 No Partner shall be entitled to bring a claim for a breach of obligations under this Agreement by 
another Partner or incur any liability to another Partner for any losses or damages incurred by that 
Partner to the extent that a Force Majeure Event occurs and it is prevented from carrying out its 
obligations by that Force Majeure Event. 

24.2 On the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, the Affected Partner shall notify the other Partners as 
soon as practicable.  Such notification shall include details of the Force Majeure Event, including 
evidence of its effect on the obligations of the Affected Partner and any action proposed to mitigate 
its effect. 

24.3 As soon as practicable, following notification as detailed in Clause 24.2, the Partners shall consult 
with each other in good faith and use all best endeavours to agree appropriate terms to mitigate the 
effects of the Force Majeure Event and, subject to Clause 24.4, facilitate the continued performance 
of the Agreement. 

24.4 If the Force Majeure Event continues for a period of more than [sixty (60) days], a Partner shall have 
the right to terminate the Agreement by giving [fourteen (14) days] written notice of termination to the 
other Partners.  For the avoidance of doubt, no compensation shall be payable by any Partner as a 
direct consequence of this Agreement being terminated in accordance with this Clause. 

25 CONFIDENTIALITY   

25.1 In respect of any Confidential Information a Partner receives from another Partner (the "Discloser") 
and subject always to the remainder of this Clause 25, each Partner (the "Recipient”) undertakes to 
keep secret and strictly confidential and shall not disclose any such Confidential Information to any 
third party, without the Discloser’s prior written consent provided that: 

25.1.1 the Recipient shall not be prevented from using any general knowledge, experience or 
skills which were in its possession prior to the Commencement Date; and 

25.1.2 the provisions of this Clause 25 shall not apply to any Confidential Information which: 

(a) is in or enters the public domain other than by breach of the Agreement or other 
act or omission of the Recipient; or 

(b) is obtained from a third party who is lawfully authorised to disclose such 
information. 

25.2 Nothing in this Clause 25 shall prevent the Recipient from disclosing Confidential Information where 
it is required to do so in fulfilment of statutory obligations or by judicial, administrative, governmental 
or regulatory process in connection with any action, suit, proceedings or claim or otherwise by 
applicable Law. 

25.3 Each Partner:  

25.3.1 may only disclose Confidential Information to its employees and professional advisors to 
the extent strictly necessary for such employees to carry out their duties under the 
Agreement; and 

25.3.2 will ensure that, where Confidential Information is disclosed in accordance with Clause 
25.3.1, the recipient(s) of that information is made subject to a duty of confidentiality 
equivalent to that contained in this Clause 25; 

25.3.3 shall not use Confidential Information other than strictly for the performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement. 

26 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION REGULATIONS 

162



23 
 

26.1 The Partners agree that they will each cooperate with each other to enable any Partner receiving a 
request for information under the 2000 Act or the 2004 Regulations to respond to a request promptly 
and within the statutory timescales.  This cooperation shall include but not be limited to finding, 
retrieving and supplying information held, directing requests to other Partners as appropriate and 
responding to any requests by the Partner receiving a request for comments or other assistance. 

26.2 Any and all agreements between the Partners as to confidentiality shall be subject to their duties 
under the 2000 Act and 2004 Regulations.  No Partner shall be in breach of Clause 26 if it makes 
disclosures of information in accordance with the 2000 Act and/or 2004 Regulations. 

27 OMBUDSMEN 

The Partners will co-operate with any investigation undertaken by the Health Service Commissioner 
for England or the Local Government Commissioner for England (or both of them) in connection with 
this Agreement. 

28 INFORMATION SHARING 

The Partners will comply with the Information Sharing Protocol set out in Schedule 8, and in so doing 
will ensure that the operation of this Agreement complies with the Law, in particular the 1998 Act.  

29 NOTICES 

29.1 Any notice to be given under this Agreement shall either be delivered personally or sent by facsimile 
or sent by first class post or electronic mail.  The address for service of each Partner shall be as set 
out in Clause 29.3 or such other address as each Partner may previously have notified to the other 
Partner in writing.  A notice shall be deemed to have been served if: 

29.1.1 personally delivered, at the time of delivery;  

29.1.2 sent by facsimile, at the time of transmission; 

29.1.3 posted, at the expiration of forty eight (48) hours after the envelope containing the same 
was delivered into the custody of the postal authorities; and 

29.1.4 if sent by electronic mail, at the time of transmission and a telephone call must be made 
to the recipient informing the recipient that an electronic mail message has been sent to 
him (as evidenced by a contemporaneous note of the Partner sending the notice) and a 
hard copy of such notice is also sent by first class recorded delivery post (airmail if 
overseas) on the same day as that on which the electronic mail is sent. 

29.2 In proving such service, it shall be sufficient to prove that personal delivery was made, or that the 
envelope containing such notice was properly addressed and delivered into the custody of the postal 
authority as prepaid first class or airmail letter (as appropriate), or that the facsimile was transmitted 
on a tested line or that the correct transmission report was received from the facsimile machine 
sending the notice, or that the electronic mail was properly addressed and no message was received 
informing the sender that it had not been received by the recipient (as the case may be). 

29.3 The address for service of notices as referred to in Clause 29.1 shall be as follows unless otherwise 
notified to the other Partner in writing: 

29.3.1 if to the Council, addressed to The Director of Adults and Communities, County Hall, 
Glenfield. Leicestershire ;  

Tel:  0116 2323232 
Fax: 0116 3057440 
E.Mail: jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk  

 

163

mailto:jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk


24 
 

29.3.2 if to WLCCG, addressed to The Managing Director, 55 Woodgate, Loughborough, 
Leicestershire, LE11 2TZ;  

Tel:  01509 567700 
Fax: 01509  
E.Mail: toby.sanders@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk   
 

29.3.3 if to ELRCCG, addressed to The Managing Director, Room G30, Pen Lloyd Building, County 

Hall, Glenfield, Leicester, LE3 8TB. 

 
Tel:  0116 2955105 
Fax: 0116 
E.Mail: karen.english@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk        
 

29.4 The postholders set out in clauses 29.3.1, 29.3.2 and 29.3.3 shall be the Authorised Officers for the 
purposes of this Agreement, unless the Partners notify the other Partners in writing that they wish to 
change the designation of their Authorised Officer. Such notification shall constitute a variation 
pursuant to Clause 30.1 and shall be agreed by the Partners in writing.  

30 VARIATION  

30.1 No variations to this Agreement will be valid unless they are recorded in writing and signed for and 
on behalf of each of the Partners. 

31 CHANGE IN LAW 

31.1 The Partners shall ascertain, observe, perform and comply with all relevant Laws, and shall do and 
execute or cause to be done and executed all acts required to be done under or by virtue of any 
Laws.  

31.2 On the occurrence of any Change in Law, the Partners shall agree in good faith any amendment 
required to this Agreement as a result of the Change in Law subject to the Partners using all 
reasonable endeavours to mitigate the adverse effects of such Change in Law and taking all 
reasonable steps to minimise any increase in costs arising from such Change in Law. 

31.3 In the event of failure by the Partners to agree the relevant amendments to the Agreement (as 
appropriate), the Clause 23 (Dispute Resolution) shall apply. 

32 WAIVER 

No failure or delay by any Partner to exercise any right, power or remedy will operate as a waiver of 
it nor will any partial exercise preclude any further exercise of the same or of some other right to 
remedy. 

33 SEVERANCE 

If any provision of this Agreement, not being of a fundamental nature, shall be held to be illegal or 
unenforceable, the enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement shall not thereby be affected. 

34 ASSIGNMENT  AND SUB CONTRACTING 

The Partners shall not sub contract, assign or transfer the whole or any part of this Agreement, 
without the prior written consent of the other Partners, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed. This shall not apply to any assignment to a statutory successor of all or part of a Partner’s 
statutory functions. 

35 EXCLUSION OF PARTNERSHIP AND AGENCY 

164

mailto:toby.sanders@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk
mailto:karen.english@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk


25 
 

35.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall create or be deemed to create a partnership under the Partnership 
Act 1890 or the Limited Partnership Act 1907, a joint venture or the relationship of employer and 
employee between the Partners or render either Partner directly liable to any third party for the 
debts, liabilities or obligations of the other.   

35.2 Except as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement or where the context or any statutory 
provision otherwise necessarily requires, neither Partner will have authority to, or hold itself out as 
having authority to: 

35.2.1 act as an agent of the other; 

35.2.2 make any representations or give any warranties to third parties on behalf of or in respect 
of the other; or 

35.2.3 bind the other in any way. 

36 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 

Unless the right of enforcement is expressly provided, no third party shall have the right to pursue 
any right under this Contract pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 or 
otherwise. 

37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

37.1 The terms herein contained together with the contents of the Schedules constitute the complete 
agreement between the Partners with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all 
previous communications representations understandings and agreement and any representation 
promise or condition not incorporated herein shall not be binding on any Partner. 

37.2 No agreement or understanding varying or extending or pursuant to any of the terms or provisions 
hereof shall be binding upon any Partner unless in writing and signed by a duly authorised officer or 
representative of the Partners. 

38 COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts.  Any single counterpart or a set of 
counterparts executed, in either case, by all Partners shall constitute a full original of this Agreement 
for all purposes.  

39 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

39.1 This Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or 
formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of England and Wales. 

39.2 Subject to Clause 23 (Dispute Resolution), the Partners irrevocably agree that the courts of England 
and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and settle any action, suit, proceedings, dispute 
or claim, which may arises out of, or in connection with, this Agreement, its subject matter or 
formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims). 

  

165



26 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Agreement has been executed by the Partners on the date of this Agreement 
 
 
THE CORPORATE SEAL of 
LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  

)  

          )  
was hereunto affixed in the presence of: )  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executed as a deed for on behalf of  
WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
 
Authorised Signatory 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executed as a deed for on behalf of EAST 
LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
 
Authorised Signatory 

 
 
 
 

 
 

   
   
 
 
 
  

166



27 
 

SCHEDULE 1- PART 1 ARRANGEMENTS COMMON TO ALL INDIVIDUAL SCHEMES 

 
Unless the context otherwise requires, the defined terms used in this Part 1 shall have the meanings set out 
in the Agreement. 
 
The following will apply to the Scheme Specifications listed in Schedule 1 part 3, being the Individual 
Schemes set out in the Better Care Fund Plan 2017/2019 except where alternative arrangements have been 
expressly set out in a particular Scheme Specification. 
 
 
1 FUNDING 

Individual Schemes shall be funded from Financial Contributions made to the Pooled Fund in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement, provided that alternative funding arrangements may be put in place for an 
Individual Scheme if such alternative arrangements are expressly set out in the relevant Scheme 
Specification or agreed between the Partners.  
 
 
2 AIMS AND OUTCOMES  

Each Individual Scheme will specify the aims and outcomes for that Individual Scheme  
 
3 THE ARRANGEMENTS 

Unless otherwise expressly stated in an Individual Scheme, the Service will be commissioned by the Partner 
that has statutory responsibility for providing the Services which are the subject of the Individual Scheme and 
will be funded from Financial Contributions made to the Pooled Fund. 
 
 
4 FUNCTIONS 

The Health Related Functions or NHS Functions relevant to each Individual Scheme will be identified in that 
Scheme Specification.  Unless otherwise expressly stated, there will be no delegation of functions for the 
commissioning of Services in accordance with an Individual Scheme.  

 
5 SERVICES  

Where new Services are being commissioned they will be procured in accordance with EU procurement 
regulations and in accordance with the rules and standing orders of the Partner who is commissioning  those 
Services. 
 

 
6 ASSURANCE AND MONITORING  

The assurance framework and performance measures in relation to each Individual Scheme will be as 
specified in that Individual Scheme.  
 
Performance of Individual Schemes will be monitored and reported in accordance with Schedule 5. 
 
7 STAFF 

Where Council staff are to be made available to a CCG or vice versa in relation to an Individual Scheme  the 
terms on which such staff will be made available will be as specified in that Individual Scheme 
 
 
 
 

167



28 
 

8 INFORMATION SHARING AND COMMUNICATION 

 
The Partners will comply with the terms of the Information Sharing Protocol in Schedule 8 and will enter into 
information-sharing agreements in respect of each Individual Scheme as appropriate.  
 
9 DURATION AND EXIT STRATEGY 

9.1 The contractual arrangements for the variation or termination of Individual Schemes will include 
arrangements for: 

 
(a) maintaining continuity of Services; 

 
(b)  allocation and/or disposal of any equipment relating to the Individual Scheme; 

 
(c)  responsibility for debts and on-going contracts; 

 
9.2 No Partner will terminate an Individual Scheme without gaining prior approval from the other 

Partners.  No Partner will make any variations to an Individual Scheme that may have an impact on 
the health and care integration programme of the Better Care Fund Plan, without the prior agreement 
of the other Partners and prior consultation with the Integration Executive.  

 
9.3 Upon termination of the Individual Service, unless otherwise expressly stated in the Individual 

Scheme: 
 
 

(a) responsibility for any termination  of contractual arrangements with Service Providers as a 
result of the termination of the Individual Scheme and the consequences of such termination 
shall be the responsibility of the Partner or Partners who commissioned the Individual 
Scheme unless otherwise agreed by the other Partners; 

 
(b) the responsibility for  liabilities arising in relation to or out of or in connection with the 

termination of the Individual Scheme shall lie with the Partners or Partners with the 
responsibility for commissioning the Services . 
  

168



29 
 

PART 2 TEMPLATE SCHEME SPECIFICATION 

THIS TEMPLATE SHALL BE USED TO SET OUT THE TERMS OF ANY NEW INDIVIDUAL SCHEMES 
AGREED IN ACCORDANCE WITH CLAUSE 5.3 OF THE AGREEMENT 
 
TEMPLATE SCHEME SPECIFICATION  
 
Unless the context otherwise requires, the defined terms used in this Scheme Specification shall have the 
meanings set out in the Agreement. 
 
10 OVERVIEW OF INDIVIDUAL SCHEME 

 
Insert details including: 
 
(a) Name of the Individual Scheme 
(b) Relevant context and background information 
(c) Whether there are Pooled Funds: 
 
The Host Partner for Pooled Fund X is [   ] and the Pooled Fund Manager, being an officer of the Host 
Partner is [   ]  
 
 
11 AIMS AND OUTCOMES  

 
Insert agreed aims of the Individual Scheme 
 
12 THE ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Set out which of the following applies in relation to the Individual Scheme:  
 

(1) Lead Commissioning; 
(2) Integrated Commissioning; 
(3) Joint (Aligned) Commissioning;  
(4) the establishment of one or more Pooled Funds and/or Non Pooled Funds as may be 

required. 
 
13 FUNCTIONS 

 
Set out the Council’s Functions and the CCG’s Functions which are the subject of the Individual 
Scheme including where appropriate the delegation of such functions for the commissioning of the 
relevant service. 
 
Consider whether there are any exclusions from the standard functions included (see definition of 
NHS Functions and Council Health Related Functions) 

 
 
14 SERVICES  

What Services are going to be provided within this Scheme.  Are there contracts already in place? 
Are there any plans or agreed actions to change the Services? 
Who are the beneficiaries of the Services? 

1
 

15 COMMISSIONING, CONTRACTING, ACCESS 

                                                      
1
  This may be limited by service line –i.e. individuals with a   diagnosis of dementia. There is also a significant 

issue around individuals who are the responsibility of the local authority but  not the CCG and Vice versa 

169



30 
 

Commissioning Arrangements 
 
Set out what arrangements will be in place in relation to Lead Commissioning/Joint (Aligned) 
commissioning.  How will these arrangements work?  

 
 
 Contracting Arrangements 

Insert the following information about the Individual Scheme:  
 

(a) relevant contracts 

(b) arrangements for contracting.  Will terms be agreed by both partners or will the Lead 
Commissioner have authority to agree terms  

what contract management arrangements have been agreed?  
What happens if the Agreement terminates? Can the partner terminate the Contract in full/part? 
Can the Contract be assigned in full/part to the other Partner? 
 

 
 Access 

Set out details of the Service Users to whom the Individual Scheme relates.  How will individuals be 
assessed as eligible.  

 
 
16 FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

 
Financial Year 201…./201 
 

 CCG contribution  Council Contribution 

Non-Pooled Fund A     

Non-Pooled Fund B     

Non-Pooled Fund C     

Pooled Fund X     

Pooled Fund Y   

  
Financial Year 201…./201 
  

 CCG contribution  Council Contribution 

Non-Pooled Fund A     

Non-Pooled Fund B     

Non-Pooled Fund C     

Pooled Fund X     

Pooled Fund Y   

 
Financial resources in subsequent years to be determined in accordance with the Agreement 
 
17 FINANCIAL GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS  

 
[(1) As in the Agreement with the following changes: 

 

170



31 
 

(2)  Management of the Pooled Fund 
 

Are any amendments required to the Agreement in relation to the management of Pooled Fund 
Have the levels of contributions been agreed? 
How will changes to the levels of contributions be implemented? 
Have eligibility criteria been established? 
What are the rules about access to the pooled budget? 
Does the pooled fund manager require training? 
Have the pooled fund managers delegated powers been determined? 
Is there a protocol for disputes? 
 

(4) (3) Audit Arrangements 

 
What Audit arrangements are needed? 
Has an internal auditor been appointed? 
Who will liaise with/manage the auditors? 
Whose external audit regime will apply? 
 
(4) Financial Management  
 
Which financial systems will be used? 
What monitoring arrangements are in place? 
Who will produce monitoring reports? 
Has the scale of contributions to the pool been agreed? 
What is the frequency of monitoring reports? 
What are the rules for managing overspends? 
Do budget managers have delegated powers to overspend? 
Will delegated powers allow underspends recurring or non-recurring, to 
be transferred between budgets? 
How will overspends and underspends be treated at year end? 
Will there be a facility to carry forward funds? 
How will pay and non pay inflation be financed? 
Will a contingency reserve be maintained, and if so by whom? 
How will efficiency savings be managed? 
How will revenue and capital investment be managed? 
Who is responsible for means testing? 
Who will own capital assets? 
How will capital investments be financed? 
What management costs can legitimately be charged to pool? 
What re the arrangement for overheads? 
What will happen to the existing capital programme? 
What will happen on transfer where if resources exceed current liability 
(i.e. commitments exceed budget) immediate overspend secure? 
Has the calculation methodology for recharges been defined? 
What closure of accounts arrangement need to be applied?  

 
18 VAT 

 
Set out details of the treatment of VAT in respect of the Individual Service consider the following:  
 

 Which partner’s VAT regime will apply? 

 Is one partner acting as ‘agent’ for another? 

 Have partners confirmed the format of documentation, reporting and 

 accounting to be used? 
 
19 [GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE INDIVIDUAL SCHEME 

 

171



32 
 

Will there be a relevant Committee/Board/Group that reviews this Individual Scheme? 
Who does that group report to? 
Who will report to that Group? 
 
Pending arrangements agreed in the Partnership Agreement, including the role of the Health & Wellbeing 
Board, Partners to confirm any bespoke management arrangements for the Individual Scheme 
 
 
20 NON FINANCIAL RESOURCES 

 
Council contribution 
 

 Details   Charging arrangements
  

Comments 

Premises    

Assets and equipment    

Contracts     

Central support services    

  
CCG Contribution 
 

 Details   Charging arrangements
  

Comments 

Premises    

Assets and equipment    

Contracts     

Central support services    

 
21 STAFF 

 
Consider:  

 

 Who will employ the staff in the partnership? 

 Is a TUPE transfer secondment required? 

 How will staff increments be managed? 

 Have pension arrangements been considered? 
 
Council staff to be made available to the arrangements  
 
Please make it clear if these are staff that are transferring under TUPE to the CCG. 
 
If the staff are being seconded to the CCG this should be made clear 
 
CCG staff to be made available to the arrangements  
 
Please make it clear if these are staff that are transferring under TUPE to the Council. 
 
If the staff are being seconded to the Council this should be made clear. 
 
 
22 ASSURANCE AND MONITORING  

172



33 
 

Set out the assurance framework in relation to the Individual Scheme.  What are the arrangements for the 
management of performance?  Will this be through the agreed performance measures in relation to the 
Individual Scheme.  
In relation to the Better Care Fund you will need to include the relevant performance outcomes. Consider the 
following:  
 

 What is the overarching assurance framework in relation to the Individual Scheme? 

 Has a risk management strategy been drawn up? 

 Have performance measures been set up? 

 Who will monitor performance? 

 Have the form and frequency of monitoring information been agreed? 

 Who will provide the monitoring information? Who will receive it? 
 
23 LEAD OFFICERS 

 

Partner Name of Lead 
Officer 

Address Telephone 
Number 

Email 
Address 

Fax Number 

Council       

CCG      

          
 
24 INTERNAL APPROVALS 

 

 Consider the levels of authority from the Council’s Constitution and the CCG’s standing orders, 
scheme of delegation and standing financial instructions in relation to the Individual Scheme;  

 Consider the scope of authority of the Pool Manager and the Lead Officers 

 Has an agreement been approved by cabinet bodies and signed? 
 
25 RISK AND BENEFIT SHARE ARRANGEMENTS 

Has a risk management strategy been drawn up? 
Set out arrangements, if any, for the sharing of risk and benefit in relation to the Individual Scheme.  
 
26 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

 
Are there any regulatory requirements that should be noted in respect of this particular Individual Scheme?  
 
27 INFORMATION SHARING AND COMMUNICATION 

 
What are the information/data sharing arrangements? 

How will charges be managed (which should be referred to in Part 2 above) 
What data systems will be used? 
 

 Consultation – staff, people supported by the Partners, unions, providers, public, other agency 

Printed stationary 
 
 
28 DURATION AND EXIT STRATEGY 

What are the arrangements for the variation or termination of the Individual Scheme.  
Can part/all of the Individual Scheme be terminated on notice by a party?  Can part/all of the Individual 
Scheme be terminated as a result of breach by either Partner?  
What is the duration of these arrangements? 

173



34 
 

 
Set out what arrangements will apply upon termination of the Individual Service, including without limitation 
the following matters addressed in the main body of the Agreement 

 
i) (1) maintaining continuity of Services; 

 
ii) (2)  allocation and/or disposal of any equipment relating to the Individual Scheme; 

 
iii) (3)  responsibility for debts and on-going contracts; 

 
iv) (4)  responsibility for the continuance of contract arrangements with Service Providers 

(subject to the agreement of any Partner to continue contributing to the costs of the contract 
arrangements); 

 
v) (5)  where appropriate, the responsibility for the sharing of the liabilities incurred by the 

Partners with the responsibility for commissioning the Services and/or the Host Partners. 

 

 Consider also arrangements for dealing with premises, records, information sharing (and the 

connection with staffing provisions set out in the Agreement.   

 
29 OTHER PROVISIONS  

 
Consider, for example:  
 

 Any variations to the provisions of the Agreement 

 Bespoke arrangements for the treatment of records 

 Safeguarding arrangements 
  

174



35 
 

 
 
PART 3 AGREED INDVIDUAL SCHEMES  
 
  
 

BCF Expenditure 
Plan_2017-19.xls

 
 
 
  

175



36 
 

PART 3A – SCHEME SPECIFICATION FOR HART SERVICES    

 
 

SCHEME SPECIFICATION- HART SERVICES 

30 OVERVIEW OF INDIVIDUAL SERVICE 

 
HART is a Homecare Assessment and Reablement Team Service which is provided on an in house basis by 
the Council. The Council will provide the HART Services to the CCGs in accordance with this Scheme 
Specification and as such is referred to as the “provider” of those services.  
 
DEFINED TERMS 

The following definitions apply in this Scheme Specification:  

 Assigned IPRs: all Intellectual Property Rights (being Intellectual Property Rights other than 

Retained IPRs) developed by or on behalf of the Council in the provision of the Services. 

Business Day: a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in England when banks in 

London are open for business. 

Health Case Manager: means a person authorised by the CCGs to act as a Referrer and Assessor 

of Service Users on Pathway 2 to the HART Services as further defined in the HART Service 

Specification. 

Charges: the payments made from the Permitted Budget for the HART Services which shall be 

calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Finance Protocol (set out in Schedule 3 of this 

Agreement). 

HART Reablement Screening Tool: means the screening tool to be completed by the Health Case 

Manager or other health professional which will inform whether it is appropriate to Refer a patient to 

the HART team for receipt of the Services.  The screening tool may be replaced by another tool 

developed by the Partners from time to time, provided that the replacement of the tool and the 

details thereof have been agreed by the Partners in writing and signed by the Authorised Officers on 

behalf of the Partners to record their agreement. 

HART Staff: all persons employed or engaged by the Council or any of its Sub-contractors (included 

volunteers, agency workers, locums, casual or seconded staff) in the provision of the HART Services 

or any activity related to or connected with the provision of the HART Services 

Health & Social Care Protocol: means the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Health and Social 

Care Protocol (Revised 2014) as it might be amended or superseded from time to time 

HART Services: short term intensive reablement support in Service Users’ homes delivered by the 

Council HART Staff and as more particularly described in this Scheme Specification and which are 

the subject of an Order placed by the CCGs with the Council 

Intellectual Property Rights: all patents, rights to inventions, utility models, copyright and related 

rights, trademarks, service marks, trade, business and domain names, rights in trade dress or get-

up, rights in goodwill or to sue for passing off, unfair competition rights, rights in designs, rights in 

computer software, database rights, topography rights, rights in confidential information (including 

know-how and trade secrets) and any other intellectual property rights, in each case whether 

176



37 
 

registered or unregistered and including all applications for, and renewals or extensions of, such 

rights, and all similar or equivalent rights or forms of protection in any part of the world. 

Local Healthwatch: an organisation established under section 222 of the Local Government and 

Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

NHS: the National Health Service in England 

NICE Technology Appraisals: technology appraisals conducted by NICE in order to make 

recommendations on the use of drugs and other health technologies within the NHS 

Ordinary Residence: has the meaning given to it in the Care Act 2014 and associated guidance 

and “Ordinarily Resident” or “Ordinarily Resident” shall be construed accordingly 

Permitted Budget: means the Financial Contributions to the HART Services as set out in the 

Finance Protocol (at Schedule 3 of this Agreement). 

Reablement Plan: means the reablement Support  Plan agreed  

Referral Process: means the process by which Service Users are referred by each of the CCGs to 

the Council’s HART Staff pursuant to a Reablement Plan and Referred and Referral shall be 

construed accordingly.  The Referral Process is more particularly set out in the service specification 

embedded at paragraph 5 below.   

Regulatory or Supervisory Body: any statutory or other body having authority to issue guidance, 

standards or recommendations with which the parties or any of them must comply or to which they 

must or should have regard, including as applicable:  

The Care Quality Commission;  

the corporate body known as Monitor provided by section 61 of the Health and Social Care 

Act 2012; 

the Special Health Authority known as the National Health Service Trust Development 

Authority established under the NHS Trust Development Authority (Establishment and 

Constitution) Order 2012 (NHSTDA); 

The National Health Service Commissioning Board established by section 1H of the National 

Health Service Act 2006, also known as NHS England; 

the Department of Health or such other body superseding or replacing it; 

the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 

Healthwatch England 

Retained IPRs: all Intellectual Property Rights either owned by the Council or its third party licensors 

before the commencement of the provision of the HART Services by the Council or subsequently 

developed by or on behalf of the Council after the commencement of the provision of the HART 

Services by the Council other than in the provision of the Services except that such Intellectual 

Property Rights shall be Assigned IPRs where used by the Council in the provision of the HART 

Services.  

Service User:  A person resident in the administrative area of the county of Leicestershire who has 

been Referred to the Council by the CCGs 

177



38 
 

Support Plan: means the support plan prepared by the CCGs which specifies the Services required 

for a Service User as it may from time to time be reviewed and revised to reflect changes to the 

Service User’s needs 

 
31 AIMS AND OUTCOMES  

The Aims and Outcomes for the HART Services are set out on page 3 of the service specification embedded 
at paragraph 5 below. 
 
 
 
32 THE ARRANGEMENTS 

The Council shall act as provider of the HART Services which are commissioned by the CCG in exercise of 
NHS Functions related to continuing health care in a domiciliary setting. 
 
 
33 FUNCTIONS 

The HART Services are commissioned in exercise of the NHS Functions set out in Regulation 5 of 
the Regulations. There is no delegation of Functions from the CCGs to the Council. 

 
34 SERVICES  

 
 
In addition to the obligations set out at Clause 17 of the Agreement in respect of Standards of 
Conduct and Service, the Partners agree, in view that the Council is the in house provider of the 
HART Services, that the Council shall comply with the following provisions: 

5.1 Council Obligations 

5.1.1 In supplying the HART Services, the Council shall (and in accordance with the  embedded service 

specification in this paragraph 5): 

(a) Ensure that the provision of the HART Services is consistent with the Service User’s needs 

as identified in the Referral Process; 

(b) perform the HART Services with the highest level of care, skill and diligence in accordance 

with best practice and appropriate clinical standards; 

(c) co-operate with the CCGs in all matters relating to the HART Services, and comply with all 

reasonable instructions of the CCGs; 

(d) use personnel who are suitably and appropriately registered, qualified, skilled, competent, 

experienced and appropriately trained in the application to the Service of the Health & Social 

Care Protocol and where revalidation is required by the appropriate professional regulatory 

body this is completed to perform tasks assigned to them, and in sufficient number to ensure 

that the Council's obligations are fulfilled and are covered by the Council’s (and/or any 

HART Service 
Specification Final.docx (10.6.16).pdf

178



39 
 

subcontractor that is approved by the CCGs) indemnity arrangements for the provision of the 

HART Services; 

(e) ensure that it obtains, and maintains all consents, licences and permissions (statutory, 

regulatory, contractual or otherwise) it may require and which are necessary to enable it to 

comply with its obligations; 

(f) comply where applicable with the registration and regulatory compliance guidance of any 

relevant Regulatory or Supervisory Body and any standards and recommendations issued 

from time to time by any such Body; 

(g) comply with the standards and recommendations issued from time to time by any relevant 

professional body and agreed in writing between the CCGs and the Council; 

(h) comply, where applicable, with the recommendations contained in the NICE Technology 

Appraisals and have regard to other guidance issued by NICE from time to time; 

(i) respond to any reports and recommendations made by Local Healthwatch; 

(j) ensure that the HART Services conform with all descriptions and specifications set out in this 

Scheme Specification; 

(k) ensure that the Services are carried out so as to meet the Service User’s outcomes as 

identified in the Service User’s Reablement Plan;  

(l) provide all equipment, tools, vehicles and other items required to provide the Services; 

(m) ensure that all staff using equipment in the delivery of the HART Services and all Service 

Users and carers using equipment independently as part of the Service User’s care or 

treatment have received appropriate and adequate training and have been assessed as 

competent in the use of that equipment; 

(n) ensure that all goods, materials, standards and techniques used in providing the HART 

Services are of an acceptable standard; 

(o) observe all health and safety rules and regulations and any other reasonable security 

requirements that apply in respect of the HART Services; 

(p) not knowingly do or omit to do anything which may cause the CCGs to lose any licence, 

authority, consent or permission on which they rely for the purposes of conducting their 

business;  

(q) not knowingly do or omit to do anything which may constitute, cause or contribute to any 

breach by the CCGs of any licence or contract binding on the CCGs; and 

(r) comply with the CCGs’ policies on the use of their logo and branding and where applicable 

comply with the applicable NHS Branding Guidance which is available at 

www.nhsidentity.nhs.uk. 

5.1.2  The Council shall comply with such of the CCGs’ policies and procedures as are  relevant and are 

specifically brought to the attention of the Council in the provision of  the HART Services and with any 

relevant statute, regulations, circulars or guidance made under any relevant statute.  In particular, the 

Council shall: 

179



40 
 

(s) comply with the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and of any other Acts Regulations or 

Orders pertaining to the health and safety of employees; 

(t) comply with the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and the Water Resources Act 1991 and 

other environmental legislation; 

(u) use reasonable endeavours to reduce the environmental impact of the HART Services and 

will implement and maintain systems deigned to ensure good environmental practice 

including compliance with any relevant British Standards or European equivalents; 

(v) have regard at all times to the welfare of children and vulnerable members of society; 

(w) comply with the Council’s policies relating to the protection of children and vulnerable 

members of society; 

(x) comply with relevant provisions of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the Health & Social 

Care Act 2008 (including but not limited to the duty of candour); 

(y) have regard to and do all that is reasonable to prevent crime and disorder in the community; 

(z) comply with the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 and develop a whistle blowing policy for 

its staff to encourage them to report any incidents of malpractice within the Service; and  

(aa) comply with relevant legislation concerning the use of vehicles on the public highway. 

5.1.3  The Council shall develop and continuously review Business Continuity Plans to  minimise the 

impact of unforeseen events in connection with the HART Services  including in respect of: 

(bb) damage by fire 

(cc) the effects of extreme weather conditions 

(dd) the effects of pandemic illness on staff or Service Users 

(ee) other failures affecting buildings, utilities or equipment (including ICT equipment)  

5.1.4  Where the provision of the HART Services requires the operation of vehicles the  Council shall 

ensure that it complies with all relevant legislation.  It  shall also ensure  that all vehicles used in the 

provision of the Services (whether or not they are owned by the Council) are adequately serviced and 

maintained and that management, monitoring and risk management procedures are in place in order to 

guarantee safe working practices.  

5.1.5 The Council shall ensure that all staff and volunteers providing the HART Services are aware of the 

provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998(as amended) and shall take all reasonable steps and precautions 

to ensure that it does not infringe the human rights of any person (including Service Users) in the provision 

of the Services. 

5.1.6 The Council shall co-operate fully with the authorised representative of the relevant 

 Healthwatch who from time to time may wish to visit the Council in the exercise of its powers under 

the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 as amended and the Local Authorities 

(Public Health Functions and Entry to  Premises by Local Healthwatch Representatives) Regulations 2013 

 
The CCGs agree that they shall comply with the following provisions in order to assist the Council 
with the delivery of the HART Services: 

180



41 
 

5.5 . The CCGs’ Obligations 

5.5.1 The CCGs shall cooperate with the Council and provide such information and assistance to the 

Council’s Staff as the Council may reasonably request in order to facilitate the smooth 

implementation of Reablement Plans. 

5.5.2 The CCGs shall provide such access to their data, and other facilities as may reasonably be 

requested by the Council and agreed with the CCGs in writing in advance, for the purposes of the 

Services;  

5.5.3 The CCGs shall inform the Council of all health and safety rules and regulations and any other 

reasonable security requirements that apply in respect of any Referral. 

5.5.4 The CCGs shall ensure that any person making a Referral is trained to use the HART Reablement 

Screening Tool and uses it appropriately as part of the Referral process 

5.5.5 The CCGs shall ensure that each Service User to be Referred is assigned a named Health Case 

Manager who is responsible for liaising with HART Staff and who is authorised to take responsibility 

for clinical matters 

5.5.6 The CCGs shall monitor the number of hours of care Referred to ensure that the cost of Referrals 

does not exceed the Financial Contributions of ELRCCG or WLCCG. 

 
35 COMMISSIONING, CONTRACTING, ACCESS 

The CCGs will commission the HART Services from the Council who shall act as in house provider of the 

HART Services in accordance with the terms of this Scheme Specification. Further details of access for the 

HART Services are set out in the specification embedded at paragraph 5 above. 

ELR CCG will act as co-ordinating commissioner on behalf of WL CCG in respect of the HART Services.  

Access 

At the date of writing of this Scheme Specification, the Partners are working together to finalise the details of 

the Referrals Process with which they shall be required to comply in respect of the HART Services. Once 

finalised, details of the Referrals Process shall be recorded in writing and signed by the Authorised Officers 

on behalf of the Partners to record their agreement to them  

The following provisions will apply in respect of Service Users who are not already resident in the 

administrative area of Leicestershire: 

The CCGs may from time to time seek to Refer a Service User who is not Ordinarily Resident in the 

administrative area of Leicestershire.  In those circumstances, the provisions relating to ‘population’ set out 

in paragraph 5 of the HART Service Specification (embedded at paragraph 5 above) shall apply and the 

Council may accept or decline such Referral provided that in determining whether to accept the Referral the 

Council will have regard to the following principles: 

181



42 
 

(ff) All Service Users who are Ordinarily Resident in the administrative areas of 

Leicestershire, Leicester City or Rutland (LLR) who require the Services should 

receive an effective and timely response 

(gg) The Council and the CCGs should work together to ensure that Service Users’ 

health and social care needs are addressed during the period of reablement. 

(hh) Arrangements for accessing reablement should be broadly consistent across LLR 

(ii) Responsibilities for which organisation commissions reablement services should be 

clear and straightforward, so that hospital staff know who should be referred, when 

they should be referred and where referrals should be made. 

(jj) No Service User should be denied a service because of disputes about which local 

authority or CCG is responsible for paying for care. 

 
36 FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

Please refer to the Finance Protocol at Schedule 3 of the Agreement in respect of the HART Services. 
 
Costs where CCG Financial Contributions exceeded: 
 
If the cost of Referrals (as defined in the specification embedded at paragraph 5 above)  
referable to either ELRCCG or WLCCG in any Financial Year exceeds that CCG’s Financial Contribution, the 
Council is not obliged to accept any further Referrals in that Financial Year of Service Users for whom the 
overspent CCG is responsible.    
 
37 FINANCIAL GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS  

Please refer to the Finance Protocol at Schedule 3 of the Agreement in respect of the HART Services.  
 
38 VAT 

All amounts payable by the CCGs to the Council in respect of HART Services are exclusive of amounts in 

respect of value added tax chargeable for the time being (VAT). Where any taxable supply for VAT purposes 

is made under an order by the Council to the CCGs, the CCGs shall, on receipt of a valid VAT invoice from 

the Council, pay to the Council such additional amounts in respect of VAT as are chargeable on the supply 

of the HART Services at the same time as payment is due for the supply of the HART Services 

 
39 GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS  

The terms of reference in [Schedule 2] shall apply to the HART Services 
 
 
40 NON FINANCIAL RESOURCES 

Details of Non Financial Resources to be committed to the HART Services are set out in the service 
specification embedded at paragraph 5 above.  
  
41 STAFF 

182



43 
 

12.1 The Council shall operate policies on personnel matters for both staff and volunteers.  These shall  

include appropriate arrangements for recruitment, checks for suitability, levels of qualification and/or 

experience for specific posts, registration requirements, appraisals, training and development, and 

supervisory (managerially and professionally), disciplinary and grievance procedures, having regard 

to the nature of the Services, copies of which must be provided to the CCGs on request. The Council 

shall ensure itself and its Staff and any subcontractors meet the obligations as detailed in these 

policies. 

12.2 Before the Council engages or employs any person in the provision of the Services,  or in any 

activity related to, or connected with, the provision of the Services, the  Council must without limitation, 

complete: 

(kk) the Employment Checks; and 

(ll) such other checks as required by the DBS. 

12.3 The Council must have policies and procedures which acknowledge and provide for  ongoing 

monitoring of Staff DBS status.  

12.4 The Council shall comply with the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (as if such Act  applied to 

the Council) and shall establish and where necessary update from time to  time a procedure for its 

personnel encouraging personnel to report to the Council any  incidents of malpractice within the Council 

or the CCGs.  In this context “malpractice”  shall include any fraud or financial irregularity, corruption, 

criminal offences, failure to  comply with any legal or regulatory obligation, endangering the health or 

safety of  any individual, endangering the environment, serious misconduct or serious financial 

 maladministration. 

. 
 
42 ASSURANCE AND MONITORING  

Details of the assurance and monitoring for the HART Services are set out in the specification embedded at 
paragraph 5 above.  
 
 
43 LEAD OFFICERS 

 

Partner Name of Lead 
Officer 

Address Telephone 
Number 

Email Address 

Council  Claire Jones County Hall 0116 
305773 

Claire.Jones@leics.gov.uk  

ELR 
CCG 

Simon Pizzey 
(Head of 
Strategy and 
Planning) 

G30, Pen Lloyd, 
County Council, 
Glenfield 

0116 
2953405 

 

Simon.Pizzey@eastleicestershir
eandrutlandccg.nhs.uk  

WL CCG Arlene Neville 55 Woodgate, 
Loughborough, 
Leicestershire, 
LE11 2TZ 

01509 
567720 

Arlene.Neville@westleicestershi
reandrutlandccg.nhs.uk  

          
 

183

mailto:Claire.Jones@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Simon.Pizzey@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk
mailto:Simon.Pizzey@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk
mailto:Arlene.Neville@westleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk
mailto:Arlene.Neville@westleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk


44 
 

44 INTERNAL APPROVALS 

This Individual Scheme has been approved in accordance with the lines of accountability described in the 
Agreement and in accordance with the Governance Arrangements.  
 
 
45 RISK AND BENEFIT SHARE ARRANGEMENTS 

[The Schedule 3] Financial Protocol shall apply to the HART Services 
 
46 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Regulatory Requirements are set out in the specification embedded at paragraph 5 above.  
 
 
47 INFORMATION SHARING AND COMMUNICATION 

[The Protocol at Schedule 8] of this Agreement will apply to the HART Services.  The Parties will comply with 
the requirements of the Information Sharing Agreement (and the requirement to have an Information Sharing 
Agreement in place), in respect of the HART Services. 
 
48 DURATION AND EXIT STRATEGY 

The provisions at [Clause 22] of the agreement will apply to the HART services. 
 
In the event of the termination of the HART Services, howsoever arising (including expiry), the Council shall 
be required to agree a Succession Plan with the CCGs.  
 
In addition to the obligations set out at [Clause 22.6] of the Agreement, the Partners agree that 6 months’ 
notice shall be given by the Council or the CCGs in the event that they wish or require to terminate the 
provision/commissioning (as appropriate) of the HART Services (except in the case of Force Majeure).  
 
49 OTHER PROVISIONS  

49.1 The Council shall not be permitted to sub contract its obligations to deliver the HART Services without 
the express written agreement of the CCGs. 

 
20.2 Unless otherwise specified, the Council shall retain ownership of all Retained IPRs and the CCGs 

shall own all Assigned IPRs (and the CCGs shall determine between themselves whether the title, 
rights and interests in the Assigned IPRs shall continue to be held by them jointly or shall be allocated 
between them, and shall determine any such allocation of the title, rights and interests between 
themselves) and shall grant to the Council an irrevocable, unrestricted  royalty-free licence to use the 
Assigned IPRs. 

 
 

184



45 
 

PART 3B – SCHEME SPECIFICTATION FOR  MENORRHAGIA SERVICES 

185



46 
 

Gynaecology Section 75 Schedule SCHEME SPECIFICATION 

Part 1 – Template Services Schedule 

 
TEMPLATE SERVICE SCHEDULE  
 
Unless the context otherwise requires, the defined terms used in this Scheme Specification shall have the 
meanings set out in the Agreement. 
 
1. OVERVIEW OF INDIVIDUAL SERVICE 

(a)  Provision, review and subsequent removal, of Levonorgestrel Intrauterine System (LNG-IUS) for 
gynaecological (non-contraceptive) purposes including management of menorrhagia and hormone 
replacement therapy (HRT)  
 
(b)  Local authority commissions provision of LNG-IUS fitting, review and removal on behalf of the 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). 
 
The Section 75 service has zero value pooled budget, the CCG will pay on a cost per case basis for each 
IUS fitted, reviewed or removed following a quarterly invoice from the local authority.  
 
2. AIMS AND OUTCOMES  

This agreement aims to provide the fitting and removal element of LNG-IUS for women requiring 
Levonorgestrel intrauterine system LNG-IUS fitting as management of menorrhagia or other gynaecological 
purpose such as HRT, endometriosis etc, where clinically relevant, thus reducing the requirement for 
hysterectomy.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The (LNG-IUS) is an intrauterine, long-term progestogen-only method of contraception licensed for 5 years 
of use. The effects of the LNG-IUS are local and hormonal, including prevention of endometrial proliferation 
and thickening of cervical mucus and suppression of ovulation in a small minority of women. The system has 
to be fitted and removed by a qualified practitioner. As well as being licensed as a contraceptive device, the 
LNG-IUS is also licensed for the management of idiopathic menorrhagia. 
 
Menorrhagia / Heavy menstrual bleeding is defined as excessive menstrual blood loss which interferes with 
the woman’s physical, emotional, social and material quality of life, and which can occur alone or in 
combination with other symptoms. Any intervention should aim to improve quality of life measures. The 
Levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system (LNG-IUS) is recommended as first line treatment for women 
with heavy menstrual bleeding and no underlying pathology (dysfunctional uterine bleeding) and in some 
women with heavy menstrual bleeding and identified benign pathology such as small fibroids (less than 3 cm 
in diameter which are causing no distortion of the uterine cavity) provided that long-term use is anticipated 
(at least 12 months). The LNG-IUS may also be recommended, following gynaecological investigation, for 
the management of conditions such as endometriosis. 

2
                                                                                                                                     

 
Evidence from two systematic reviews and one subsequent publication shows that LNG-IUS produces a 
clinically relevant reduction in menstrual blood loss in women complaining of heavy menstrual bleeding. 
https://www.fsrh.org/standards-and-guidance/documents/cec-ceu-guidance-womenover40-jul-2010/ 
 
Local defined outcomes 

 Reduction in secondary care referrals to gynaecology (in particular for menorrhagia) 
 Reduction in number of hysterectomies 
 Improved uptake of long-acting reversible contraception (LARC) 

                                                      
2
 Heavy menstrual bleeding: assessment and management. Clinical guideline. National Institute for Health and Care 

Excellence. 2007. Last updated August 2016.  
 

186

https://www.fsrh.org/standards-and-guidance/documents/cec-ceu-guidance-womenover40-jul-2010/


47 
 

 Reduction in unplanned pregnancies 
 Improved quality of life for women receiving the LNG-IUS 
 Locally convenient service with improved access to care and reduced waiting times for LNG-IUS 

fitting 
 Improved quality of care 

 
3. THE ARRANGEMENTS 

Leicestershire County Council will provide a lead commissioning arrangement for the CCGs, ensuring 
access to the service within the integrated sexual health service and community based contracts.  
 
4. FUNCTIONS 

The 2012 Health and Social Care Act created fragmentation across the sexual health commissioning 
system. Local Authorities are responsible for commissioning coils (intrauterine devices (IUDs) and 
intrauterine systems (IUSs) for contraceptive purposes and CCGs are responsible for commissioning IUS for 
non-contraceptive/gynaecological purposes such as for menorrhagia. 
 
The fitting of IUSs for either purpose must be delivered within the same clinical guidelines, quality and 
service standards, including insertion by appropriately trained/qualified practitioners. Therefore, the CCGs 
will delegate the function for IUS fitting, review and removal for gynaecological, non-contraceptive purposes 
to Local Authorities to deliver as combined contraceptive and non-contraceptive services. This enables 
better use of resources and improved access for women.  
 
Contract management and clinical governance arrangements will be led by the local authority as part of their 
existing contracts. Performance and financial monitoring of this schedule will be undertaken through the 
quarterly Integrated Finance and Performance meetings which are part of the Integration Executive’s 
governance arrangements. CCGs will be provided with quarterly performance reports, results of the annual 
LARC audits and informed of any clinical governance issues/ risks relating to the service as required. CCGs 
will be required to pay for the reconciled quarterly activity on a cost per case basis within 30 days of 
receiving the invoice.  
 
5. SERVICES  
To deliver the delegated service, contract variations are needed to extend the Local Authority commissioned 
integrated sexual health service and community-based services for IUS to include provision of IUS for non-
contraceptive purposes. (Current services are only commissioned to provide IUS’s for contraceptive use.) 
 
The Service(s) will be required to: 
 

 Ensure all clinicians delivering the service are fully qualified including having up to date Letter 
of Competencies in IUD/S fitting.  

 Fit, review and remove LNG-IUS as appropriate for the management of menorrhagia or other 
gynaecological purposes. This includes confirming the woman is not pregnant at time of IUS fitting.  

 Maintain an up-to-date register of patients fitted with an LNG-IUS. This will include the name of 
the clinician and details of the device fitted. This is to be used for the annual audit purposes as well 
as call and recall. 

 Provide adequate equipment. Certain special equipment is required for fitting and removal. This 
includes an appropriate treatment room fitted with a couch and with adequate space, emergency 
equipment and drugs for resuscitation. For LNG-IUS fittings, a variety of vaginal specula, (and if 
skills allow cervical dilators, and equipment for cervical anaesthesia) need to be available and meet 
sterilisation requirements. Women should be informed about the availability of local anaesthesia and 
offered where possible. An appropriately trained assistant also needs to be present in the building to 
support the patient and assist the doctor during LNG-IUS procedures if required. 

 Undertake a risk assessment. To assess the need for sexually transmitted infection (STI) or HIV 
testing and advice.  

 Assessment and follow up in accordance with national clinical guidelines. 
 Wait times. Patients will be seen within 6 weeks of referral. Patients seen outside of this timescale 

to be reported to the contract manager by exception. GPs of patients who cannot be seen within the 
6 week period should be notified. 

 

187



48 
 

Follow-up arrangements: 
Patient information and follow-up arrangements include: 
 

 Appropriate verbal and written information, about the effectiveness, duration of use and side effects 
of all options for the management of menorrhagia, should be provided at the time of counselling and 
reinforced at fitting with information on follow up, effectiveness, duration of use, side effects and 
those symptoms that require urgent assessment. 
 

 All women should be advised to seek immediate medical advice if they develop symptoms of fever, 
pelvic pain, irregular bleeding or vaginal discharge which might indicate infection. Arrangements 
should be in place to review patients experiencing problems in a timely fashion and to provide 
information and treatment. 
 

 All women should be advised to seek medical advice if threads are not palpable or they can feel the 
stem of the IUS. 
 

 A routine follow up visit can be advised after the first menses following insertion of LNG-IUS, or 3-6 
weeks later. However, this is not essential and it is more important to advise women as to signs and 
symptoms of infection, perforation and expulsion, returning if they have any problems relating 
specifically to the intrauterine method. 
 

 Follow up that does not relate specifically to the insertion of the LNG-IUS i.e. related to the overall 
gynaecological condition is not included in this agreement. This remains part of the general 
GMS/PMS contract. 

 
All the above should be recorded in the patient record. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

188



49 
 

Algorithm for use of LNG-IUS for management of gynaecological conditions such as menorrhagia 

 
Applicable national standards  
 

 NICE clinical guideline 44 (January 2007. Last updated August 2016) Heavy Menstrual Bleeding: 
assessment and management. 

 Referral guidelines for suspected cancer – gynaecological cancers (Implemented Oct 2000 DOH)  
 NICE (2005a) Referral guidelines for suspected cancer: quick reference guide. Clinical guideline 27. 

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence.  
 NICE (2005b) Long-acting reversible contraception (NICE guideline). National Institute for Health 

and Clinical Excellence.  
 NICE (2007a) Heavy menstrual bleeding: understanding NICE guidance. National Institute for Health 

and Clinical Excellence.  
 NICE (2007b) Audit criteria: heavy menstrual bleeding. National Institute for Health and Clinical 

Excellence.  
 RCOG (1998) The initial management of menorrhagia. Evidence-based clinical guidelines no.1. 

Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists.  
 FSRH (2009) UK medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use [Superseded]. Faculty of Family 

Planning and Reproductive Health Care.  
 NICE support for commissioning for heavy menstrual bleeding. (September 2013) 
 FSRH CEU Clinical Guidance Intrauterine Contraception. (2015) 

 
Applicable local standards 
The Provider shall demonstrate compliance with the following standards: 
 

 Healthcare professions providing the service must hold membership of an approved professional 
body and be approved and eligible to practice in a setting that is appropriate to deliver this 
service as detailed in the specification, including DBS check. 

 Device shall be inserted by appropriately trained/qualified practitioner as detailed in flowchart 
below. 

 Standards relevant to premises requirements including: 
 Appropriate CQC registrations must be in place 
 A procedure for cleaning of the environment must be in place based on national 

guidance and audited 
 Hand hygiene training of staff involved 
 Equipment cleaning protocol based on national guidance must be in place 

 The Provider shall cooperate in any announced and unannounced quality visits by the 
Commissioner. 

 Provider must meet all standards of overarching existing contracts.  

189



50 
 

Summary of training requirements for practitioners delivering IUS fitting/removal service. 
Y/TRAINING REQUIREMENT OPTIONS FOR PRACTITIONERS PROVIDING IUD/S 

 
 
Quality and Monitoring Requirements: 
Quarterly reporting (in arrears) of: 
 Number IUS inserted for  

o contraceptive purpose  
o gynaecological purposes  
o joint contraception/gynaecological purposes  

 
Annual reporting of: 
 Numbers of complex patients further referred from community based service providers onto gynaecology 

or integrated sexual health service. (based on audit returns) 
 Numbers of serious complications in community based services: e.g. perforations at time of insertion 

(based on audit returns) 
 Patient satisfaction surveys (Generic information in relation to the integrated sexual health service) 
 LARC audit for community based services practitioner providers. 
 
Beneficiaries: 
Beneficiaries are women residing or registered in Leicestershire that require IUS insertion for gynaecological, 
non-contraceptive purposes such as menorrhagia. 

 
 

6. COMMISSIONING, CONTRACTING, ACCESS 
Commissioning Arrangements 

 
Leicestershire County Council will provide a lead commissioning arrangement for the CCGs, ensuring 
access to the service within the integrated sexual health service and community based contracts.  
 
Contracting Arrangements 
Leicestershire County Council and Rutland County Council already commission IUD/S provision for 
contraceptive purposes from:  
 

a) General practices in their respective localities via community based contracts, including 
opportunity to deliver at Federation level and  

190



51 
 

b) Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Partnership Trust as part of the integrated sexual health service 
contract. This contract ends 31

st
 December 2018. The service will be re-procured to ensure 

continuity of sexual health service provision including IUS. 
 
Contract management and clinical governance arrangements will be led by the local authority as part of their 
existing contracts. Performance and financial monitoring of this schedule will be undertaken through the 
quarterly Integrated Finance and Performance meetings which are part of the Integration Executive’s 
governance arrangements. CCGs will be provided with quarterly performance reports, results of the annual 
LARC audits and informed of any clinical governance issues/ risks relating to the service as required. CCGs 
will be required to pay for the reconciled quarterly activity on a cost per case basis within 30 days of 
receiving the invoice.  
Either party can terminate the contract in full by providing 12 months formal written notice to the other party.  
All activity relating to this notice period would be invoiced by the local authority and need to be paid by the 
CCGs. Local Authorities would need to implement contract variations with the relevant providers within 10 
working days of receiving the notice.   

Access 
 

Referral will be via General Practice in order to ensure assessment and ongoing management of 
gynaecological issues which will not be included in this agreement. 
 
7. FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 
This schedule of the Section 75 has zero (£0) value, instead the CCG will pay on a cost per case basis for 
each IUS fitted, reviewed or removed following a quarterly invoice (in arrears)from the local authority. No 
pooled budget will be established between the CCG and local authority.  
The CCG will reimburse the local authority for IUS services for gynaecological purposes such as 
menorrhagia with costs split as follows: 
 

• IUS fitted for gynaecological purposes such as menorrhagia only are funded by East 
Leicestershire and Rutland CCG/ West Leicestershire CCG for patients registered /residing in 
their CCG locality. 

• IUD/S fitted for contraception only are funded by Leicestershire County Council (for patients 
resident in Leicestershire). 

• IUS fitted for joint gynaecological purposes (such as menorrhagia) and contraception purposes 
are funded on a 50/50 split between the CCG of residence/registered patient and Leicestershire 
County Council (for Leicestershire residents). 

 
 

The cost of each IUS fitting will 
be aligned with the local 
authority existing payment 
structures for the integrated 
sexual health service and 
community based service. 
CCGs will be informed of these 
on an annual basis. Current 
costs for 17/18 are: 

Community Based Service 
Contract 

Specialist Sexual Health 
Service Contract 

IUS Fit £81.31 £146.40 

IUS post-fitting review (if 
required in accordance with 
FSRH guidance) 

£21.69 £66.94 

Device cost (LNG-IUS) £81.44 Included in unit price of fit 

Complex fit/removal.  
(SRH Complex Tariff) 

N/A £220.38 

 

191



52 
 

The local authority will not charge the CCG for existing contract management, new quarterly performance 
reports and invoices. If additional work is needed this would need specific negotiation between the two 
parties.  
Initial data suggests that the cost to each CCG would not exceed £50,000 per annum. However, exact 
figures will be determined once the service is established.  
 
Financial resources in subsequent years to be determined in accordance with the Agreement 
 
8. FINANCIAL GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS  
There will be a zero based pooled fund for this schedule. The CCG will be charged on a cost per case basis 
on a quarterly basis in arrears following completion of the activity.  

 
Audit Arrangements 

 
The Public Health department within the local authority will provide: 
 

 Quarterly performance report detailing the number of IUS fits, reviews and removals by individual 
provider, the split of the cost (i.e. 100% or 50% CCG depending if also for contraception) 

 Quarterly invoice for the activity in the previous quarter 

 Annual LARC audit summary report for CBS service providers detailing the number of LARC fitters, their 
qualifications, complication rates and action taken. (Dependent on timely submission of completed audits 
from CBS providers) 

 
These reports will be reported via the quarterly Integrated Finance and Performance meetings which are part 
of the Integration Executive’s governance arrangements.  
 
9. VAT 
The local authority VAT regime will apply. 
 
10. GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS  
The schedule will be managed through the quarterly Integrated Finance and Performance meetings which 
are part of the Integration Executive’s governance arrangements. Lead officers are named in Section 14.  
11. NON FINANCIAL RESOURCES 
Council contribution 
 

 Details   Charging arrangements
3

  
Comments 

Premises    

Assets and equipment    

Contracts  Integrated sexual health 
service 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community based 
contracts for IUD/S and 
SDI 

Recharge on cost per case 
basis as described in 7.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recharge on cost per case 
basis as described in 7. 

New service will be 
re-procured for 
January 2019. It is 
expected that the 
current section 75 
arrangement would 
be applicable to any 
new sexual health 
provider.  

Central support services Contract management, No charge. Will be Additional work 

                                                      
3
  Are these to be provided free of charge or is there to a charge made to a relevant fund. Where there are aligned 

budgets any recharge will need to be allocated between the CCG Budget and the Council Budget on such a 
basis that there is no “mixing” of resources 

192



53 
 

 Details   Charging arrangements
3

  
Comments 

development of 
standardised quarterly 
performance report, 
invoice and copy of 
annual LARC audit.  

absorbed within existing 
Public Health contract 
management process for 
the sexual health services. 

above these details 
would need ot be 
individually 
negotiated with the 
local authority.  

  
CCG Contribution 
 

 Details   Charging arrangements
4

  
Comments 

Premises    

Assets and equipment    

Contracts     

Central support services 

Commissioning support 
is required from the 
CCG to develop the 
section 75 and monitor 
progress.  

  

 
12. STAFF 
No staff will be transferring from either organisation. Representatives from each organisation are required to 
develop and maintain the performance monitoring arrangements of this schedule.  
 
13. ASSURANCE AND MONITORING  
Contract and assurance monitoring will be extended to include IUS fitting for menorrhagia/gynaecological 
purposes within the existing processes for the Public Health Community Based Contract and Specialist 
Integrated Sexual Health Service contracts. 
 
14. LEAD OFFICERS 
 

Partner Name of 
Lead 
Officer 

Address Telephone 
Number 

Email Address Fax Number 

Council  Mike 
Sandys 

 

 

 

Leicestershire 
County 
Council, 
County Hall, 
Glenfield, LE3 
8TB 

0116 305 
4259 

mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 0116 305 
3795   

CCG      

          
15. INTERNAL APPROVALS 
Developing a more coordinated approach to sexual health commissioning has already been approved at 
Leicestershire County Cabinet as part of the Sexual Health Strategy 2016-19 in April 2016. Papers available 
at http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4601&Ver=4 
 
 
 

                                                      
4
  Are these to be provided free of charge or is there to a charge made to a relevant fund. Where there are aligned 

budgets any recharge will need to be allocated between the CCG Budget and the Council Budget on such a 
basis that there is no “mixing” of resources 

193

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4601&Ver=4


54 
 

16. RISK AND BENEFIT SHARE ARRANGEMENTS 
Majority of the risks are managed as part of the existing local authority core public health business, due to 
the statutory responsibility to provide an open access sexual health service. The key risk is to the CCGs if 
activity levels are higher than predicted. This will be monitored on a quarterly basis and CCGs have the 
ability to provide the local authority 12 months’ notice if they wish to cease the arrangement.  
 
17. REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
All clinician’s providing the service must have an up to date letter of competency in IUS/D fitting, as detailed 
in the flowchart in section 5 above. This is managed as part of existing public health contract management.  
 
18. INFORMATION SHARING AND COMMUNICATION 
A four week stakeholder consultation (including CCGs, integrated sexual health provider, GPs, UHL 
gynaecology etc.) was completed from 13

th
 February to the 13

th
 March 2017, this suggested overall support 

for the schedule development. A summary of the consultation responses is available on request.  
 
Data reports will be developed using the existing provider structures (Pathway analytics for the integrated 
sexual health service and the community based service portal for primary care.)  
 
19. DURATION AND EXIT STRATEGY 
Either party can terminate the contract in full by providing 12 months formal written notice to the other party. 
All activity relating to this notice period would be invoiced by the local authority and need to be paid by the 
CCGs. Local Authorities would need to implement contract variations with the relevant providers within 10 
working days of receiving the notice. The schedule will be reviewed on an annual basis. 
   

194



55 
 

SCHEDULE 2– GOVERNANCE  

 

Part 1 – TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE PARTNERSHIP BOARD 
 

Partnership Board 

(A) The membership of the Partnership Board will be as follows: 

1) the finance director for the time being of NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning Group; 

or a deputy to be notified to the Partners in advance of any meeting; 

 the strategy and planning director (or equivalent) of NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland 
Clinical Commissioning Group: 

 or deputy to be notified to the Partners in advance of any meeting; 

1.1.2 the finance director for the time being of NHS West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group; 

or a deputy to be notified to the Partners in advance of any meeting; 

 the head of service integration and delivery (or equivalent) of NHS West Leicestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group; 

  or deputy to be notified to the Partners in advance of any meeting; 

1.1.3 the Section 151 Officer for the time being of the Council:  

or a deputy to be notified to the Partners in advance of any meeting; 

the assistant director for strategy and commissioning (adults and communities) of 
Leicestershire County Council; 

or a deputy to be notified to the Partners in advance of any meeting; 

1.2 At the first meeting of the Partnership Board the members will elect from their number, by unanimous 
agreement, a Chairperson.  Thereafter, there will be a re-election at the next meeting following each 
anniversary of the first meeting of the Partnership Board.  The Chairperson may vote but will not have 
a casting vote. 

1.3 To distinguish between the role of the Partnership Board and other health and social care integration 
groups, the Partnership Board will be more commonly referred to as the Integration Finance and 
Performance Group. 

Role of Partnership Board 

The Partnership Board shall: 

2) receive financial and activity information regarding the performance of the Individual 
Schemes in the Better Care Fund Plan on a Quarterly basis or at a frequency otherwise 
agreed between the Partners, and shall take decisions on the delivery of the Individual 
Schemes based on that information, provided that, no decision shall be taken or acted upon 
without prior consultation with the Integration Executive where such decision could have an 
impact on the delivery of the health and care integration programme as set out in the Better 
Care Fund Plan; 

195



56 
 

3) receive financial and activity information regarding the Help to Live at Home Service on a 
quarterly basis, or at a frequency otherwise agreed between the Partners. 

4) receive financial and activity information regarding the Learning Disabilities Pooled budget 
on a quarterly basis, or at a frequency otherwise agreed between the Partners. 

5) review the operation of Agreements under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 under the remit 
of the Partnership Board (such Agreements being listed at Schedule 1 to this Part 1) and 
make variations where appropriate, subject to any implications that would have an impact on 
the health and care integration programme being reported to the Integration Executive; 

6) review and agree at least annually a financial risk assessment in relation to services 
operated under a section 75 agreement and submit a report to the Integration Executive; 

7) agree such protocols and guidance as it may consider necessary in order to enable each 
Pooled Fund Manager to approve expenditure from a Pooled Fund; 

8) receive reports from and consider any recommendations from the Integration Executive. 

Accountability 

The Partnership Board shall operate within the lines of accountability set out in Part 2 of Schedule 2 
of this Agreement. 

Partnership Board Support 

The Partnership Board will be supported by officers from the Partners’ organisations, as may be agreed 
by the Partners from time to time. 

 

Meetings 

(B) The Partnership Board will meet at least Quarterly at a time to be agreed by the Partners. Each meeting 
will usually take place following receipt by the Partnership Board of each Quarterly report submitted by 
the Pooled Fund Manager, but may take place more frequently if the Partners so agree. 

(C) The quorum for meetings of the Partnership Board shall be a minimum of one representative from each 
of the Partner organisations. 

(D) Decisions of the Partnership Board shall be made unanimously.  Where unanimity is not reached then 
the item in question will in the first instance be referred to the next meeting of the Partnership Board. If 
no unanimity is reached on the second occasion it is discussed then the matter shall be escalated to 
the Authorised Officers.  If no agreement can be reached following escalation to the Authorised 
Officers, any Partner may invoke the Dispute Resolution procedure of the relevant section 75 
Agreement. 

5.4 A meeting of the Partnership Board cannot take place unless it is quorate.  In the event of inquoracy the 
Partners shall procure that the meeting will be re-convened within one month of the date of the 
inquoracy. 

5.5 Minutes of all decisions shall be kept by the Chairperson and copied to the Authorised Officers within 
seven (7)] days of every meeting. 

Delegated Authority 

Each member of the Partnership Board will have delegated authority from his/her Partner, through that 
Partner’s own governance structure and schemes of delegation, to take decisions relating to the 
management of the Individual Schemes and Pooled Fund.  These include, but are not limited to, 

196



57 
 

determining commitments which exceed or are reasonably likely to result in an Overspend provided that 
the members of the Partnership Board can only authorise commitments in accordance with the risk 
sharing arrangements set out in the relevant Agreement. 

7. Information and Reports 

The Pooled Fund Manager shall supply to the Partnership Board on a Quarterly basis with the financial 
and activity information required under the Agreement in relation to the operation of the Individual 
Schemes and the Pooled Fund. 

8. Post-termination 

The Partnership Board shall unless otherwise agreed by the Partners in writing continue to operate in 
accordance with this Schedule following any termination of this Agreement but shall endeavour to 
ensure that the benefits of any Service Contracts are received by the Partners in the same proportions 
as their respective contributions at the date of termination. 

  

197



58 
 

Part 2 to Schedule 2 – Lines of Accountability of Partnership Board 
 

 
 

 Role Responsible  

1 To lead and direct work to improve the health and 
wellbeing of the population of Leicestershire through the 
development of improved and integrated health and 
social care services including the Better Care Fund 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

2 To provide leadership, direction and assurance on 
behalf of Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board so 
that the vision for integrated health and care in 
Leicestershire is delivered, in line with national policy 
and local priorities including the management of 
Individual Schemes and services. 

Integration Executive 

3 To ensure that the Better Care Fund Plan achieves its 
aims and outcomes within the Financial Contributions 
agreed by the Partners and operating in accordance with 
its Terms of Reference 

Partnership Board 

4 To ensure that the Help to Live at Home Service 
achieves its aims and outcomes within the Financial 
Contributions agreed by Partners and operating in 
accordance with its Terms of Reference. 

Partnership Board 

 

 

 

 
 

 

198



59 
 

SCHEDULE 3 –  FINANCE PROTOCOL  

Part 1 
 
Statement on Financial Arrangements 
 
The Better Care Fund Plan will be enabled by a Pooled Fund.   
 
The Council will manage the Pooled Fund acting as Host Partner and engaging the Pooled Fund Manager in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  
 
The Financial Contributions to the Pooled Fund shall be made from the following funding streams and any 
other funding streams that may be made available to the Partners or any of them from time to time:  
 

 CCG Revenue Funding for the Better Care Fund 

 Disabled Facilities Grants 

 DCLG Funding for the Improved Better Care Fund  

Financial Contributions for 2017/18 

The Financial Contributions of each of the Partners for the Initial Term are more particularly set out in Table 

1 below: 

Table 1 Financial Contributions for 2017/18 
 

 NHS East 
Leicestershire and 

Rutland CCG 
 

NHS West 
Leicestershire CCG  

 

Leicestershire 
County Council  

Total 
 

CCG Minimum 
allocation 

£15,838,107 £20,843,463 Nil 36,681,570 

Additional CCG 
Allocation 

1,195,473 1,367,273 Nil 2,562,746 

Disabled Facilities 
Grant 

Nil Nil £3.349,869 £3,349,869 

IBCF 
(Comprehensive 
Spending Review 
2015) 

Nil Nil Nil Nil 

IBCF (Additional 
Adult Social Care 
Allocation Spring 
Budget 2017) 

Nil Nil £9,525,578 £9,525,578 

     

Total BCF Funding 17,033,580 22,210,736 12,875,447 52,119,763 

 
 
 
Financial Contributions for subsequent Financial Years will be agreed between the Partners in accordance 
with Clause 10 of the Agreement.    

 
Payments in respect of all Individual Schemes commissioned by the Partners from the Better Care Fund 
shall be made in accordance with the Agreement and this Schedule 3.   
 

199



60 
 

The cost of the operation of the Pooled Fund  will be as identified by the Council and as agreed by the 
Partners.  Pooled Fund operational costs and how they will be met will be set out in the Better Care Fund 
Spending Plan.  
 
The Pooled Fund Manager will be responsible for the day-to-day management of the Pooled Fund. At the 
date of this Agreement the Pooled Fund Manager is: 
 
Phil D’Mello 
Assistant Business Partner (Finance) 
Leicestershire County Council 
E-mail -Philip.D’Mello@leics.gov.uk 
Telephone - 0116 3058318229 
 
The Council undertakes to inform the CCGs if the identity of the Pooled Fund Manager is to change during 
the Term. 
 
Budget Setting 
 
The key budget setting deadlines for each Financial Year during the Term are set out below.  The timings 
are intended to ensure the strategic development of health and social care integration and that Individual 
Schemes are procured and signed off in a timely manner. 
 
October Financial Modelling to be undertaken to predict future financial commitments to be 

 funded from the Better Care Fund. 
 
November Proposed Better Care Fund spending plan to be discussed and agreed by the Partnership 

Board. 
 
January Better Care Fund Plans to Cabinet / Scrutiny committees (Council) 
 Better Care Fund Plans to CCG Boards 
 Better Care Fund Plan to the Integration Executive and the Leicestershire Health and 

Wellbeing Board   
 
February Final Council approval 
  Final CCG approval 
 
The above timeline shows where actions will take place and how recommendations on strategic 
development and investment from the Partnership Board will need to feed into the financial planning and 
processes of the CCGs and the Council. 
 
Each Partner will need to confirm the level of investment available for the Better Care Fund in each Financial 
Year of the Term.  The Partner responsible for commissioning each Individual Scheme will receive from the 
Pooled Fund the amount agreed for that Individual Scheme in the Better Care Fund Spending Plan, which 
will be used to procure the relevant Services as appropriate. 
 
The Better Care Fund Plan will include details of Individual Schemes that will be funded from the Better Care 
Fund.  Each Individual Scheme will be allocated a maximum budget within which Partners must work.  The 
Better Care Fund Plan will include analysis of the cost per Individual Scheme. 
 
Should the Partners agree not to continue to fund an Individual Scheme any liabilities or costs associated 
with its termination will be the liability of the Partner responsible for commissioning that Individual Scheme 
unless otherwise agreed by the Partnership Board. 
 
Inflationary pressures will be identified by the commissioning organisation and reported to the Pooled Fund 
Manager for inclusion into the Better Care Fund Spending Plan.   
 
If any Partner receives an allocation or grant part or all of which is specific to an Individual Scheme identified 
in this Agreement, the relevant Partner will pay the relevant part or all of those allocations or grants as 
appropriate to the Pooled Fund in addition to the sums that make up their agreed Financial Contributions to 
the Pooled Fund.   

200



61 
 

 
Non-recurrent Payments will be recognised as such and the commitments against them highlighted.  This is 
to reduce the risk of Non-recurrent budgets funding recurrent commitments and should this happen that all 
Partners are aware of the risk. 
 
Budgetary Control and Reporting 
 
The Pooled Fund Manager will administer the Pooled Fund in accordance with the budgetary control 
systems and other applicable financial procedures of the Council.  The relevant governance documents of 
the Council as Host Partner will be applied, save that the Council will only vire funds out of the Pooled Fund 
into its own funds with the prior agreement of all of the other Partners (for example but not limited to: in the 
circumstances where the Council is acting as a provider of Services pursuant to a Scheme Specification). 
 
The financial systems of the Council will be used to record and monitor income and expenditure. Financial 
and relevant budget reports will be provided to each Partner by the Council in respect of the Pooled Fund 
and the Individual Schemes in a format such that each of the other Partners is able to maintain and complete 
their financial records in accordance with the accounting and statutory requirements to which that Partner is 
subject.  The co-ordination of this information will be arranged by the Council with all Partners continuing to 
maintain records and supply detail as required in order to assist with completion of any Pooled Fund reports 
required pursuant to the Agreement. 
 
The content and frequency of Pooled Fund reports presented to the Partnership Board will be in accordance 
with Schedule 5. 
 
The Pooled Fund Manager will draw any actual or projected Under- or Overspend to the attention of the 

Partners as soon as reasonably possible, with reasons for the occurrence and options for the 
Partnership Board to consider.  Under and Overspends will be dealt with in accordance with this 
Schedule 3 

 
The Council will be responsible for the internal audit of the Pooled Fund.  Internal Auditors appointed 
by the CCGs will undertake reviews as part of an agreed annual work programme.  The Council’s 
external auditors will audit the operation of the Pooled Fund as part of their ongoing work 
programme. 

 

An annual memorandum of Account must be produced by the Council in accordance with Section 75 of the 
NHS Act 2006.  This will need to be incorporated into each Partner’s final accounts and fit with individual 
final accounts timetables.  The audit of the Memorandum of Account will be undertaken by the Council’s 
external auditors. 
 
Financial Risk Management and Sharing 
 
Only services included in the Better Care Fund Plan are subject to the financial risk management and 
sharing protocol. 
  
Financial Risk 
 
With the exception of the HART service and the Menorrhagia Service, overspends on each Individual 
Scheme included in the Better Care Fund Plan are the responsibility of the Partner responsible for 
commissioning that Individual Scheme and will not be funded from the Pooled Fund, unless agreed by all the 
Partners. 
 
Where Overspends on Individual Schemes have been agreed, these shall be funded from: 
  

1. Current Financial Year Underspend on other Individual Schemes funded through the Better Care 

Fund, or if there is no such Underspend;   

2. Agreed additional partner contributions at the time individual scheme overspends are agreed by 

Partnership Board. 

201



62 
 

The management of overspends relating to the HART service and the Menorrhagia Service is detailed in 

Part 2 of this Schedule 3.     

 
With the exception of the HART service and the Menorrhagia Service, underspends in respect of Individual 
Schemes from a Financial Year will: 
 

1. Be used to offset Overspends in other Individual Schemes where all Partners agree (unless the 

Underspend is as a result of a delay in the commencement of the provision of Services which will 

result in a financial commitment in the next Financial Year in respect of that Individual Scheme). 

Be returned to partners in proportions as agreed by Partnership Board and in accordance with National 

Guidance. 

The management of underspends in the HART service and the Menorrhagia Service is detailed in Part 2 of 

this Schedule 3.   

 

 
Payment of Pooled Fund Contributions 
 
The Council will invoice the CCGs for their contribution to the Pooled Fund in accordance with an agreement 
made at the beginning of each financial year for the amounts identified in the Better Care Fund Spending 
Plan..  The CCGs will each invoice the Council for sums due from the Pooled Fund which are to be paid to 
the CCGs to deliver the Individual Schemes for which they are respectively responsible as per the 
agreement.  Any changes to invoicing arrangements shall be agreed by the Partnership Board 
 
 
 

 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 

     

     

     

     

     

     

 
 

 

202



63 
 

Part 2 - Financial Risk Management and Risk Sharing of the HART Service 
  
Overarching Principles 
 

1. The following principles apply in relation to the management of the Pooled Fund for HART Services: 
 

I. The HART Service will be paid for from the Pooled Fund.  Payments will be calculated based on 
the numbers of hours of care delivered to Service Users Referred by each CCG.   

II. The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and the CCGs’ QIPP efficiency savings will not 
operate under a risk sharing basis, each Partner will manage this risk individually. 

 
Contributions to the Pooled Fund 
 

2. Contributions to the Pooled Fund in 2017/18 will be as set out in table 1 below: 
 
 
 

Table 1 
HART Reablement 2017/18 

NHS West 
Leicestershire 

Clinical 
Commissioning 

Group 

NHS East 
Leicestershire 

& Rutland 
Clinical 

Commissioning 
Group 

Leicestershire 
County 
Council 

Total 

Anticipated number of referrals 120 96 2,221 2,437 

Total reablement hours delivered  10,887 8,641 106,791 126,319 

Forecast Cost £403,810 £330,555 £4,084,738 £4,819,103 

Percentage Contribution 8.6% 6.8% 84.6% 100% 

 
2. Partner’s contributions into the Pooled Fund shall be reviewed and, where necessary, adjusted 

annually on 1
St

 April  or at a later date as agreed by the Partnership Board    
 

3. In order to manage costs effectively, and to ensure that there are no inappropriate Referrals into the 
HART Services, the CCGs will consistently apply the eligibility criteria (as set out in the Hospital 
Discharge Screening Tool) for the HART Services. 

 
4. The hourly rates used in calculating costs will be the actual cost of the Services. 

 
5. In 2017/18 the cost of the HART Services for WLCCG and ELRCCG respectively will be funded from 

the Better Care Fund.  The indicative contribution from the BCF will be: 
 

BCF funded cost of step down reablement services 

Financial Year  

NHS West 
Leicestershire 

Clinical 
Commissioning 

Group 

NHS East 
Leicestershire 

& Rutland 
Clinical 

Commissioning 
Group 

Total 

2017/18 £403,810 £330,555 £734,365 

 
 

6. Financial monitoring will be undertaken by the Council throughout the financial year and will report to 
CCGs details of: 

 Total hours delivered against planned volumes of activity. 

 Actual expenditure. 

 Forecast for the financial year based on trends. 

 Any forecast overspend or underspend in the reablement pool. 

203



64 
 

 Outcomes of assessment following the reablement episode. 
 

17. At the end of a financial year a reconciliation of expenditure in the Pooled Fund will be undertaken by 
the Council.  Unless otherwise agreed by all Partners, any overspends or underspends will be 
shared by Partners on the basis of their proportional contribution into the Pooled Fund as outlined in 
table 1. 

 
18. Each Partner will advise the other Partners at the earliest opportunity of any issues that will impact 

on the cost and/or volume of activity in the Pooled Fund. 
 
 
Financial Governance 
 

19. Financial aspects of the HART Services will be presented to and jointly assured by the Integration 
Finance and Performance Group. 

 
Financial Risk Management and Risk Sharing of the Menorrhagia Service 
 

20. The financial arrangements relating to the Menorrhagia Service will be separate from the BCF pool 
and the HART Risk Sharing Arrangements. The CCGs shall make payment for the Menorrhagia 
Services within [30] days of receipt of invoices from the County Council’s Public Health Directorate 
for the activity delivered in the previous quarter for the Menorrhagia Service.  The rates for the 
Menorrhagia Service will be as identified in the Scheme Specification for Menorrhagia Services set 
out in Schedule 1 Part 3B to this Agreement as they may be amended from time to time. 

204



65 
 

SCHEDULE 4– JOINT WORKING OBLIGATIONS 

Terminology used in this Schedule shall have the meaning attributed to it in the NHS Standard Contract save 
where this Agreement or the context requires otherwise. 
 
Where Lead Commissioning Arrangements are in place in respect of an Individual Scheme, the Partners 
shall agree which of provisions in Part 1 and Part 2 of this Schedule shall apply to that Individual Scheme 
and may agree further provisions. 
 
Where Lead Commissioning Arrangements are not in place in respect of an Individual Scheme, the 
provisions in Part 3 of this Schedule shall apply.  
 
 
 

– LEAD COMMISSIONER OBLIGATIONS  

 
1 The Lead Commissioner shall notify the other Partners if it receives or serves: 

1.1 a Change in Control Notice; 

1.2 a Notice of a Event of Force Majeure; 

1.3 a Contract Query; 

1.4 Exception Reports 

and provide copies of the same. 

2 The Lead Commissioner shall unless otherwise agreed provide the other Partners with copies of any 
and all: 

2.1 CQUIN Performance Reports; 

2.2 Monthly Activity Reports; 

2.3 Review Records; and 

2.4 Remedial Action Plans; 

2.5 JI Reports; 

2.6 Service Quality Performance Report; 

3 The Lead Commissioner shall consult with the other Partners before attending: 

3.1 an Activity Management Meeting; 

3.2 Contract Management Meeting; 

3.3 Review Meeting; 

and, to the extent the Service Contract permits, raise issues reasonably requested by a Partner at 
those meetings. 

4 The Lead Commissioner shall not: 

4.1 permanently or temporarily withhold or retain monies pursuant to the Withholding and Retaining of 
Payment Provisions; 

205



66 
 

4.2 vary any Provider Plans (excluding Remedial Action Plans); 

4.3 agree (or vary) the terms of a Joint Investigation or a Joint Action Plan; 

4.4 give any approvals under the Service Contract; 

4.5 agree to or propose any variation to the Service Contract (including any Schedule or Appendices); 

4.6 suspend all or part of the Services;  

4.7 serve any notice to terminate the Service Contract (in whole or in part); 

4.8 serve any notice; 

4.9 agree (or vary) the terms of a Succession Plan; 

without the prior approval of the other Partners (acting through the [JCB]) such approval not to be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

5 The Lead Commissioner shall advise the other Partners of any matter which has been referred for 
dispute and agree what (if any) matters will require the prior approval of one or more of the other 
Partners as part of that process.  

6 The Lead Commissioner shall notify the other Partners of the outcome of any Dispute that is agreed 
or determined by Dispute Resolution 

7 The Lead Commissioner shall share copies of any reports submitted by the Service Provider to the 
Lead Commissioner pursuant to the Service Contract (including audit reports)  

8 [INSERT] 

 – OBLIGATIONS OF THE OTHER PARTNER  

 
9 Each Partner shall (at its own cost) provide such cooperation, assistance and support to the Lead 

Commissioner (including the provision of data and other information) as is reasonably necessary to 
enable the Lead Commissioner to: 

9.1 resolve disputes pursuant to a Service Contract; 

9.2 comply with its obligations pursuant to a Service Contract and this Agreement; 

9.3 ensure continuity and a smooth transfer of any Services that have been suspended, expired or 
terminated pursuant to the terms of the relevant Service Contract; 

10 No Partner shall unreasonably withhold or delay consent requested by the Lead Commissioner.  

11 Each Partner (other than the Lead Commissioner) shall: 

11.1 comply with the requirements imposed on the Lead Commissioner pursuant to the relevant Service 
Contract in relation to any information disclosed to the other Partners;  

11.2 notify the Lead Commissioner of any matters that might prevent the Lead Commissioner from giving 
any of the warranties set out in a Services Contract or which might cause the Lead Commissioner to 
be in breach of warranty. 

12 [INSERT] 

  

206



67 
 

Part 2– OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTNERS (GENERAL)  

 
 
1 Each Partner shall (at its own cost): 

1.1 resolve disputes pursuant to a Service Contract to which it is a party; 

1.2 comply with its obligations pursuant to a Service Contract and this Agreement; 

1.3 ensure continuity and a smooth transfer of any Services that have been suspended, expired or 
terminated pursuant to the terms of the relevant Service Contract; 

 

207



68 
 

PART 3 – PERFORMANCE ARRANGMENTS  

 
 
Part 1 - Statement on Performance Arrangements 

 

All Partners recognise the need for a robust performance framework to monitor and measure delivery of 

the Better Care Fund Plan (BCF). 
 

The performance framework will ensure that Partners have visibility and assurance relating to local 

progress in delivering BCF priorities and the impact on national metrics and local Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs).  The framework will also provide assurance to any regional or national scrutiny. 
 
Performance Framework 
 
Reporting and monitoring of performance will be underpinned by the performance dashboard attached as 
appendix 1. 
 
The Council will be responsible for producing the performance dashboard liaising with scheme leads across 
all organisations to validate data as appropriate. 
 
Performance will be reported to the Integration Executive on a Quarterly basis (as a minimum), or other 
frequency as agreed by all Partners. 
 
Performance will include progress against nationally and locally prescribed metrics, namely: 

 Reduction in permanent residential admissions. 

 Increased effectiveness of reablement. 

 Reduction in delayed transfers of care. 

 Reduction non-elective admission to hospital. 

 Any other metrics arising through changing national conditions, or locally agreed by all Partners. 
 
Definitions used for measuring the impact against performance metrics will be agreed by all Partners and 
reported to the Integration Executive. 
 
Individual schemes in the Better Care Fund will have a Red, Amber, Green (RAG) risk rating against: 

 Delivery of planned of savings where applicable. 

 Actual expenditure against the financial allocation in the Better Care Fund Plan. 

 Progress against agreed milestones. 

 Impact on metrics. 
 
Definitions of the RAG ratings will be agreed by all Partners and included on the performance dashboard for 
transparency. 
 
The performance dashboard, key milestones and  commentary with headline information on Individual 
Schemes  along with exception commentary where ‘red’ risks have been highlighted. A detailed performance 
report will be provided quarterly.  
 
Reporting will make reference to Overspending and Underspending schemes and any financial implications 
linked to ‘pay for performance’ metrics to support Partners in the decision making process and inform any 
remedial actions needed. 
 
Where metrics are linked to the pay for performance element of the Better Care Fund, the payment will be 
based on terms in accordance with Schedule 3. 
 
  

208



69 
 

 
Part 2 
 
Better Care Fund Performance Dashboard 

Performance report 
201718-Q2.docx

 

209



70 
 

SCHEDULE 5– BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 

 
 
The Better Care Fund Plan submitted to NHS England can be viewed at Leicestershire’s Health and 
Wellbeing Board pages on the Leicestershire County Council website.  A link to the plan is below: 
 
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/resources/local-resources/  
 
 
 

210

http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/resources/local-resources/


71 
 

SCHEDULE 6– POLICY FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

 
1. The Partners will adhere to the Code of Conduct for the Council’s Health and Wellbeing Board for 
Co-opted Members and Integration Executive (attached as Parts 1 and 2 to this Schedule 7)_ 
 
2. The Partners will each ensure that their employees, agents and representatives complete and keep 
updated in accordance with paragraph 4.12 of the Register of Interests the form attached as Part 3 to this 
Schedule 7 in relation to their duties as members of the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Integration 
Executive and the Partnership Board. 
 
3. The Partners will each ensure that their employees, agents or representatives comply with the 
statutory obligations of the relevant Partner relating to conflicts of interest when they are acting as 
commissioners of Services pursuant to Individual Schemes under this Agreement. 
 
Part 1 
 

 
 
   
 
Part 2 
 

 
 
Part 3 

 
 
 
 
  

211



72 
 

 
 

SCHEDULE 8 – INFORMATION SHARING AGREEMENT AND PROTOCOL 
. 
PART A 
 

INFORMATION SHARING AGREEMENT (the ISA) 
 
The Partners agree that they will comply with the following terms in relation to the sharing of 
information in connection with the Agreement: 
 
 
1. Purpose and Definitions 
 
1.1 Purpose 

This Information Sharing Agreement (ISA) is supplementary to the Information Sharing Protocol 
attached as Part B to this Schedule 8.  The ISA will support the smooth running of the Pooled Fund 
arrangements in respect of the Services commissioned pursuant to the Agreement (as defined below). 
 
Specifically information is shared to achieve 
 

 the efficient delivery of the Better Care Fund Plan 

 effective performance monitoring of the Individual Schemes included with the Agreement 

 an effective process for ensuring that services commissioned provide value for money and meet 
service user outcomes 

 
The ISA will ensure the transfer of information in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) 

 
1.2   Definitions 
 

In the ISA: 
 

WLCCG and ELRCCG will be referred to collectively where the context allows as the CCGs and all the 
parties together will be referred to as the Partners 

 
Agreement means the agreement to which the ISA is a Schedule. 

 
Data means all data generated, held, utilised or accessed by or on behalf of the Parties prior to the 
Commencement Date in respect of the Services including all data processed from time to time for the 
purpose of this Agreement 

 
Records means (i) all Data; and (ii) all files, records, documents, notebooks, books and accounts, 
statistics, surveys, blueprints, designs, drawings and specifications including any such information 
recorded or stored in writing or upon magnetic tape or disc or otherwise recorded or stored for 
reproduction whether by mechanical or electronic means and whether or not such reproduction shall 
result in a permanent record being made which are held and used by the Partners prior to the 
Commencement Date of the Agreement in connection with the Agreement, and any Records which are 
created by the Partners in connection with the Agreement throughout its Term 

 
Other defined terms where the context allows have the meanings given to them in the Agreement 

 
2      Legal Basis 
 

The information to be shared in accordance with the ISA is governed by section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 
and the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership Arrangements Regulations 2000 (SI 2000/617 as 
amended)  

 
3. Duration 
 

212



73 
 

The ISA will apply for the duration of the Agreement and will expire automatically on termination or 
expiry of the Agreement 

 
4. Extent and Type of Information to be Shared 
 
4.1 The Partners agree to share such information and data as is necessary to enable the efficient 

administration, audit and monitoring of the Pooled Fund and the Individual Schemes commissioned 
pursuant to the Agreement 

 
4.2 Wherever possible information relating to expenditure from the Pooled Fund will be anonymised.   
 
4.3 While it is envisaged that very little of the information shared in relation to the administration, audit and 

monitoring of the Pooled Fund will be personal or sensitive personal data as defined in the DPA, any 
such data shall be processed in accordance with the provisions of the DPA and the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 (FOIA) 

 
5  Information Sharing  
 
5.1 All requests for information about the Pooled Fund from the CCGs to the Council will be sent to the 

Pooled Fund Manager for the time being  
 
5.2 Subject Access Request 
 
5.2.1 Where a Subject Access Request under the Data Protection Act 1998 is made to any Partner in 

relation to the Agreement or services commissioned under it and one of the other Partners may hold 
additional and separate records relevant to the said Subject Access Request the receiving Partner will 
inform the Service User of that and provide details on how the Service User might obtain those records.   

 
5.3 Access to Records by the Partners 
 
5.3.1 The Partners will provide to each other such copies of Data and Records relating to the Agreement 

which may reasonably be requested of the relevant Partner’s Records Manager in order to facilitate: 
 

 Audit 

 Investigation of complaints 

 Clinical Governance 

 Investigation of care e.g. an inquiry 
 
5.3.2 Copies of Data and/or Records will be transferred in an appropriately secure format and confirmation 

of receipt by the Records Manager of the receiving Partner will be provided to the Records Manager of 
the Partner providing the Data and/or Records. 

 
5.3.3 Copies of Records or Data transferred under this clause 5.3 will be retained by the relevant Partner 

until the completion of the relevant process and then for the purposes of the Data Protection Act 1998 
will be securely disposed of in accordance with the relevant Partner’s destruction policy. 

 
5.3.4 Records held by any of the Partners include commissioning data and Service Provider data. 
 
 
6. How information may be used   
 
6.1 The primary purpose for keeping personal records is to support the planning, delivery and continuation 

of care to a Service User.   The Partners may use personal information from Records for different 
purposes for example: 

 

 monitoring and protecting public health  

 managing and planning Services; 

 contracting for Services 

 auditing accounts 

 Assuring and improving the quality of care and treatment performance 

213



74 
 

 risk Management  

 investigation of complaints and notified of potential legal claims 

 monitoring performance, including internally and to the Government  

 clinical governance  

 investigation of care e.g. an Inquiry 
 

6.2 Additional conditions need to be met for some uses of personal information e.g. research may require 
Research Ethics approval before Records may be collected.  If any non-anonymised Records that have 
been collected and supplied by a Partner are to be used for research by another Partner then the 
Caldicott Guardian of the Partner who has supplied the information must provide written consent.  The 
only exemption to this is where a specific data exchange agreement or other agreement has been 
signed for this purpose. 

 
6.3 Information will be shared with Service Providers in the private, voluntary and state sectors in 
accordance with the terms of Agreement and the provisions of the Scheme Specifications made under it to 
the extent necessary to be able to procure the Individual Services included in the Better Care Fund Plan 
including: 
 

 Basic demographics 
1. Any details required enabling the Service Provider to undertake appropriate risk assessments, including 

health and medical information. 

 Care Plans 

 Commissioning requirements 

 Carer arrangement and demographics 

 Risks Assessments and Risk factors 
 
6.4 Confidential personal information must only be used for the purposes specified at the time of disclosure 

and it is a condition of access that it must not be used for any other purpose without meeting the 
requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998.  Information provided by any Partner to any other Partner 
for specific purposes, must not be provided to a third party or used for a different purpose unless in 
accordance of the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998. 

 
7. Appropriate Security Levels 
 
7.1 The Partners warrant that each have the minimum standards of security in place to safeguard the 

information relating to for example: 
 

 Storage 

 How data will be transferred 

 Secure destruction 

 Accessibility 

 Integrity 

 Availability 
 
7.2 Data which is personal data or sensitive person data as defined in the DPA will be accessed and 

transferred electronically using a secured private network or link (“the Link”) between the CCGs and the 
Council.  

 
7.3 Where loss of communications via the Link occurs due to virus infection or network failures by any of 

the Partner’s systems or failure of the Link itself resulting in loss of Service, the technical network 
support staff of the relevant Partner will endeavour to resolve the problem and keep the other Partners 
informed of progress of recovery.  

 
7.4 Security and robustness of the Link and virus control procedures will be managed in line with the CCGs 

standards and will be confirmed by the Leicestershire Health Informatics Service (LHIS) Network 
Manager on behalf of the CCGs.  

 

214



75 
 

7.5 Each Partner will maintain personal data, sensitive personal data or confidential information received, in 
strictest confidence. Unless specifically stated in the conditions of release, the Partners will not share 
such data with any other organisation or agency unless required to do so by law. 

 
7.6 Each Partner will ensure that their members of staff are informed that they have an obligation to request 

proof of identity from recipient members of staff of another Partner before confidential personal 
information is passed on. 

 
7.7 Each Partner will ensure that their members of staff are informed that they are personally responsible 

for taking precautions to ensure the security of confidential personal information whilst it is in their 
possession and when it is being transferred from one person or organisation to another. 

 
7.8 Recommended procedures to be followed by the Partners to ensure the safe transfer of information: 
 

 Envelopes should be securely sealed, clearly addressed to a known contact and marked 
‘confidential’ and ‘addressee only’. A return to sender address should also be marked on 
the envelope. 

 

 Telephone validation, or ‘call back’ procedures should be followed before disclosing 
information to someone not known to a Party to confirm their identity and authorisation. 
Fax transfer is not safe and should be avoided wherever possible. Where it is necessary 
‘Safe Haven’ procedures should be followed. 

 

 Data held on any removable electronic storage device or disk should be password 
protected and the physical security of the electronic storage device or disk should be 
protected i.e. kept under lock and key.  

 

 Confidential information relating to a Service User must not be transmitted via the Internet 
or via e-mail unless a specific separate data exchange agreement is in place. 

 
8. Breach of Confidentiality 
 
8.1 The objective of reporting security incidents and weaknesses is to minimise damage from security 

incidents and, by learning from such incidents, reduce the risk that they will happen again.  Breaches of 
security (including any breach of confidentiality) will be reported in line with existing security incident 
procedures.  Security incidents at the CCGs are reported to the HIS Helpdesk (and in some 
circumstances to the line manager), and escalated to the IM&T Lead or a deputy and to East Midlands 
Internal Audit Services where appropriate.   

 
2. 8.2 Within the Council all staff have a responsibility to report immediately any security incident or 

weakness they observe to their manager. Staff should not try to deal with any such incidents personally. 
All managers have a responsibility to take immediate and appropriate action to respond to all security 
reports they receive from staff. If the investigation of a security incident or weakness results in the 
possibility of disciplinary action against an employee then the Council’s relevant Human Resources 
Section must be consulted before any action is progressed. If necessary, the Council’s Information 
Manager should be contacted for advice. 

 
8.3 Any breaches or issues concerning the ISA by the Partners or a third party organisation 
processing data on their behalf must be reported to all relevant Partners as described above: 
 

 CCGs Contact – Relevant Caldicott Guardians 
 

 Council Contact – Adults and Communities Information Manager, who will inform the 
Caldicott Guardian 

 
8.4 Both requesting and providing Partners must carry out a full investigation of any breach of this ISA, with 

the assistance of an independent agency if required. 
 
8.5 Once the investigations have been concluded then a report will be taken to  the Caldicott Guardians or 

their nominated representatives from the affected Parties, who will review the findings and make 

215



76 
 

recommendations.  In the case of the Council, the Council’s Information Management Team will decide 
if the matter should be referred to the Information Commissioner. 

 
8.6 Priority 1 incidents (ref. LHIS Security Incident Procedures) reported within the CCGs should be brought 

to the attention of the Head of Information. 
 
8.7 All Staff within the Council are bound by the Council’s policies and procedures, specifically the ICT 

Security and Information policies and procedures.   
 
9. Indemnity  
 

Each Partner will keep each of the other Partners fully indemnified against any and all costs, expenses 
and claims arising out of any breach of this ISA and in particular, but without limitation, the unauthorized 
or unlawful access, loss, theft, use, destruction or disclosure by the offending Partner or its sub-
contractors, employees, agents or any other person within the control of the offending Partner of any 
information obtained in connection with this ISA    

 
10. Release of Third Party Information 
 

Information provided by one agency must not be given to another agency or used for a different purpose 
without informing and obtaining the consent of the original provider unless an exemption under the DPA 
applies or unless specifically authorised under this or another agreement. 

 
11  Standards for Information Use 
 
11.1 The Partners agree to ensure that there is an adequate support facility available to members of their 

staff involved in the provision of the Services. This includes the following as a minimum: 
 

 Appropriate training on the Data Protection Act 1998 

 Appropriate training on Information Sharing 

 Training in the use of this ISA 

 Training of all staff in permissible use of NHS Number 

 A named designated post who can offer advice and guidance in Data Protection Law 
and Information Security 

 Records of training will be made available to each Partner on request. 
 
11.2 Monitoring, implementation and distribution of this ISA will be carried out by the relevant Partner’s 

operational management team.   
 
11.3 The ISA is not exempt under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
 
12. Appropriate Signatories 
 
12.1 The lead for each Partner for the ISA is the relevant Caldicott Guardian of: 
 

 East Leics and Rutland CCG 

 West Leics CCG and 

 Leicestershire County Council 
 
12.2 Each Partner’s Caldicott Guardian will be responsible for: 
 

 The implementation of the ISA within their respective organization. 

 Ensuring compliance to the standards within the ISA. 

 Ensuring mechanisms are in place to monitor the operation of the ISA. 

 Authorising access levels to personal information covered by the ISA. 

 Providing advice and guidance on adherence to the ISA. 

 Acting as a point of contact for other Partners or organisations affected by the ISA. 

 Ensuring incidents are investigated and appropriate action is taken. 

 Agreeing amendments to the ISA 

216



77 
 

   
12.3 The role of Records Manager for each Partner is assigned to the following post holders: 
 

 East Leics & Rutland CCG’s Team Manager (Information Governance) 

 West Leicestershire CCG’s Team Manager (Information Governance)  

 Leicestershire County Council’s Adult Social Care and Health Service’s IT and 
Information Manager  

 
12.4 The role of Information Governance lead for each Partner is assigned to the following post holders: 
 

 East Leics and Rutland CCG 

 West Leics CCG 

 Leicestershire County Council 
 
13. Review of the ISA 
 
13.1 The ISA will be reviewed annually, on or within two weeks of the anniversary of the Commencement 

Date of the Agreement unless legislative or organisational changes necessitate a prior review. 
 
13.2 The ISA may be reviewed at any time at the request of any of the Partners’ Caldicott Guardians. 
 
14 Suspension of this Information Sharing Agreement 
 
14.1 Any Partner may suspend this ISA for 45 days if security has been seriously breached.  Notification of 

suspension should be given in writing to the other Partners and should provide reasons for the 
suspension, plus evidence of any incidents prompting the decision to suspend. 

 
14.2 Any suspension will be subject to a Risk Assessment and Resolution meeting, the panel of which will be 

made up of nominated representatives of the Parties.  The meeting to take place within 14 days of any 
suspension. 

 
15 Termination of the ISA  
 
15.1 The ISA can only be terminated during the period when the Agreement is in place with the agreement of 

all the Partners and always provided that suitable alternative information sharing arrangements are put 
into place for the duration of the Agreement prior to the ISA being terminated.   

 
15.2 Termination of the ISA shall be without prejudice to the rights and remedies of the Partners accrued 

before such termination and nothing in the ISA or the Agreement shall prejudice the right of any Partner 
to recover any amount outstanding as at the date of such termination 

 
 

217



78 
 

Schedule 8 - PART B 

 

 

 

Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland 
 

 

 

 

Information Sharing Protocol  
 

 

 

 

Version 1.0 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6
th

 February 2014 

218



79 
 

Document Control 

Control Details 

Author: Stephen Curtis 

 Owner:  Stephen Curtis 

 

Document Amendment Record 

 Iss
ue 

 Amendment Detail  Author  Date  Approv
ed 

 4.9  First draft of version 5.0  SC  15 Jan 
13 

  

 4.91  Minor format changes  SC  31 Jan 
13 

  

 4.92  Amendments from Leicestershire Constabulary 
(agreed by SIMG) 

 AC  22 Aug 
13 

  

 4.93  Minor formatting and wording changes  SC  15 Oct 
13 

  

 4.94  Amendment proposals following  consultation  LW  29 Nov 
13 

  

 

Document Sign-off 
 

 Organisation  Chief Officer (Job 
Title) 

 Signature 

     

 
   

219



80 
 

Context 

 
This protocol defines the framework for the sharing of information by agencies operating within 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  It replaces version 4, which was agreed in 2009.  Since 
then, the Information Commissioners Office (ICO) has published the Data Sharing Code of 
Practice, which contains much of the substance of the previous version. 
 
This protocol therefore seeks commitment to put in place the arrangements required to ensure 
secure and appropriate sharing of information and data, whilst maintaining the controls (largely 
through agreements) that give assurance and accountability, and respects the right to privacy.   
 
The information sharing framework has a number of tiers, set out below.  Governance 
arrangements are indicated in brackets for each tier. 
 
Tier 1:  National framework for sharing information – legislation and codes of practice (National 

Government / ICO) 
Tier 2:  Commitments contained in this Information Sharing Protocol v 5.0 (Chief Officers, 

Partnership Boards) 
Tier 3:  Guidance, training, tools (SIMG, Organisational governance frameworks) 
Tier 4:  Information sharing agreements (Managers, organisational governance frameworks) 
 

Protocol 

 
This Information Sharing Protocol provides a commitment by the signatories to ensure that a 
framework is in place that facilitates the sharing of information between partners and respects the 
individual’s right to privacy.  Information sharing is increasingly important in the provision of 
services to our communities.  To this end, the signatories commit to: 
 

 Sharing information within a framework where it supports the provision of better services to our 
service users and communities. 

 Ensuring that information is shared safely and securely. 

 Ensuring that in sharing information: 

o There is a clearly defined requirement,  

o It is lawful, 

o It accords with the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) 

o Only appropriate information is shared,  

o It is in the interests of service users and communities. 

 Putting in place governance that ensures that managers and staff are aware of their 
responsibilities and recognise the need to work with partners. 

 Working with partners to develop guidance / tools (technical and non-technical) to support good 
information sharing. 

 Training staff on information sharing and management. 

 Communicating the importance of appropriate information sharing to staff. 

 Ensuring early consideration of information issues in service developments. 

 Being transparent with service users about how their personal data is going to be used, and 
respecting their privacy. 

 Ensuring adherence to the ICO’s Data Sharing Code of Practice. 

 Ensuring that written information sharing agreements are developed and monitored for regular 
sharing of information and data. 

220



81 
 

 Maintaining a single register of information sharing agreements. 

 Working with partners towards an aligned information policy framework to support safe and 
secure information sharing. 

 Ensuring that the Caldicott principles are adhered to when sharing health information  

 Ensuring adherence to other Department of Health guidance on information sharing e.g. 
‘Striking the Balance’ 

 
When sharing information, each signatory will commit to: 
 
a) Ensuring that when acting as the Data Controller for information they will apply the conditions 
set out in the Information Sharing Agreement (ISA) and assume responsibility under the DPA. 
 
b) Ensuring any new ISA will set out the purpose, use and scope of the data to be shared, the point 
at which responsibility moves from one Data Controller to another or the circumstances where the 
role of Data Controller is exercised together and the responsibilities of each agency signing this 
ISA 

 
c) Ensuring that any new ISA will be specific and clearly identify only the data that needs to be 
shared. 
 
Information security is important, both for the interests and privacy of individuals, and also for the 
reputation of our organisations.  Signatories will drive the development of a culture in which their 
organisations work together to investigate incidents and put in place measures to reduce the risk of 
repetition.  This partnership culture is central to facilitating information sharing. 
 
The Strategic Information Management Group will support the delivery of the partnership aspects 
of these commitments.  Signatories will commit to supporting the work of SIMG as it relates to this 
protocol.  The partnership aspects include (for example): 
 

 Aligned policy across partners, where relevant 

 Shared Guidance 

 Shared training 

 A coordinated register of information sharing agreements 

 Shared operational arrangements such as information security incident handling 

 Aligned communications 

 
Developing these partnership aspects requires signatories to ensure that appropriate resources 
are made available from within their organisations. 
 
Agreement: We the undersigned do hereby agree to implement the terms and conditions of this 
Protocol. 
 
Name ………………………………………………………………. 
 
Signature…………………………………………………………… 
 
Organisation………………………………………………………. 
 
Date…………………………………………………………………. 
 
 

221



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2017 and Action Log.
	HWBB Action Log

	6 Unified Prevention Board Update.
	8 Next Stage Local Future in Mind Transformation Plan Refresh 2017/18.
	9 Consultation on Funding Supported Housing.
	Accommodation Consultation document

	10 Delayed Transfers of Care Performance.
	Appendix A - Letter from DCLG_DH re DTOC performance

	11 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.
	12 Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report.
	Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2017

	13 'In Mum's Words'.
	HWL 'In Mum's Words' PRINT

	14 Better Care Fund Section 75 Approval and Assurance.
	Appendix A - Leicestershire BCF Letter of Approval
	Appendix B - BCF Section 75 Agreement_ 2017_19


